SECONDARY PREVENTION OF MELANOMA THROUGH SSE

The Role of the Physician in Secondary Prevention of Melanoma through Skin Self-Examination

during Melanoma Follow-up Care

Zofia Czajkowska, PhD Cand.

Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology

McGill University, Montréal

July, 2018

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of doctor of philosophy in Counselling Psychology

© Zofia Czajkowska 2018

Contents

Abstract
Résumé 10
Acknowledgements 13
Contribution of Authors
List of abbreviations
Chapter 1 18
Introduction
Background on melanoma 18
Definition and aetiology
Epidemiology
Staging and prognosis
Sociodemographic variables associated with melanoma21
Risk factors
Prevention of melanoma
Primary and secondary prevention29
Raising melanoma awareness in the general population
Current recommendations and clinical guidelines for melanoma prevention
Early detection of melanoma and its benefits
Prevalence of skin self-examination
Predictors of skin self-examination

Interventions aiming to improve the practice of skin self-examination	
Summary and conclusions	
The role of the physician in promoting skin self-examination	44
Limitations of the current scholarship on secondary prevention of melanoma thro	ugh early
detection via skin self-examination among melanoma survivors	47
Populations under study	47
The role of the physician for facilitating skin self-examination	
Research methodology	49
Operationalization of SSE	
Research design	50
Research objectives of the doctoral dissertation	51
Chapter 2	53
Validation of the English and French Versions of the Brief Health Care Climate	
Questionnaire (HCCQ)	53
Abstract	54
Introduction	55
Method	58
Participants	58
Materials	59
Health Care Climate Questionnaire	59
Other measures	60

Procedure	
Design	60
Translation	60
Analyses	
Results	
Descriptive and item analyses	
Internal consistency and structural validity.	
Construct validity	
Reproducibility.	
Floor and ceiling effects	
English-French equivalency	
Discussion and Conclusion	65
Discussion	
Conclusion.	
Practice implications	
Table 1	
Table 2	69
Table 3	
Linking chapter 2 and chapter 3	
Chapter 3	

The role of patient education and physician support in self-efficacy for skin self-		
examination among patients with melanoma		
Abstract	74	
Introduction		
The role of self-efficacy in health behaviours		
Why does self-efficacy matter for patients with melanoma?		
The importance of medical support		
Methods		
Participants		
Procedure		
Design		
Recruitment		
Assessment time points		
Intervention		
Measures		
Results		
Discussion and Conclusion		
Discussion		
Conclusion		
Practice Implications		
Table 1		

Table 2	
Figure 1	
Linking chapter 3 and chapter 4	
Chapter 4	
Self-efficacy mediates the relationship between physician sup	oport and skin self-
examination in patients with melanoma	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Participants	
Procedure	
Design	
Recruitment	
Measures	
Data analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
Figure 1	
Chapter 5	
Summary, Discussion, and Conclusions	

ReferencesE	rror! Bookmark not defined.
Directions for future research	
Limitations	
Implications for clinical practice – the role of the physician	
Contributions to the field of research	
Summary of relevant findings	

Abstract

Introduction (Chapter 1) presents an overview of the research literature on melanoma and its prevention. Melanoma is the fastest growing and most lethal cancer of the skin (Trask et al., 2001). Its incidence in North America continues to rise annually posing a threat to an increasing number of individuals (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017). Given this increase it is imperative to implement effective primary and secondary preventative strategies, especially for those at highest risk. Clinical care guidelines recommend Skin Self-Examination (SSE) as an essential part of the lifetime follow-up care for melanoma survivors, who are at high risk for recurrence and new primary tumours (Coit et al., 2009; National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018). Patient predictors of SSE include age, gender, income, educational attainment, patient self-efficacy, as well as patient education regarding SSE, among others (Carli et al., 2003; Coups, Manne, Stapleton, Tatum, & Goydos, 2016; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2010; Manne & Lessin, 2006; McLoone, Menzies, Meiser, Mann, & Kasparian, 2013; K. A. Miller et al., 2015; Robinson, Fisher, & Turrisi, 2002; Robinson, Rigel, & Amonette, 1998). Less is known about the role of the physician support for uptake and maintenance of SSE practice (Aitken et al., 2004; Manne et al., 2004; Manne & Lessin, 2006; Rat et al., 2014). Consequently, the present dissertation reports on research examining the role of the above-mentioned variables for SSE behaviour.

First, Health Care Climate Questionnaire (HCCQ), a measure of patient perceptions of general physician support of patient autonomy, was translated from the original English to French (Williams, Freedman, & Deci, 1998; Williams, Grow, Freedman, Ryan, & Deci, 1996). Then, validation analyses of the 6-item version of the HCCQ were conducted. The results (reported in Chapter 2) indicate that the scale is valid for use with melanoma survivors in both languages.

Second, an intervention educating participants on early signs of melanoma and how to detect it via SSE was presented in Chapter 3. Participants' self-efficacy for SSE increased by 23% following the intervention and the improvements were retained at a three- and twelve-month follow-up. Analyses revealed that perceived physician support of SSE positively corresponded to the level of patient self-efficacy with higher patient-reported physician support being related to higher self-efficacy.

Third, the relationship between the sociodemographic predictors of SSE (age, gender, income and education), physician support of SSE, self-efficacy and the practice of skin self-exams was further elucidated in Chapter 4. The level of SSE-specific self-efficacy was found to partially mediate the association between physician support of SSE and SSE behaviour after accounting for the only significant sociodemographic correlate of SSE in the current sample, i.e., education.

Overall, the findings presented in the current dissertation suggest that educating patients about SSE and encouraging them to engage in it may have an impact on their confidence in the ability to perform effective self-exams. Moreover, physicians treating melanoma survivors may have a very important role to play in secondary prevention of this skin malignancy, not only through clinical exams but also through providing SSE-specific support to their patients, as per clinical care guidelines. The current research indicates that such support may not only increase patients' self-efficacy for this practice but also improve the practice of skin self-exams. The implications for research and practice are discussed in Chapter 5.

Keywords: melanoma, skin self-examination, secondary prevention, physician support, self-efficacy, validation

Résumé

Introduction (Chapitre 1) présente un survol de la littérature concernant le mélanome et sa prévention. Le mélanome est le cancer de la peau le plus létal et celui dont l'incidence a la croissance la plus rapide (Trask et al., 2001). Son incidence en Amérique du Nord continue d'augmenter annuellement et pose un risque à un nombre croissant d'individus (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017). Du a cette croissance il est impératif d'implémenter des stratégies de prévention efficaces. Les directives cliniques recommandent L'Auto-examen de la peau (AEP) comme un élément essentiel du calendrier de suivi des survivants du mélanome qui sont à haut risque de récurrence et de nouvelles tumeurs (Coit et al., 2009; National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018). Les prédicteurs de l'AEP incluent entre autres, l'âge, le genre, le salaire, l'accomplissement éducationnel, l'auto-efficacité du patient et aussi l'éducation du patient envers l'AEP (Carli et al., 2003; Coups et al., 2016; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1998).

Peu de choses sont connues au sujet du rôle du support du médecin de la pratique de l'AEP (Aitken et al., 2004; Manne et al., 2004; Manne & Lessin, 2006; Rat et al., 2014). Conséquemment, la présente dissertation se rapporte à l'analyse et l'élucidation de la relation entre les variables mentionnées ci-haut dans la prédiction du comportement envers l'AEP.

Premièrement, une traduction du Health Care Climate Questionnaire (HCCQ), une mesure de la perception du patient du support des médecins envers l'autonomie du patient, provenant de l'anglais original vers le français a été achevé (Williams, Freedman, et al., 1998; Williams et al., 1996). Par la suite, une analyse de validation de la version brève du HCCQ (6 items) a été effectué. Les résultats (rapporté au Chapitre 2) indiquent que cette mesure est valide et utile dans les deux langages.

Deuxièmement, les résultats d'une intervention visant à éduquer les participants sur les signes précoces du mélanome et comment les détecter avec l'AEP ont été présenté au Chapitre 3. L'auto-efficacité des participants a augmenté de 23% suivant l'intervention et les améliorations ont été retenues lors des suivis de trois et douze mois. Des analyses ont révélé que la perception du support du médecins envers l'AEP correspond de façon positive envers le niveau d'auto-efficacité lorsqu'un niveau élevé de support du médecin envers l'AEP a été rapporté.

Troisièmement, la relation entre les prédicteurs socio-démographiques de l'AEP (âge, genre, salaire et éducation), le support du médecin envers l'AEP, l'auto-efficacité et la pratique de l'AEP a été élucidé de façon plus approfondie au Chapitre 4. La médiation entre le support du médecin envers l'AEP et le comportement envers l'AEP par l'auto-efficacité spécifique à l'AEP a été démontré après avoir corrigé pour le seul facteur socio-démographique qui corrèle de façon significative dans le présent échantillon, i.e., l'éducation.

Globalement, les résultats de la présente thèse suggèrent que l'éducation des patients envers l'AEP et de les encourager à s'y engager ont un impact sur leur confiance dans leurs habiletés à pratiquer un AEP. De plus, les médecins traitants les survivants du mélanome on possiblement un rôle très important à jouer dans la prévention secondaire de ce cancer, non seulement avec des examens cliniques (suivi standard pour le mélanome) mais aussi en fournissant un support spécifique à l'AEP à leurs patients, conformément aux directives cliniques. La présente recherche indique qu'un tel support augmente l'auto-efficacité de cette pratique et améliore l'AEP en soi. Les implications pour la recherche et pour la pratique clinique sont discutées au Chapitre Les mots clés: le mélanome, L'Auto-examen de la peau, la prévention secondaire, le support de médecin, l'auto-efficacité, validation

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank all research participants who have generously contributed their time and efforts to making this work possible. Similarly, I truly appreciate the hard work put in by all the volunteers, students and research coordinators of the Health Psychology Research Group over the years. Without this "background" work, the scaffolding necessary to build a solid research project would not have been possible. Thank you!

Further, I would like to thank my dissertation committee members: Dr. Nathan Hall (and his student Hui Wang) as well as Maida Sewitch. They stood by me for years providing invaluable feedback on all my work and being patient with all my work interruptions, while I was growing my family. You did not only help me move swiftly through different steps of the PhD program and publish our research results but you also made me a better writer. I truly appreciate that. That is a gift I will carry forward and use for the rest of my life. Thank you.

Next, I would like to offer my thanks and gratitude to my research supervisor, Dr. Annett Körner, who has supported me and my research throughout my graduate studies. If it wasn't for Annett, I would not pursue a PhD degree and I am eternally grateful to her for bringing me onboard of her research. I was her first student and I have cherished that role over the years. She had assisted me with her knowledge and expertise well – that is what is expected of a good supervisor. What is more, Annett went above and beyond the usual supervisory role by providing me with multiple opportunities to learn and grow throughout the process, including work-opportunities, conferences, and networking. Throughout our working relationship Annett has been very generous, flexible and patient, and I appreciate those qualities very much – they should not be taken for granted. Moreover, she has made a seemingly illusory work-life balance possible for me,

which is something I appreciate the most. I could not have found a more supportive supervisor if I tried. Thank you.

I would also like to add special thanks to my life partner, Michel Vienneau, who has supported me on this long and sometime arduous journey along with its ups and downs. He has been there for me through it all, a bottomless well of patience, and I cannot imagine completing my degree without him. He knew I could do it and never doubted my ability to finish. He has always been there for me. Thank you, love.

Lastly, I would like to thank my parents, Alicja and Piotr, for instilling in me the sense of confidence necessary to accomplish all the steps leading up to a PhD. My parents raised me to believe that I am smart and capable and because of them I have never had a doubt that I can become "a doctor". Despite many frustrations along the way, typical of a doctoral student experience, I had never had a moment of doubt wondering if I can succeed. That is a great gift many parents struggle to bestow on their children yet so necessary to accomplish anything that requires dedication and sustained effort for years. I hope I will be able to do the same for my wonderful children, Adam and Alex. Thank you for your love and support, instilling in me the value of hard work and teaching me to never give up. I am forever grateful to you. Thank you.

Contribution of Authors

Each of the three manuscripts included in this dissertation represent original research data, which was obtained from a larger-scale research project conducted by Dr. Annett Körner's Health Psychology Research Group (HPRG). I am the first author on all three papers since I completed the literature reviews, selected the measures, conceived of the original research questions for each paper (with my supervisor's guidance), analyzed and interpreted the data, and composed the entire dissertation. The first manuscript (Chapter 2) is co-authored by Dr. Hui Wang (PhD Candidate at the time), Dr. Nathan Hall, Dr. Maida Sewitch as well as Dr. Annett Körner. The second paper (Chapter 3) is co-authored by Dr. Nathan Hall, Dr. Maida Sewitch, Dr. Beatrice Wang and Dr. Annett Körner. The last (Chapter 4) is co-authored by Dr. Nathan Hall, Dr. Maida Sewitch as well as Dr. Annett Körner.

My doctoral research supervisor, Dr. Annett Körner, is responsible for conceiving and conducting the large-scale study examining the secondary prevention of melanoma (Körner et al., 2013). She devised the procedures and methods of data collection as well as secured funding for the project (see below). She assisted in the conceptualization of the dissertation, in the derivation of research questions, supervised the selection of scales, data analysis, and interpretations, and edited all 3 manuscripts as well as related conference presentations. Dr. Nathan Hall, a member of the dissertation committee, is co-author on all three manuscripts, as he assisted in the statistical decision-making for all three papers, in addition to providing editorial comments. His student, Hui Wang, assisted with the confirmatory factor analyses presented in manuscript 1 (Chapter 2). Dr. Maida Sewitch, a second committee member who is co-author on all three manuscripts, provided valuable editorial comments for all three manuscripts and the dissertation as a whole. Dr. Beatrice Wang, a co-author on the second manuscript (Chapter 3),

supported the here-presented research by assisting with the undertaking of Dr. Körner's largerscale project - through consultation for the research protocol, recruitment of participants, design of the educational intervention, training of the research assistants who delivered the education, and institutional support.

The here-reported research project was possible thanks to an operating grant from the Fonds de Recherche du Québec - Santé (FRQS), secured by Dr. Annett Körner (Principal Investigator) and colleagues. Additionally, I am grateful for the generous support I received from the FRQS (bourse en formation du doctorat) as well as the Canadian Institute of Health Research (doctoral award and a fellowship as a part of the Psychosocial Oncology Research Training initiative - PORT) (Loiselle, Bottorff, Butler, & Degner, 2004).

List of abbreviations

α Alpha

ANOVA Analysis of Variance

β Beta

CFA Confirmatory Factor Analysis

CFI Comparative Fit Index

CI Confidence Interval

DT Distress Thermometer

EFA Exploratory Factor Analyses

HCCQ Health Care Climate Questionnaire

ICC Intraclass correlation coefficient

M Mean

NCCN National Comprehensive Cancer Network

PHQ-4 Patient Health Questionnaire-4

SCI Skin Cancer Index

SD Standard Deviation

SSE Skin self-examination

SPSS Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

SRMR Standardized Root Mean Residual

RA Research Assistant

RMSEA Root Mean Square Error of Approximation

TLI Tucker–Lewis Index

Chapter 1

Introduction

Background on melanoma

Definition and aetiology

Malignant cutaneous melanoma (from here on referred to as "melanoma") is the fastest growing cancerous tumour of the skin. It originates in the cells called melanocytes found in the deeper layer of the skin, the dermis. Melanocytes produce melanin, giving colour to the skin. When skin is exposed to the sun, the melanocytes generate more melanin and cause the skin to tan or darken. Sometimes melanocytes cluster together and form moles, also called nevi. Moles are common and are usually not cancerous. However, sometimes the cells begin to grow uncontrollably turning into a melanoma.

Epidemiology

Melanoma is a worldwide problem and its incidence continues to rise globally (Ferlay et al., 2013; Geller, 2009; World Health Organization, 2018). Melanoma is the 5th most commonly diagnosed cancer among males and 7th among females in the United States and the 7th in Canada (among both sexes) (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017). This disease represents 5% (US) and 3.5% (Canada) of all new cancer diagnoses, however these statistics do not account for differences between age groups. Melanoma accounts for 7% of all cancer diagnoses in individuals 15-29 years of age, contributing to 4% of cancer-related deaths in this subpopulation, and for 6% of cancers in individuals between 30 and 49 years of age (Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017).

It is estimated that currently 921 780 Americans and 39 490 Canadians are living with the diagnosis and lifetime risk of developing melanoma is about 2% in the United States and 1.6% in Canada (Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017; Howlader et al., 2013). Moreover, its incidence in North America has been on the rise for decades, increasing in the recent years annually by 2.4% in Canada and by 2.7% in the United States (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017). To put those numbers into perspective it is worth noting that the current lifetime risk of developing a melanoma is 1 in 74 female and 1 in 56 male Canadians and 1 in 42 females, 1 in 27 males in the United States, whereas in the 1930s it was about 1 in 1500 individuals in North America (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017; Rigel, 2010). Additionally, it seems that people do not follow the recommendations for sun protection enough, which may lead to increasing the incidence of melanoma even further. For instance, national surveys found that in 2006, Canadians spent more time in the sun without increasing their sun protection behaviours than in 1996 (National Skin Cancer Prevention Committee, 2010). It is estimated that if such trends were to continue, a 72% increase in the number of new melanoma cases diagnosed in Canada would be expected during the five-year period of 2028-2032, compared to 2003-2007 (Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2015).

Melanoma accounts for 75-90% of all deaths attributed to skin cancer and every hour a person dies from it in the United States (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018d; Garbe et al., 2010; Trask et al., 2001). Currently the 5-year survival rates of patients diagnosed with melanoma exceed 90% and the probability of dying from the disease has slightly decreased over the years for any given patient. However, the incidence continues to rise annually by 2-3%

(American Cancer Society, 2018a; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017; Siegel, Miller, & Jemal, 2016). Due to the increase in incidence the overall number of deaths due to melanoma has been on the rise. Unlike breast and colon cancers, which have been showing annually decreasing mortality rates over the past 20 years in the USA (-2.5 and -2.2%, respectively), melanoma mortality rates have remained relatively stable (Mitchell & Leslie, 2013). Consequently, the US Department of Health and Human Services has set a goal of reducing melanoma-related mortality by 10% by year 2020 as a part of the "Healthy People" initiative (US Department of Health and Human Services, accessed 2018).

Staging and prognosis

The 5-year survival rate from melanoma is over 90% (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Howlader et al., 2013), however the likelihood of dying from melanoma varies widely depending on the stage of the disease at diagnosis. The stages of melanoma are established based on the tumour thickness, ulceration and rate of mitosis of the cancerous cells (Balch, Gershenwald, Soong, Thompson, Atkins, Byrd, Buzaid, Cochran, Coit, & Ding, 2009). There are 4 stages of melanoma (I, II, III and IV), as well as a "pre-melanoma" stage 0 with the higher stage indicating more advanced cancer (Balch, Gershenwald, Soong, Thompson, Atkins, Byrd, Buzaid, Cochran, Coit, & Ding, 2009). Stage 0, also called *in situ*, is constrained to the epidermis, the outer layer of the skin, and is non-invasive with 100% survival rate if treated before progression (American Cancer Society, 2016; Balch, Gershenwald, Soong, Thompson, Atkins, Byrd, Buzaid, Cochran, Coit, & Ding, 2009). Each stage from I to IV is further divided into sub-stages A, B and sometimes C, with a higher letter indicating more advanced disease and typically a poorer prognosis. Stage I is associated with 86 to 95% five-year observed survival rate, stage II: 40 to 67%, stage III: 24 to 68% and stage IV: 15 to 20% decreasing further to 10-15% for the 10-year observed survival rate (American Cancer Society, 2016; Balch, Gershenwald, Soong, Thompson, Atkins, Byrd, Buzaid, Cochran, Coit, & Ding, 2009).

Sociodemographic variables associated with melanoma

Race. The lifetime probability of developing melanoma among Whites is 2.6%, among Hispanics it is .58%, and among the black population in North America it is 0.1% (American Cancer Society, 2018c). Individuals with fair skin are at highest risk for developing skin cancers. However, individuals with darker skin are more likely to die from melanoma. For example, the 5-year survival rate of African Americans is only 69% and it has in fact declined (from 79%) since the 1980s (American Cancer Society, 2018a).

Age. The risk of being diagnosed with melanoma increases with age. The median age at diagnosis is 61. However, melanoma is more common in younger individuals than other human cancers. About 35% of individuals diagnosed with melanoma are under 55 years of age (American Cancer Society, 2018c; Howlader et al., 2013). The median age at death is 69 (Howlader et al., 2013).

Sex. In addition to age, sex is also a risk factor for melanoma as men are more likely to be diagnosed (27 males vs. 17 females per 100 000 people in the USA and 21 vs. 16 per 100 000 individuals living in Canada) (Howlader et al., 2013) (Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2013; Howlader et al., 2013) as well as experience a recurrence (21% vs. 9% in females) (Jones et al., 2013). The survival rates differ as well with 85% of males and 92% of females being still alive 5 years after the diagnosis (*cf.* observed survival: 75% and 85% for males and females, respectively) (Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2013, 2014). While it has been speculated that the difference in melanoma-specific survival may be due to the fact that men are more likely to be diagnosed with more

advanced tumours, which carry a higher risk of mortality (Reyes Ortiz, Freeman, Kuo, & Goodwin, 2007; Van Durme et al., 2000), recent studies controlling for the cancer stage (tumour thickness, histological subtype, metastasis) and the melanoma location on the body show that male sex was an independent predictor of higher mortality (Gamba, Clarke, Keegan, Tao, & Swetter, 2013; Pollack et al., 2011).

Education. In the Unites States, the levels of mortality due to melanoma have been declining in most recent years but only among individuals with the highest educational attainment, i.e., >13 years of schooling (Cokkinides, Geller, & Jemal, 2012). Dr. Cokkinides (2012) proposed that the findings of her team may be explained by lower awareness of melanoma, less access to health care as well as occupations requiring prolonged exposure to sun radiation among individuals with lower educational attainment (Simon, 2012).

Risk factors

Sun exposure. One of strongest risk factors for developing melanoma is sun exposure (Whiteman et al., 2006). Different types of sun exposure (chronic, intermittent, acute) appear to be associated with the development of different types of skin cancer (melanoma, basal cell carcinoma or squamous cell carcinoma). For melanoma, intermittent exposure to sun increases the odds of future diagnosis the most (Odds Ratios, ORs: 1.6-1.7). Intermittent sun exposure is defined as sporadic and is typically associated with recreational activities, especially among individuals who usually spend their days indoors and once in a while spend some time outside during a weekend or vacation, not allowing the skin the time to slowly get used to the UV radiation. Chronic, i.e., consistent and repetitive sun exposure, appears less likely to contribute to the growth of melanoma and may even be associated with a decreased risk (ORs: .73-.86)

(Elwood & Jopson, 1997; Gandini, Sera, Cattaruzza, Pasquini, Picconi, et al., 2005; Gandini, Sera, Cattaruzza, Pasquini, Zanetti, et al., 2005; Nelemans, Rampen, Ruiter, & Verbeek, 1995).

Additionally, a history of severe sunburns has been linked to the development of melanoma (Elwood & Jopson, 1997; Kennedy, Bajdik, Willemze, De Gruijl, & Bouwes Bavinck, 2003). The link between cumulative lifetime sun exposure and melanoma diagnosis is unclear as different researchers report conflicting findings (Kennedy et al., 2003; Whiteman et al., 2006). Last but not least, there may be an interaction between sun exposure and melanoma location on the body as there is some research indicating that intermittent exposure may increase the risk of melanoma on the trunk (but not head or neck), while chronic exposure may increase the risk of melanoma on the head and neck (but not on the trunk) (Caini et al., 2009; Whiteman et al., 2006).

Exposure to ultraviolet radiation (UVR). Skin exposure to ultraviolet radiation (including artificial light in tanning beds) has been linked to development of melanomas (Le Clair & Cockburn, 2016; Thomas & Hensin, 2007). There are multiple pathways through which UVR predisposes an individual to melanoma including DNA damage through the formation of dimeric photoproducts, gene mutations, oxidative stress, inflammation, and immunosuppression (Kanavy & Gerstenblith, 2011).

Other environmental factors. There are a number of additional potential risk factors for melanoma associated with different occupational requirements and environmental variables including exposure to solvents (Wennborg et al., 2001), heavy metals (Beane Freeman, Dennis, Lynch, Thorne, & Just, 2004), electromagnetic fields (Tynes, Klaeboe, & Haldorsen, 2003), PVC - polyvinyl chloride (Langard, Rosenberg, Andersen, & Heldaas, 2000; Lundberg, Gustavsson, Holmberg, Molina, & Westerholm, 1993) and PCB – polychlorinated biphenyl (Sinks, Steele, Smith, Watkins, & Shults, 1992).

In addition to the above-mentioned, mostly isolated, studies two potentially related factors have been repeatedly linked to the risk of melanoma: (a) exposure to ionizing radiation (Freedman et al., 2003; Sigurdson et al., 2003; Sont et al., 2001; Telle-Lamberton et al., 2004) and (b) being a member of an airline flight crew. The latter has been consistently associated with mildly elevated incidence of melanoma (Standardized Incidence Ratio, SIR = 1.5 to 2.9) and greater mortality due to the disease (Standardized Mortality Ratio, SMR = 1.5 to 1.8), as compared to the general population (Band et al., 1996; Blettner et al., 2003; Gundestrup & Storm, 1999; Haldorsen, Reitan, & Tveten, 2001; Hammar et al., 2002; Irvine & Davies, 1999; Pukkala et al., 2003). This last finding has been explained in terms of potentially more frequent leisure-time exposure to the sun as well as the ionizing radiation. However, the debate regarding the potential causality of the elevated melanoma risk among airline flight crew members is ongoing (Blettner et al., 2003; Haldorsen et al., 2001; Shore, 1990). Finally, low level of serum vitamin D may be linked to greater susceptibility to melanoma as well as to thicker tumours and lower 5-year survival (Field, Davies, Bishop, & Newton-Bishop, 2013; Newton-Bishop et al., 2009; Sondak, McIver, & Kanetsky, 2016).

Phenotype. A person's skin colour, eye colour as well as density of freckles have all been associated with the development of melanoma (Gandini, Sera, Cattaruzza, Pasquini, Zanetti, et al., 2005). Melanoma is much more common among light-skinned people, who represent a great majority of all melanoma cases. In fact, melanoma is 20 times more common among individuals of Caucasian descent than among African Americans affecting about 1 in 50 White people and 1 in 1 000 Black people (American Cancer Society, 2018c; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2013; Howlader et al., 2013). Gandini and colleagues (2005) reported in their meta-analysis that having blue or green eyes as opposed to brown is associated with a greater relative risk of developing melanoma (Relative Risk, RR = 1.5 and 1.6 respectively). The same authors also reported a link between high density of freckles and melanoma (RR = 2.1) (Gandini, Sera, Cattaruzza, Pasquini, Zanetti, et al., 2005).

A high number of nevi (moles) has been strongly associated with the diagnosis of melanoma (Newton-Bishop et al., 2010). For instance, having over a 100 nondysplastic melanocytic nevi (i.e., regular moles) has been associated with a ten-fold relative risk of developing melanoma (Holly, Kelly, Shpall, & Chiu, 1987). However, not only the number but also a larger size of moles is positively correlated with intermittent sun exposure, suggesting there may be an interaction effect between these risk factors (Newton-Bishop et al., 2010). Further, high mole counts are associated with melanoma even on body sites usually not exposed to the sun (Caini et al., 2009). Even though higher numbers of typical and atypical nevi have been associated with melanoma, the association appears to be stronger for atypical/dysplastic moles. Atypical nevi can be found in about 2 to 53 % of the general population depending on the assessment method (clinical observation or histological report) with more accurate reports reporting a range of 2 to 8% (Friedman et al., 2009). An individual with a large number of moles, including at least 1 that is atypical (i.e., dysplastic) and 1 that is at least 8 mm in diameter would be considered to have "atypical mole/dysplastic nevus syndrome", which is considered by some to be among the most important phenotypical risk factors for melanoma (Silva, Sa, Avila, Landman, & Duprat Neto, 2011). The estimated 10-year cumulative risk for developing melanoma in individuals with this syndrome was 11% as compared to less than 1% in a control population (Marghoob, Kopf, Rigel, & et al., 1994).

Genotype. Several recent studies focused on identifying potential genes contributing to the increased risk for melanoma. For instance, Newton-Bishop and colleagues identified single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) on chromosomes 9 and 22 as being linked to high numbers of nevi as well as larger nevi and those on chromosome 6 associated only with large nevi. However, these polymorphisms explained only a small proportion of melanoma risk and nevus phenotype, which led the authors to conclude that "several nevus genes likely remain to be identified" (Newton-Bishop et al., 2010). In addition to the entire chromosomes identified as carrying some genes related to the number and size of nevi research has also pointed to specific gene mutations carrying a higher risk of developing a melanoma. For example, mutations in CDKN2A, a tumour-suppressing gene, account for 3.3% of melanoma cases without family history and up to 100% of cases with a strong family history of the disease (Bishop-Newton, Harland, Randerson-Moor, & Bishop, 2007; Goldstein et al., 2006; Nikolaou et al., 2011). Further, researchers identified a trend in that the more family members with melanoma the more likely an individual is to carry the mutation predisposing them to this cancer (Bishop-Newton et al., 2007; Goldstein et al., 2006; Nikolaou et al., 2011). In families with two cases of the disease who have other features of hereditary melanoma, such as an age at diagnosis below 50 years or one or more individuals diagnosed with multiple primary melanomas, the frequency of CDKN2A mutations is as high as 22% (Maubec et al., 2012). Indeed, individuals with CDKN2A mutations are on average statistically much younger at diagnosis (39 years vs. 54 years) as compared to other melanoma patients and they have a significantly higher 5-year cumulative incidence of a second melanoma (23.4% in mutation carriers vs. 2.3% in mutation-negative control subjects) (van der Rhee et al., 2011).

The recent technological advances have allowed the identification of new genes involved in melanoma susceptibility: breast cancer 1 (BRCA1), BRCA1-associated protein 1 (BAP1), and telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) (De Simone, Valiante, & Silipo, 2017). Additionally, the neurotrophin Neuritin1 (NRN1) has been recently identified as a potential early marker of melanoma as it is involved in melanoma migration, attachment independent growth, and vascular mimicry (Bosserhoff, Schneider, Ellmann, Heinzerling, & Kuphal, 2017).

Several other genes have been identified as potential genetic "modifiers" for melanoma as they code for other risk factors, such as red hair colour, tendency of the skin to burn instead of tanning, etc., but they may also carry some degree of independent risk. They include mutations of the MC1R (Box et al., 2001; Kanetsky et al., 2010), E318K variant of the MITF gene (Yokoyama et al., 2011), and mutations in BRCA2 gene (Kadouri et al., 2009).

Immunosupression. An additional risk factor for developing melanoma is being a recipient of immunosuppressive therapy. The rates of melanoma among patients who underwent immunosupression are 1.6 to 8 times higher than those of the general population (Dinh & Chong, 2007; Le Mire, Hollowood, Gray, Bordea, & Wojnarowska, 2006; Leveque et al., 2000).

Family history of melanoma. Having a family member with a diagnosis of melanoma increases one's risk of developing this cancer (Lucchina, Barnhill, Duke, & Sober, 1995). For instance, Brandt and associates (2011) conducted a family cancer registry study involving over 20 000 individuals diagnosed with melanoma and reported an incidence ratio of 2.62 for offspring of individuals with melanoma and 2.94 for siblings (Brandt, Sundquist, & Hemminki, 2011). Similarly, Hemminki and colleagues (2003) examined a Swedish Family Cancer Database comprised of over 10 million individuals among which 24 818 invasive and 5 510 in situ melanomas were found. Offspring of parents with melanoma were 2.4 times more likely to be

diagnosed (SIR=2.40), and siblings of individuals with melanoma were nearly 3 times as likely to be diagnosed themselves (SIR=2.98). When both a parent and a sibling had a history of melanoma the risk of melanoma was even higher (SIR=8.92) (Hemminki, Zhang, & Czene, 2003). Offspring of parents with multiple melanomas had an almost 62 times higher risk of developing melanoma (SIR=61.78), compared to the general population (Hemminki et al., 2003).

The familial susceptibility to melanoma is likely due to a genetic predisposition such as a hereditary CDKN2A mutation (Goldstein et al., 2006), which may vary by population. For example, Bishop and colleagues' (2002) research comparing the penetrance of CDKN2A mutations in various locations across Europe, USA and Australia showed that the average penetrance, i.e., the number of individuals carrying the mutations who had developed melanoma, was 30% by age 50 and 67% by age 80. However, there was a significant variation across locations. Namely, by 50 years of age CDKN2A mutation penetrance reached 13% in Europe, 50% in the United States, and 32% in Australia while by age 80 it increased to 58% in Europe, 76% in the United States, and staggering 91% in Australia (Bishop et al., 2002). Based on the fact that the penetrance varied with the population incidence rates the authors concluded that the same factors (e.g., environmental), that affect incidence may also mediate the penetrance of the CDKN2A mutation (Bishop et al., 2002).

Personal history of non-melanoma skin cancer (**NMSC**). Individuals diagnosed with non-melanoma skin cancers (e.g., Basal Cell Carcinomas or Squamous Cell Carcinomas) are more likely to develop a melanoma. A personal history of NMSC has been associated with an increased risk of melanoma in men (Relative Risk, RR = 1.99, Age-Standardized Risk, ASR = 116 per 100 000 person-years) as well as in women (RR = 2.58, ASR = 79 per 100 000 personyears) (Song et al., 2013). Similarly, Chen and colleagues (2008) found that the elevated risk of developing melanoma remains even after adjusting for other potential risk factors such as age, sex, body mass index, cigarette smoking, education, skin type, and sunburn history.

Personal history of melanoma. A past diagnosis of melanoma is a strong risk factor for developing subsequent lesions (Burden et al., 1994; Geller, Swetter, Brooks, Demierre, & Yaroch, 2007; Uliasz & Lebwohl, 2007). In fact, up to 16 out of 100 patients diagnosed with melanoma develop subsequent tumour(s) within 9 years of the first diagnosis (Ferrone, Ben Porat, Panageas, Berwick, Halpern, Patel, & al., 2005; Jones et al., 2013; Kang, Barnhill, Mihm, & Sober, 1992; Manganoni, Farisoglio, Tucci, Facchetti, & Calzavara Pinton, 2007; Savoia, Quaglino, Verrone, & Bernengo, 1998; Stam-Posthuma, Van Duinen, Scheffer, Vink, & Bergman, 2001). For patients who had 2 primary melanomas, the 10-year risk of developing a third lesion has been estimated at 27.7% (Doubrovsky & Menzies, 2003).

Prevention of melanoma

Primary and secondary prevention

Given the increasing incidence of melanoma and the lack of a cure for advanced disease it is crucial to implement effective, feasible, and wide-reaching preventative strategies. The *primary prevention* of melanoma (i.e., the prevention of developing a first melanoma in the general, non-affected population) focuses on educating the public on the importance of avoiding excessive sun exposure and indoor tanning, preventing sunburns through staying indoors at peak hours of sun activity, wearing sunglasses and clothing protecting the skin as well as using appropriate sunscreen (Edman & Wolfe, 2000). In contrast, *secondary prevention* aims for the early detection of a disease, in this case melanoma. It involves increasing the awareness for early signs of the tumour and engagement in practices favouring early detection such as clinical skin exams (performed by a physician or another dermatology-trained healthcare professional) and/or skin self-exams – SSE, performed by the patient (Markovic et al., 2007). Educational campaigns increasing awareness of the importance of noticing changing nevi and prompt self-referral to physicians are a good example of efforts regarding the secondary prevention of melanoma (Edman & Wolfe, 2000; Schwartz et al., 2002).

Individuals with a prior diagnosis of melanoma are at lifelong increased risk for subsequent primary melanomas, as compared to the general population. As such, secondary prevention is particularly important for this group (Doubrovsky & Menzies, 2003; Jones et al., 2013). Interventions for individuals previously diagnosed with melanoma focusing on early detection and timely treatment of subsequent melanomas may have the most significant impact on reducing melanoma-related mortality (Geller et al., 2007; Weinstock, 2006). The clinical skin exams are very important as the physicians may be able to detect melanomas at earlier stages allowing for more timely and effective treatment (Carli et al., 2003; Epstein, Lange, Gruber, Mofid, & Koch, 1999; Schwartz et al., 2002). However, clinical exams are increasingly less likely to include an examination of the entire body of the patient and can miss 1 in 3 melanomas (Aldridge, Naysmith, Ooi, Murray, & Rees, 2013). Further, given that only 13 to 16% of individuals from the general population report having their skin checked by a physician in the previous year it is not surprising that the majority of melanomas are first noticed by nonclinicians including patients themselves, their friends, relatives and other people patients comes in contact with, such as massage therapists, hair dressers, cosmetologists, beauticians, etc. (Carli et al., 2003; Coups, Geller, Weinstock, Heckman, & Manne, 2010; Hamidi, Cockburn, & Peng, 2008; Pollitt et al., 2009; Schwartz et al., 2002; Titus, 2013). Research suggests that checking one's skin for changes may increase the likelihood that an individual will consult a physician before the tumour develops to more advanced stages (Carli et al., 2003; Titus, 2013).

Consequently, the practice of skin self-examination may be an important step toward early diagnosis, timely treatment, and reduced melanoma-related mortality (Berwick, Begg, Fine, Roush, & Barnhill, 1996; Berwick et al., 2016; Geller et al., 2007; Weinstock, 2006).

Raising melanoma awareness in the general population

In the recent years, worldwide efforts have been made to increase awareness of melanoma and skin exams in the general population, mostly in the countries with predominantly fair-skinned citizens (Edman & Wolfe, 2000; Schwartz et al., 2002). For instance, Australia has a relatively long history of awareness-raising campaigns starting with the well-known "Slip, Slop, Slap" slogan in the early 1980s, which encouraged the general public to "Slip on a shirt, slop on sunscreen, and slap on a hat" (Montague, Borland, & Sinclair, 2001). The campaign was very successful at introducing the ideas relative to sun-protection to the general public as the "Slip, Slop, Slap" message has become a part of modern Australian phraseology and continues to be reran once every few years (Cancer Council Victoria, 2018b). More recently, the National Skin Cancer Awareness Campaign sponsored television, cinema and radio ads, printed materials as well as internet and outdoor advertising in order to discourage the sun exposure (Australian Governement: Department of Health and Aging, 2010). The campaign took place annually during four consecutive summers with the initial target audience of children and adolescents in phase I and II (ages 13 to 17) and young adults (18 to 24 years of age). Subsequent population surveys showed a few percent decrease in deliberate tanning and burning and an increase in sunprotective behaviours ranging from wearing a hat, sunglasses and protective clothing to using sunscreen (Australian Governement: Department of Health and Aging, 2010).

Similarly, the Cancer Institute of the New South Wales sponsored a campaign under the slogan "The Dark Side of Tanning" promoting the message that "there is nothing healthy about a

31

tan" (Cancer Institute of the New South Wales, 2017). The messages targeted mostly young people via televised and print advertisements featuring young women and men outdoors developing cancerous cells as they tan. The campaign aimed to increase the knowledge about melanoma as well as behaviours associated with both primary and secondary prevention. The campaign was active every summer from 2007 until February 2015 (Cancer Council Victoria, 2018a).

Among the African countries South Africa appears to be the only one invested in raising melanoma awareness, which is likely due to the fact that a significant portion of the population in this country is fair-skinned and as such at higher risk of developing this skin cancer. Indeed, the incidence of melanoma in South Africa may be as high as in Australia, i.e., one of the highest in the world, and has been increasing steadily over the recent years (Saxe et al., 1998; South African Melanoma Advisory Board, 2018). Despite the high incidence of melanoma there is little evidence of efforts to increase primary prevention in the South African population. A notable exception was a 1-day privately-funded event in 2010, "Protect your skin and save your life!", during which dermatologists visited popular athletes during a sports event. Together they raised awareness of the disease, while the physicians offered free skin screening to the general public (South African Melanoma Advisory Board, 2010).

In Europe, in addition to some small-scale national efforts to increase awareness of melanoma (e.g., offering informational leaflets to the general public), there is also a pan-European melanoma prevention campaign "Euromelanoma" organized by the European Association of Dermato-Oncology (EADO) (Euromelanoma, 2018). Initiated in Belgium in 1999, the campaign has now been active in 33 European countries. For at least one day each year, the general public has the opportunity to obtain a free-of-charge screening of their moles by volunteering dermatologists and so far over 450 000 individuals were screened for skin cancer as a part of the campaign (Euromelanoma, 2018). Participants are also provided with printed materials to facilitate their own skin self-examination in the future. Research suggests that Euromelanoma day has had a significant impact on melanoma prevention and early diagnosis and has positively influenced public health attitudes toward regular skin examination and the implementation of melanoma preventative strategies in participating countries (Conejo-Mir et al., 2005; Lieberherr et al., 2017; Paoli, Danielsson, & Wennberg, 2009; Stratigos et al., 2012; Stratigos et al., 2007; van der Leest et al., 2011).

In North America, similar campaigns have been taking place annually in the recent years. For instance, in 2012 the Canadian Dermatology Association (CDA) officially adopted "Melanoma Monday" as an annual event taking place every first Monday of May to be filled with activities to raise awareness about the seriousness of melanoma, inform Canadians about the dangers of skin cancer, how they can prevent it as well as learn to identify suspicious changes on their skin. In the United States that same day has been named "Melanoma Black Monday" and different activities, such as giving out sun block or free screening, i.e., clinical skin examinations, coordinated by the American Academy of Dermatology (AAD) have been taking place all over the country to raise awareness of melanoma. The "SPOT skin cancer" initiative of the AAD "aims to educate the public about skin cancer and motivate individuals to make positive behaviour changes to prevent and detect skin cancer" (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018a).

The campaigns have been shown to increase melanoma awareness but do they improve patients' health outcomes? A recent review by Brunssen and colleagues (2017) suggests that with implementation of skin cancer screening for the general population, incidence of in situ and invasive skin cancer increased, which is likely due to *greater detection rates* of existing skin cancers. Furthermore, detection of thin tumours increased, while detection of thick tumours decreased suggesting *earlier detection*. There may even be a *decrease in melanoma-related mortality* with research finding less deaths than expected (Brunssen, Waldmann, Eisemann, & Katalinic, 2017). The final question is whether these campaigns represent a financial investment or an expense. Research suggests that the educational campaigns have been very cost-effective in that they prevent health care spending on treatment of more advanced cancers (Doran et al., 2016; Losina, Walensky, Geller, & et al., 2007).

Current recommendations and clinical guidelines for melanoma prevention

The American and the Canadian health agencies provide information for the general public regarding primary prevention of melanoma, which includes information on the dangers of UV radiation along with tips on how to avoid harmful UV rays (i.e., wearing protective clothing, staying in the shade between 11am and 3pm, using UV index forecast as a guide for when the protection from the sun is the most important, avoiding tanning beds) as well as basic information regarding melanoma (Centers for Desease Control and Prevention, 2018; Government of Canada, 2017).

In contrast to the guidelines on sun protection, the official national prevention guidelines regarding skin examinations remain conservative, i.e., neither recommending nor advising against SSE. The reason for this neutral stance vis-à-vis SSE is the paucity of research available to draw definite conclusions about the efficacy of population-wide skin examinations as there is a paucity of randomized controlled trials and large scale, well-controlled longitudinal studies (Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination, 1994; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, 2016). Despite the more conservative national guidelines, professional dermatology and

cancer associations as well as patient organizations strongly suggest that individuals at high risk (and in some instances *everyone*) should perform skin self-exams and self-refer to their physicians as needed (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018c; American Cancer Society, 2018b; Canadian Dermatology Association, 2018; From et al., 2007; Melanoma Network of Canada, 2018; Save Your Skin Foundation, 2018; Skin Cancer Foundation, 2018). Additionally, there is a consensus in terms of recommending both clinical and skin self-examinations for individuals who have already been diagnosed with melanoma (Alberta Health Services, 2013; From et al., 2007). For instance, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), "a notfor-profit alliance of 27 leading [American] cancer centers devoted to patient care, research, and education" put forth clinical guidelines stating that upon completion of the melanoma staging and treatment procedures all patients should be advised to examine their own skin on a monthly basis in addition to receiving regular exams by trained physicians (Coit et al., 2009; National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018). In sum, certain organizations advocate for SSE and annual skin exams performed by physicians for the general population (American Cancer Society, 2018b; Skin Cancer Foundation, 2018), some restrict such recommendations to individuals at increased risk for melanoma (Bichakijan et al., 2011; Coit et al., 2009; National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018), while others do not endorse any routine screening for melanoma at all (Helfand, Mahon, Eden, Frame, & Orleans, 2001; Robinson & Jablonski, 2018; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, 2016).

Since the national-level, conservative recommendations had been published, some suggestions for revising them based on the newest data have been put forth. The main argument brought forward in an effort to change those guidelines is related to the fact that the nationallevel recommendations are based not on the existing evidence showing that skin exams are ineffective but on the lack of large-scale longitudinal controlled trials proving their effectiveness. However, the cost of such randomized controlled trials requiring about 800 000 individuals to be followed for several years is prohibitive, while smaller yet rigorous RCTs with populations at high risk are already being conducted and could be used to inform the recommendations for screening (Curiel-Lewandrowski, Chen, & Swetter, 2012; Mitchell & Leslie, 2013).

Early detection of melanoma and its benefits

Despite the heterogeneity of current screening recommendations, there is a significant body of research suggesting that skin self-examinations play an important role in the early detection of melanoma. First, up to 87% of melanomas are first noticed by patients themselves and people in close proximity to them, not by physicians (Brady et al., 2000; Carli et al., 2003; Coups et al., 2010; Epstein et al., 1999; Hamidi et al., 2008; McPherson et al., 2006; Pollitt et al., 2009; Schwartz et al., 2002; Titus, 2013). Second, checking one's own skin for changes can improve the odds of seeking medical consultation before the tumour progresses to more advanced stages (Carli et al., 2003; Titus, 2013). For instance, Berwick and colleagues (1996) conducted a large-scale population-based case-control study in which patients who conducted SSE following the instructions closely, presented with significantly thinner melanomas than participants who did not perform SSE (Berwick et al., 1996). Moreover, SSE was associated with a decreased risk for a second primary melanoma and more advanced disease. Most significantly, SSE reduced melanoma-related mortality by 63% (Berwick et al., 1996). Additionally, a followup 20 years later showed a 25% lower risk of melanoma death for those who performed SSE (Paddock et al., 2016). A different project involving over 2 000 patients diagnosed with melanoma (stages I through IV) showed that early detection of recurrence is associated with a higher probability of survival later on (Garbe et al., 2007). Recurrence is a serious concern as it
occurs in a significant proportion of the patients (Ferrone, Ben Porat, Panageas, Berwick, Halpern, Patel, & al., 2005; Jones et al., 2013). For instance, in a sample of 1 062 patients 1 in 5 developed a second melanoma (Dalal et al., 2008). It is noteworthy that as melanoma survivors these patients were presumably followed more closely by their dermatologists than unaffected individuals from the general population and yet, the subsequent melanoma was most often selfdetected (55% self-detection vs. 45% physician detection) (Dalal et al., 2008). Furthermore, selfdetection of the melanoma, but not physician-detection, was an independent predictor of survival (Dalal et al., 2008).

Prevalence of skin self-examination

There is a wide range of reports on the practice of skin self-examination (prevalence range: 9 – 75%), with the majority of research reporting 15-30% prevalence of SSE (Berwick et al., 1996; Carli et al., 2003; Coups et al., 2016; Glenn, Chen, Chang, Lin, & Bastani, 2017; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2010; K. A. Miller et al., 2015; Mujumdar et al., 2009; Oliveria et al., 2004; Rat et al., 2014; Weinstock et al., 1999). These differences may be due to the different operationalization of SSE across studies. For instance, a research project assessing SSE with a single question and a binary "yes/no" answer format is likely to report higher levels of SSE (Kasparian et al., 2012) than a study using a more comprehensive definition including the number of body parts examined, frequency of the practice, etc. (Aitken et al., 2004; Berwick et al., 1996; Carli et al., 2003; Rat et al., 2014; Weinstock et al., 1999). In fact, when research distinguishes between whole-body examination versus partial SSE the prevalence rates reported for these variables vary significantly (Aitken et al., 2004). Similarly, research assessing SSE on monthly or bimonthly bases tends to report lower SSE rates as compared to research assessing annual practice or an engagement in SSE over the participant's lifetime (Aitken et al., 2004;

Mujumdar et al., 2009). Additional consideration when attempting to understand a wide range or patient reported SSE practice may be the location of the study, as typically research conducted in Australia reports the highest rates of self-exams, while European and North American studies report a much lower prevalence of SSE. This may be due to this country's efforts to promote sun protection, melanoma-awareness as well as to normalize routine skin checks (see section on educational campaigns, p. 30.)

Predictors of skin self-examination

There are several factors, which predict the engagement in SSE. First, geography and race seem to interact in predicting SSE as fair-skinned individuals living in parts of the world with greater sun exposure are more likely to check their own skin for suspicious changes (Kasparian et al., 2012). For instance, Kasparian and colleagues (2012) reported that the global rates of SSE are highest in Australia and the United States, followed by Europe, within which Southern populations reported higher rates of SSE practice than individuals from the Northern countries. This phenomenon may be explained by an associated higher incidence of melanoma but also by social norms and levels of melanoma-awareness (Kasparian et al., 2012). Indeed, Australia is a good example of a country with consistently high prevalence of SSE practice as well as one with the most intensive and long-lasting melanoma awareness-raising campaigns. It can be contrasted with South Africa, where the incidence is equally high but the awareness as well as the SSE practice are likely to be low (South African Melanoma Advisory Board, 2018). Second, other sociodemographic characteristics positively associated with SSE include being female, being younger, having a higher level of education and greater income, as well as living with a partner (Aitken et al., 2004; Carli et al., 2003; Manne & Lessin, 2006; K. A. Miller et al., 2015; Robinson et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1998).

Additionally, melanoma-related risk factors such as the number of nevi as well as having had dermatology visits with skin biopsies and a diagnosis of a skin carcinoma in the previous 3 vears have also been linked to greater likelihood of engaging in SSE (Mujumdar et al., 2009: Robinson et al., 2002). Similarly, having a family member who was diagnosed with melanoma or having a personal history of melanoma has been associated with more SSE practice as compared to the general population (Glenn et al., 2017; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2010). Further, cognitive factors associated with skin self-examination include higher perceived risk of melanoma (e.g., due to the family history or the phenotype putting the person at risk), perceived benefits of the practice and barriers to SSE, higher SSE-related self-efficacy and a greater knowledge about melanoma and SSE (Glenn et al., 2017; Hay et al., 2006; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2010; Manne et al., 2004; Manne & Lessin, 2006; Mujumdar et al., 2009; Phelan, Oliveria, Christos, Dusza, & Halpern, 2003; Robinson et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1998). Additionally, the level of personal comfort with being assisted by one's partner in performing SSE has emerged as a positive predictor of the practice (Robinson, Turrisi, & Stapleton, 2007a, 2007b). Moreover, some limited recent research suggests that use of tanning beds (associated with higher risk of melanoma) may be linked to more skin self-exams, possibly due to users' understanding that they expose themselves to greater risk based on warning labels affixed to tanning devices (Morris, Luke, & Perna, 2018). Lastly, being given a recommendation or instructions on SSE performance from one's nurse or physician also correlates positively with the practice of skin self-examination (Aitken et al., 2004; Kasparian et al., 2010; Rat et al., 2014; Robinson et al., 1998; Robinson et al., 2007b).

Interventions aiming to improve the practice of skin self-examination

Two recent systematic reviews showed that interventions aimed at teaching patients about SSE are associated with increases in SSE practice (Henrikson et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2016). Given that research has identified a number of predictors of skin self-examination, several intervention studies have been conducted in order to maximize the likelihood of effective SSE performance. For instance, Oliveria and colleagues conducted a longitudinal research project with 100 individuals at risk for developing melanoma (defined as having 5 or more dysplastic nevi), which involved an educational intervention delivered by a nurse (Hay et al., 2006; Oliveria et al., 2004; Phelan et al., 2003). Participants were assigned to two groups: one group received the teaching intervention along with a personalized photobook with pictures of the patient's body and one group received the same education but without the photobook. The mean scores for melanoma knowledge, awareness of skin changes and the confidence in the ability to perform SSE increased over time in both groups (Phelan et al., 2003). The intervention was associated with a significant increase in SSE performance within the following 4 months in both groups while the gains in the photobook condition were more than twice as large as those in the control group (increase of 51% vs. 17.6%) (Oliveria et al., 2004). Self-efficacy significantly mediated the relationship between the photobook use and SSE at the 4-month follow-up (Hay et al., 2006). Indeed, a review of the literature on the role of the visual materials in teaching SSE suggests that providing images during the education such as pictures, drawings, mole-mapping diaries or videos positively affects SSE-related knowledge, attitudes toward the practice and the performance itself (McWhirter & Hoffman-Goetz, 2013).

Another longitudinal project of 4-months duration was conducted with 130 individuals previously diagnosed with melanoma, who received educational materials and skills training

from a research assistant either alone or together with a partner (Robinson et al., 2007a, 2007b). The dyadic (i.e., with a partner) learning group reported greater intentions to perform SSE, greater importance of SSE, and higher self-efficacy for performing skin exams. The assessment of SSE performance over the following three months revealed an increase in skin self-examination practice in both groups, however the dyadic learning was associated with more frequent SSE. Nevertheless, it is important to point out that the increase in SSE performance was modest as 45/65 individuals (69%) in the solo learning condition and 23/65 individuals (35%) in the dyadic learning condition did not check their skin at all. Further, 19/65 individuals (29%) who learned with their partners checked their skin only once during the follow-up period with additional 13 patients checking their skin several times, while the solo learners performed even fewer self-exams (9 and 4, respectively) (Robinson et al., 2007a).

Only three randomized controlled trials related to SSE have been conducted to date. The most recent one, is a large-scale RCT following 494 participants for 24 months (Robinson et al., 2014; Robinson et al., 2016). The trial involved patients with a history of early-stage melanoma (stages 0 to II) as well as their significant others (e.g., spouse, relative, etc.). The study had three arms with all interventions taking place in the office: a) a face-to-face meeting with an educator, b) reviewing an educational workbook or c) learning via an electronic interactive education delivered on a tablet computer, all of which had the goal of increasing knowledge and skills necessary for SSE. Self-exam knowledge and confidence in performing SSE, i.e., self-efficacy, were measured immediately after the intervention. The group using the tablet did not differ from the individuals in the workbook condition in terms of their self-confidence in recognizing suspicious moles. Further, all groups reported similar levels of self-confidence for accurate identification of pictures of moles as benign or malignant and in monitoring their own moles.

Individuals in the face-to-face education condition performed significantly better on a skill-based quiz, followed by the electronic interactive group, who in turn performed significantly better than the workbook group participants. The electronic and in-person interventions were more time-efficient (30 minutes) than the workbook (45 minutes). Both the patients and the partners reported increased confidence in their ability to perform SSE (Robinson, Hultgren, Mallett, & Turrisi, 2017). Compared to the control group (who received standard care) the patients, who received any of the 3 interventions reported significantly increased practice of SSE for all body parts at 4, 12 and 24 months follow-ups and they discovered more new melanomas (Robinson et al., 2016). Additionally, the authors reported that in the control group a majority was detected either by the patient or the partner (Robinson et al., 2016).

The second randomized controlled trial was based on the educational campaign "Check it out!" and involved 1 356 patients recruited from routine primary care (Lee, Weinstock, & Risica, 2008; Weinstock et al., 2007). Although, these participants were not at higher risk for melanoma than the general population it is the only RCT to date showing the effectiveness of a large-scale educational intervention on the performance of skin self-examination. The intervention included a provision of instructional materials, comprised of cues and aids, a video, and a brief counselling session, as well as a follow-up phone call from a health educator and tailored feedback letters. Thorough SSE was performed by more participants at 2, 6, as well as 12 months in the intervention group than in the control group (55% vs. 35% at 12 months) (Lee et al., 2008; Weinstock et al., 2007). Interestingly, the analysis of the data from participants who had not checked their own skin prior to the intervention showed that at each follow-up nearly half of

them examined their skin thoroughly (2 months: 47%, 6 months: 50%, 12 months: 49%) (Lee et al., 2008).

The third RCT was conducted with 930 males over 50 years of age from Queensland, Australia (Janda et al., 2010; Janda et al., 2011). Older males were chosen for this study because they constitute a demographic group with a higher risk for the diagnosis of more advanced melanoma but lower likelihood of performing SSE compared to women and younger individuals. The trial randomized the participants into receiving video and print materials on SSE, followed by two SSE reminder postcards (intervention group) or no follow-up (control group) (Janda et al., 2010; Janda et al., 2011). Telephone interviews assessed skin self-examination practice at baseline, 7 and 13 months later. Despite no face-to-face intervention the provision of educational materials resulted in an increase of SSE behaviours in both groups. At baseline 10% of participants reported conducing SSE. At 7 months, the proportion of men conducting SSE increased by 28% in the intervention group compared with 13% in the control group. However, at 13 months, the prevalence of any skin self-examination was similar in both intervention groups (83% vs. 80%) (Janda et al., 2010; Janda et al., 2011). The lack of significant differences between the groups at the end of the study may reflect a potential plateau effect as this study reported a very high SSE prevalence in this population. It is noteworthy that research from Australia typically reports higher SSE practice as compared to the rest of the world. This could be because melanoma is much more common in that population (being "the national cancer") and the awareness of the skin cancer risk and knowledge about prevention is likely greater than in North America or Europe given the Australian efforts to raise melanoma awareness over the past 3 decades. Most importantly, the findings carry an implication that it may be possible to

increase awareness of melanoma and SSE practice in a low-cost manner not requiring the involvement of an expensive and overburdened clinical care team.

Summary and conclusions

Melanoma is recognizable and highly curable at early stages. However, it becomes increasingly difficult to treat as it progresses to more advanced stages. Moreover, melanoma develops with a significant pre-clinical phase making it conducive to early detection (before spreading to other parts of the body). Therefore, it is argued that early detection and treatment are key to reducing melanoma-related mortality (Geller et al., 2007; Weinstock, 2006). Consequently, efforts have been made around the world to facilitate the secondary prevention of the disease. Dermatology associations and clinical guidelines for individuals diagnosed with melanoma have been promoting skin self-examination as a step toward earlier detection and treatment of subsequent tumours melanoma. Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have identified predictors of SSE, examined means to facilitate SSE as well as provided evidence for the benefits of this health-protective behavioural practice.

The role of the physician in promoting skin self-examination

A multitude of factors appear to be involved in the acquisition of SSE and long-term adherence to SSE recommendations among patients with a history of melanoma. One of the variables, which has received only minimal research attention is the involvement of the patient's physician in promoting this health behaviour.

To date, there are only a few studies examining physician-related variables and skin selfexamination. For instance, Robinson and colleagues reported that discussing skin cancer prevention with primary physicians was related to greater patient engagement in SSE (Robinson et al., 1998). A project involving 200 adults from the general population of Rhode Island revealed that only 9% performed SSE at least once every few months. However, after controlling for all other significant predictor variables, individuals who were asked by a health care provider about examining one's own skin were 3.8 times more likely to report conducting SSE (OR=3.8) (Weinstock et al., 1999). Similarly, a population-based cross-sectional survey of 3 110 individuals living in Australia, a country with one of the highest incidence of melanoma and prevalence of SSE, revealed that 18.6% of the participants recalled their primary care physician suggesting they conduct SSE and 10.8% recalled the physician giving them specific instructions on how to do it (Aitken et al., 2004). In this study, the practice of SSE has been assessed with single questions covering at least a full year at a time ("In the past 12 months did you practice any SSE/whole-body SSE/partial SSE?" and "In the past 3 years did you practice whole body SSE?") (Aitken et al., 2004). Such operationalization of SSE practice may have contributed to unusually high reports of SSE, e.g., as a staggering 65% of participants whose physician had conducted a whole-body skin examination in the previous three years reported checking their own skin as well. Further, 60% of individuals whose physician had suggested they perform SSE and 69% of those who had been instructed on how to do it reported conducting SSE (Aitken et al., 2004). Participants who were encouraged in any of the above two ways were significantly more likely to report performing SSE within the previous three years, prompting the authors of the study to conclude that "primary care physicians, either by examining the skin of their patients or by advising them to examine their skin themselves, may increase the likelihood of SSE in their patients by as much as 50%" (Aitken et al., 2004).

A similar research project was conducted by Manne and colleagues (2004) with individuals at high risk for melanoma, i.e., biological relatives of patients with melanoma. It assessed whether a physician had ever suggested to the participants to regularly examine their skin and whether the patients remembered being shown how to do it. Forty-five percent of the participants reported being told by their physician to perform SSE but only about half of them (24% of the sample) indicated that they had been shown how to do it. Although the physicians' recommendations were not very common, they were positively associated with SSE practice as participants were much more likely to engage in SSE when they were encouraged to do so (OR=3.8) or shown how to do it (OR=4.3) (Manne et al., 2004). A second project by Manne and colleagues (2006) reported on 229 patients diagnosed with melanoma, who were asked whether a doctor suggested to self-examine their skin and whether a doctor had shown them the best way to do SSE (Manne & Lessin, 2006). Eighty percent of the patients reported that their doctors had recommended SSE but only 46.1% had been shown how to do it. Both physicians' behaviours were associated with greater SSE performance (OR=2.8 and 2.5, respectively) (Manne & Lessin, 2006).

Finally, a pilot clustered-RCT conducted with 20 physicians in private practice in Western France and their 173 patients from the general population showed that physicians may have a significant impact on the patients' melanoma-preventative behaviours and risk selfassessment skills (Rat et al., 2014). In the intervention arm of the study 10 general practitioners identified patients at elevated risk for melanoma with the Self-Assessment Melanoma Risk Score (SAMScore), examined their skin, and counselled them on melanoma, sun protection and SSE using information leaflets. In the control group, 10 general practitioners displayed a poster and the leaflets in their waiting rooms and examined patients' skin at their own discretion. Five months later the participants in the intervention group were more likely to correctly identify their elevated risk of melanoma (71.1% vs. 42.1%), to have performed skin self-exams in the past year (52.6% vs. 36.8%) and they were less likely to sunbathe (24.7% vs. 40.8%) (Rat et al., 2014). It is noteworthy that despite the relatively short post-intervention period (5 months) SSE was assessed for the previous year, which possibly meant a 5-month overlap between the reported 12 months and time since the intervention. Nevertheless, the statistically significant difference between the groups was also clinically significant.

In sum, while research on physician support for melanoma patients' SSE practice is scarce, findings to date suggest that patients who have had discussions with their physicians about checking their own skin for suspicious changes are more likely to practice SSE. Further investigation into the role of the physician for patient adherence to SSE recommendations is necessary in order to better understand which specific physician-related factors promote adherence to medical recommendations of SSE for patients in melanoma after care.

Limitations of the current scholarship on secondary prevention of melanoma through early

detection via skin self-examination among melanoma survivors

Populations under study

Although substantial strides have been made in the past decades in research on the effectiveness of SSE as well as on predictors of SSE practice among individuals diagnosed with melanoma, some important limitations are still restricting the conclusions that can be drawn for secondary prevention of the disease among melanoma survivors. One factor that is limiting conclusions for this specific and steadily growing population is that a large proportion of the existing scholarship pertains to SSE among the general population or among individuals at increased risk but without a previous diagnosis of melanoma. The findings from research conducted with these groups may not always be directly applicable to melanoma survivors as

previously diagnosed individuals may have a very different experience with this cancer than the general population. For example, a significant number of melanoma survivors live with the fear of recurrence, which is likely to impact the likelihood of performing SSE (Atkinson, Noce, Hay, Rafferty, & Brady, 2013; Noorda et al., 2007). Further, survivors tend to cope with distress by relying on their physicians' expertise. Indeed, in a study of 483 melanoma patients surveyed from immediately after the diagnosis up to 10-years post diagnosis, the two most frequently endorsed ways of coping were "trusting my doctors" and "following the medical advice exactly" (Zschocke, Augustin, & Muthny, 1996). Thus, it is conceivable that physician recommendations may have a different impact among cancer survivors than among the general population. Consequently, due to the scarcity of research with melanoma survivors only tentative conclusions regarding the role of the physician for SSE practice among melanoma survivors can be drawn at this time.

The role of the physician for facilitating skin self-examination

Despite a great number of factors identified as predictors of skin self-examination practice some variables still have not received adequate attention. For instance, based on the here-presented literature review one can conclude that the role of the physician in promoting the secondary prevention of melanoma through SSE among melanoma survivors is still largely unexplored. There are only two studies to date examining the association between physician recommendations and SSE in this population (Manne & Lessin, 2006; Zschocke et al., 1996). Yet, the importance of this variable should not be overlooked. It is one of the few potential predictors of SSE that is modifiable, as many of the other predictors are sociodemographic in nature and cannot be changed. Among other changeable predictors are cognitive factors such as SSE-related self-efficacy and knowledge about melanoma and SSE, which could be effectively addressed by health care professionals, which further highlights the potential importance of the physician's role for the secondary prevention of melanoma (Hay et al., 2006; Mujumdar et al., 2009; Phelan et al., 2003; Robinson et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1998). However, physicians tend to be occupied with attending to the medical aspects of melanoma treatment and seeing a large number of patients per day. Thus, they may not be able to teach SSE skills or provide patients with detailed information about early signs of melanoma. Research also indicates that interventions carried out by nurses may be very effective (Hay et al., 2006; Oliveria et al., 2004; Phelan et al., 2003). At the same time, merely the physicians' mentioning the need for SSE during a patient's visit is associated with increased SSE practice. Consequently, the role of the physician may be to simply encourage and support the self-examination practice, while the direct teaching or providing educational materials may be accomplished by other healthcare professionals, such as nurses (Aitken et al., 2004; Weinstock et al., 1999).

Research methodology

Operationalization of SSE. One of the major limitations of the past research is the variety of definitions used to operationalize SSE. Based on different criteria used to define what constitutes adequate skin self-examination in different research projects the estimates of the prevalence of SSE among survivors of melanoma vary significantly (Körner et al., 2013; Weinstock et al., 2004), which may also affect the valid assessment of outcomes of interventions aiming to increase effective SSE. Researchers have used different methods to assess melanoma from simple, straight-forward questions to using whole-body diaries for patients to record what they observed during their SSE. Further, the research protocols, which ask questions, sometimes require a simple "yes/no" answer and sometimes provide a scale with different frequencies to choose from (with response items varying from study to study). Additionally, some researchers

define "thorough SSE" by number of body parts examined, while others do not inquire about the thoroughness of the SSE but ask only about whether a participant examined their skin at all. For instance, Rat and colleagues (2014) asked their participants: "In the last 12 months, did you perform a skin self-examination?", without specifying what skin self-examination is (Rat et al., 2014). In contrast, Weinstock and associates (1999) asked their participants whether they looked "specifically and deliberately" at 8 different body areas (arms and face, chest and front of legs, side of body, back of legs, upper back and tops of shoulders, sides of legs and bottoms of feet, middle and lower parts of back, and back of thighs) and the answer was considered affirmative (indicating "thorough SSE") only if the participants chose "always" or "almost always" response options (Weinstock et al., 1999). Such variability in operationalization makes it difficult to compare findings across studies and to conclude if, how many and why melanoma survivors adhere to a regular schedule of whole-body SSE in line with what is recommended by clinical care guidelines the associations of dermatologists suggest.

Research design. The majority of the studies on SSE are cross-sectional or have a short duration with the usual follow-up of adherence to standardized SSE instructions assessed between 3 and 6 months (Berwick, Oliveria, Luo, Headley, & Bolognia, 2000; Oliveria et al., 2004; Robinson et al., 2007b) with a notable exception of one project extending the follow-up to 2 years (Robinson et al., 2014; Robinson et al., 2017; Robinson et al., 2016). Furthermore, different kinds of evidence are needed to demonstrate how effective an intervention is. For instance, naturalistic studies (taking place in unaltered clinical environments) may offer an opportunity to better understand facilitating factors and barriers to implementing SSE interventions and investigate the *effectiveness* of such interventions thereby contributing to establishing external validity of an intervention (Singal, Higgins, & Waljee, 2014). On the other

hand, *efficacy* studies such as RCTs and pre/post designs may allow to establish key predictors of SSE in more controlled environments and inform about the internal validity of the study findings regarding an intervention (Singal et al., 2014). To date, naturalistic effectiveness studies have not been very common. In fact, most studies have been geared toward establishing the efficacy of interventions in somewhat controlled environments. However, even among the efficacy studies, the "gold-standard" of randomly assigning participants to treatment conditions has rarely been reached. Only four RCTs have been reported in the literature on secondary prevention of melanoma. Three of those studies did not involve melanoma survivors but individuals at risk for skin cancer recruited from primary care settings or individuals from the general population. Although informative, this limits the generalizability of the findings to those with a personal history of the disease (Janda et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2008; Weinstock et al., 2007). Longer follow-ups are essential in order to establish whether the intervention effects are long-lasting or last only through the period when the patients are seen frequently by the physicians anyway. In conclusion, longer follow-ups as well as wider range of scientific evidence on the effectiveness and efficacy of interventions aiming to increase SSE among melanoma survivors are needed.

Research objectives of the doctoral dissertation

The main objective of the here-proposed research is to the explore the role of physician support for patients' practice of skin self-examination. More specifically, the first objective is to evaluate whether SSE-specific physician support is a better predictor of SSE than general physician support. To achieve that goal, the psychometric quality of a measure of general support by the physician (i.e., the Health Care Climate Questionnaire) and the measures utility in a population of melanoma patients will be examined. Then, the Physician Support of Skin Self-Examination Scale and the Health Care Climate Questionnaire will be compared in terms of the strength of their respective associations with SSE. The stronger predictor will be chosen for subsequent analyses.

The second objective is to evaluate patients' self-efficacy specific to SSE. First, the baseline level of SSE self-efficacy will be established at study enrolment. Second, best-practice clinical care will be modeled by providing a brief educational intervention focusing on the detection of early signs of melanoma. The patients' level of self-efficacy will be assessed immediately after the intervention as well as 3 and 12 months later. Finally, the relationship between physician support and SSE self-efficacy will be examined.

The third objective is to examine the relationship between physician support and SSE behavioural practice. To better understand their potential positive association, a mediational pathway will be tested whereby the level of patients' self-efficacy is proposed to explain the association between physician support and SSE practice.

Chapter 2

Validation of the English and French Versions of the Brief Health Care Climate

Questionnaire (HCCQ)

Zofia Czajkowska, Hui Wang, Nathan Hall, Maida Sewitch and Annett Körner

Author Note

Zofia Czajkowska, Hui Wang, Nathan Hall, and Annett Körner - Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology, McGill University; Maida Sewitch – Department of Epidemiology, McGill University Health Centre

The following chapter is a slightly modified version of the paper published in Health Psychology Open and should be cited as:

Czajkowska, Z., Wang, H., Hall, N. C., Sewitch, M., & Körner, A. (2017). Validation of the English and French versions of the Brief Health Care Climate Questionnaire. *Health Psychology Open, 4*(2). doi:10.1177/2055102917730675

This research was supported by a grant from Fonds de la Recherche du Québec-Santé.

The authors would like to thank all current and past members of the Health Psychology Research Group at McGill University, who generously contributed their time and skills to ensure the success of this project. We would also like to thank the clinical care teams who made this research possible. Finally, and most importantly, we would like to thank the patients and partners who chose to participate in this study. This study would not have been possible without you.

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Zofia Czajkowska, Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology, Montreal, QC, H3A 1Y2. E-mail: <u>zofia.czajkowska@mail.mcgill.ca</u>

Abstract

Patient autonomy is a central value in medicine and critical component of adherence to medical advice. This paper reports on a validation of the 6-item version of the Health Care Climate Questionnaire (HCCQ), a measure of autonomy support in health care settings, in a sample of 242 melanoma patients. The HCCQ showed excellent internal consistency (α =.91), structural validity (TLI = .99; CFI = .99; RMSEA = .06, 90% CI (Van Durme et al., 2000); SRMR = .02; χ^2 (8, *N* = 235) = 13.99, *p* =.08), and construct validity (85.71% of hypothesized correlations with other measures confirmed). Acceptable 3-month test-retest reliability was observed (*r*= .55, *p*< .001; ICC (A,1) = .54, *p*<.001). The French version was found equivalent to the English version.

Keywords: Health Care Climate Questionnaire; HCCQ; validation; HCCQ version française; HCCQ brief version; HCCQ short version; patient autonomy; melanoma; skin cancer

Introduction

The purpose of the current paper is to validate a Health Care Climate Questionnaire (HCCQ) – a unique measure of the patient perspective concerning their autonomy in medical settings. Patient autonomy is a central value in Western medicine (Beauchamp & Childress, 2009; Varelius, 2006) and one of the fundamental principles of the Charter on Medical Professionalism (Teplick et al., 2006). Accordingly, this principle states that *"physicians must have respect for patient autonomy… be honest with their patients and empower them to make informed decisions about their treatment"* (Teplick et al., 2006; p. 1). This recent official adoption of patient autonomy as a part of the physicians' charter thus indicates that health care practitioners are now responsible for promoting both autonomy and well-being in their patients (Beauchamp & Childress, 2009; Ng et al., 2012).

According to Self-Determination Theory, patients' sense of autonomy represents a critical component of their motivational profile (Patrick & Williams, 2012; Ryan & Deci, 2006; Ryan, Patrick, Deci, & Williams, 2008; Williams, Deci, & Ryan, 1998; Williams, Frankel, Campbell, & Deci, 2000; Williams, Freedman, et al., 1998; Williams et al., 1996). In health care settings, autonomous motivation is of particular importance concerning patient adherence to medical advice, treatment, and disease prevention. According to Sox, 2002, *"the center of patient care is not in the physician's office or the hospital. It is where people live their lives, in the home and the workplace. There, patients make the daily choices that determine their health"* (p. 243). Unfortunately, the choices made by patients do not always contribute to better health outcomes. For example, non-adherence to medication ranges from 25% to 50% and is associated with more hospital admissions and medical complications (Alvarez Payero et al., 2014; Beck, Emery, & Greenberg, 1985; Claxton, Cramer, & Pierce, 2001; Haynes, McDonald, Garg, & Montague, 2002;

Nieuwlaat et al., 2014; Sokol, McGuigan, Verbrugge, & Epstein, 2005). In addition to health problems experienced by the patients, there are significant financial costs associated with greater hospitalization, medical tests, and treatments due to patient non-compliance (Berg, Dischler, Wagner, Raia, & Palmer-Shevlin, 1993; Iuga & McGuire, 2014; Roebuck, Liberman, Gemmill-Toyama, & Brennan, 2011; Sokol et al., 2005). Moreover, the current methods of increasing adherence tend to complex in nature and largely ineffective (Haynes et al., 2002; McDonald, Garg, & Haynes, 2002; Nieuwlaat et al., 2014).

Why do patients not follow medical advice? From the perspective of the patient, the seemingly irrational act of non-compliance may be perceived as having a rational basis (e.g., unfavourable cost-benefit analysis or lacking sufficiently persuasive reasons to comply; DiMatteo et al., 2007; Donovan and Blake, 1992). Moreover, given that patient beliefs concerning their personal circumstances, prior knowledge, and medical options are salient antecedents of their subsequent health-related decision-making, their personal beliefs concerning medical issues and physician support are indeed worthy of empirical study (Donovan & Blake, 1992; Vermeire, Hearnshaw, Van Royen, & Denekens, 2001). Patient involvement in the treatment process and the relationship between the patient and healthcare professionals are among the core element of patient-centered care internationally (Kitson, Marshall, Bassett, & Zeitz, 2013). Further, an autonomy-supportive climate of mutual understanding, trust, and shared decision-making between the patient and heal to be conducive to discussing patients' concerns, increasing adherence, and facilitating patient participation, each of which correspond to various positive outcomes (Greene & Hibbard, 2012; Hibbard & Greene, 2013).

For instance, greater communication between the patient and the health care team has been found to improve not only treatment adherence but also patient satisfaction (Burnier, 2000; Donovan, 1995; Fuertes et al., 2007; Ha & Longnecker, 2010; Hillen, de Haes, & Smets, 2011). Additionally, more effective provider-patient communication is associated with greater work satisfaction, less work-related stress, and lower burnout for medical professionals that, in turn, can facilitate patient adherence and satisfaction with care (DiMatteo et al., 1993; Ha & Longnecker, 2010; Pepper, Carpenter, & DeVellis, 2012; Stavropoulou, 2011; Zolnierek & DiMatteo, 2009). With respect to the qualities of effective communication, findings suggest that shared decisionmaking, presenting options, addressing patients' concerns, and mutual trust are critical to patientphysician relationships and health outcomes (Ha & Longnecker, 2010; Hillen et al., 2011; Stavropoulou, 2011). It is these key aspects of communication between a health care provider and a patient that are captured by the Health Care Climate Questionnaire (HCCQ) developed by Williams et al. (2000) in which patients' perceptions concerning autonomy-supportive nature of the health care climate are specifically assessed.

The HCCQ has been used in research for over 20 years to measure patients' perceptions concerning the extent of autonomy support provided by their health care providers (Fortier, Sweet, O'Sullivan, & Williams, 2007; Kasser & Ryan, 1999; Williams, Cox, Kouides, & Deci, 1999; Williams, Deci, et al., 1998; Williams, Freedman, et al., 1998; Williams, Gagne, Ryan, & Deci, 2002; Williams et al., 1996; Williams et al., 2006). According to Williams et al. (2000), autonomy support in health care settings *"refers to providers' interacting with patients by taking full account of their perspectives, affording choice, offering information, encouraging self-initiation, providing a rationale for recommended actions, and accepting the patients' decisions"* (p. 81). The HCCQ was designed specifically to assess these specific aspects of autonomy support in health care settings these specific aspects of autonomy support in health care settings (Williams et al., 1996), and can be adapted for use with various medical professionals

including physicians, nurses, and dieticians (Williams et al., 1998b). However, given limited published research to date on the empirical validation of the HCCQ, the purpose of this study was to assess the validity and reliability of this self-report measure. Given that researchers and clinicians alike typically prefer less intrusive measures that perform optimally, the short 6-item version of the original 15-item scale was examined with respect to internal consistency, structural and construct validity, test-retest reliability, as well as descriptive and item-specific statistics.

Scale validation was conducted in a hospital-based sample of patients diagnosed with melanoma skin cancer. This population was selected due to clinical guidelines recommending long-term adherence to a skin self-examination regimen for melanoma survivors (Coit et al., 2009), thereby affording a sufficiently intensive examination of patient autonomy in the context of medical adherence. In addition to scale validation, the second study objective was to examine English-French language equivalency in terms of mean level differences as well as contrasting internal consistency, structural validity, and item/scale descriptives between the English and French samples. French was chosen as a second language due to the measure having previously been employed in French samples despite no published scale validation for the French version (Fortier et al., 2007).

Method

Participants

The study sample consisted of patients diagnosed with melanoma skin cancer treated at two major teaching hospitals in Montreal, Canada. Eligibility criteria included the ability to read either English or French, being at least 18 years of age, and having a medically confirmed diagnosis of melanoma. Fifteen percent were diagnosed with melanoma in situ (stage 0), 48.7% with stage I, 18.7% with stage II, 6.2% with stage III, and 3.6% with stage IV melanoma.

Materials

Health Care Climate Questionnaire. The Health Care Climate Questionnaire (HCCQ) was utilized to assess the degree to which the participants perceived their physicians as supportive of their autonomy as opposed to controlling in nature (Williams et al., 1996). Sample items include "I feel that my doctor has provided me choices and options," "My doctor tries to understand how I see things before suggesting a new way to do things," and "My doctor encourages me to ask questions." Each item was rated on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). The language of the scale is devoid of jargon, double negative statements, and advanced vocabulary to optimize accessibility for individuals across education levels. Similar to the original 15-item scale having excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .95$) and a 1-factor structure (Williams et al., 1996), high internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .96$) and a 1-factor structure were also obtained in the current sample.

Comprised of items from the original 15-item version, the shorter 6-item scale includes items 1, 2, 4, 7, 10, and 14 (Self-Determination Theory, 2017). Similar short versions with 4 (Williams et al., 1999; Williams, Rodin, Ryan, Grolnick, & Deci, 1998), 5 (Williams et al., 1996, 1998b, 2002), and 7 items (Kasser and Ryan, 1999) have previously demonstrated acceptable to excellent internal consistency ($.72 \le$ Cronbach's $\alpha \le .96$) and reflected a 1-factor structure (Fortier et al., 2007; Kasser and Ryan, 1999; Williams, 1996, 1998b, 1998c, 1999, 2002, 2006). For the purposes of this study, the 6-item version was administered following from a recommendation of this version by the scale authors (Self-Determination Theory, 2017). The 15-item version was additionally administered to examine correlations between the full and 6-item scale versions.

Other measures. Socio-demographic data (age, gender, years of education, etc.) and need for additional services (e.g., to spend more time with the physician) were assessed via a self-report survey. Time since diagnosis and cancer stage were additionally collected from patients' medical files and hospital tumour registries. The *Physician Support of Skin Self-Examination (SSE) Scale* assessed the patients' perspective of their doctors' encouragement of skin self-examination (Coroiu, Moran, Garland, & Körner, 2017) and patients' self-efficacy for SSE was assessed using *Skin Self-Examination Self-Efficacy Scale* (Karapetian et al., 2016). The Skin Self-Examination was assessed with 5 items inquiring about whether different body parts have been examined by a participant. The *Skin Cancer Index* was used to measure patients' worries specific to skin cancer (Matthews, Rhee, Neuburg, Burzynski, & Nattinger, 2006; Rhee et al., 2007), while the *Patient Health Questionnaire-4* used to assess psychological distress with respect to depressive and anxiety symptoms (Kroenke, Spitzer, Williams, & Lowe, 2010).

Procedure

Design. Ethics approval was obtained from the university's faculty of medicine research ethics board. This specific study was conducted at two teaching hospitals as part of a larger, longitudinal project examining how psychosocial variables correspond with adherence to medical advice during melanoma follow-up clinical care. Further procedural details are outlined in a published study protocol (Körner et al., 2013).

Translation. There exists no official validated French version of the HCCQ despite its previous use in English-French bilingual settings (e.g., Fortier et al., 2007). Consequently, a professional translator was employed to translate the HCCQ as per a cross-cultural translation technique (Banville, Desrosiers, & Genet-Volet, 2000). First, a professional translator from Québec, Canada (study location) fluent in both English and French translated the HCCQ from the

original English into French. Second, a bilingual individual without access to the original version back-translated the measure into English. Third, the original and back-translated versions were compared and consensus on the final version was reached between both translators. The 7-item response format was retained from the English version (1 = fortement en désaccord, 3 = neuter, 7 = fortement en accord). The translated questionnaire items are presented in Table 1.

Analyses. The validation analyses were principally conducted using baseline data (Time 1) from the longitudinal project to afford the greatest number of participants (N = 242). To evaluate test-retest reliability, data from Time 2 (6-month lag, N = 109) and Time 3 (9-month lag, N = 112) data were additionally assessed. First calculated were item means, standard deviations, Cronbach's alpha if item deleted, inter-item correlations, corrected item-total correlations, and factor loadings, as well as the scale mean and standard deviation. Second, the correlation with the full scale (15-item version) was calculated, followed by Cronbach's alpha and a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) for the 6-item scale. Construct validity was evaluated by comparing the HCCQ to similar and dissimilar constructs using Pearson's r and point biserial correlations. Reproducibility of the HCCQ scores (test-retest reliability) was assessed by correlating Time 2 and Time 3 data using the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). Additionally, floor and ceiling effects were investigated.

Equivalency between the English and French versions was examined by a) correlating language with the HCCQ score, b) comparing group means, c) comparing CFA fit and factor loadings between the English and French subsamples, d) comparing overall Cronbach's alphas and item-corrected Cronbach's alphas of the English and French groups, and e) comparing item-level analytics (inter-item correlations, item-total correlations, item means). Confirmatory factor analyses were conducted using Mplus statistical software. version 7.0. (Muthén & Muthén, released 2012), with the remaining analyses conducted using Predictive Analysis Software (PASW version 18; SPSS Inc., 2009).

Results

Descriptive and item analyses. Item means were similar in magnitude ranging from 4.74 to 5.64 (SD = 1.44-1.68) with an average item mean of 5.29 (average mean across all individual item means). Similarly, the means for the entire scale (regardless of single items deleted) remained within a range of 1 point (from 26.09 to 26.98). The inter-item correlations ranged from .55 to .75 (p < .001 for all). Further, corrected item-total correlations were high and comparable across items (ranging from .68 to .82) as were the Cronbach's alphas if item deleted (ranging from .88 to .90). The short, 6-item version of the questionnaire correlated very highly with the original, 15-item version (r = .95, p < .001). Additionally, all items showed excellent factor loadings (for more details on the structural validity see the next section) (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Additional details regarding the analyses described above can be found in Table 2.

Internal consistency and structural validity. Cronbach's alpha was high (α = .91) indicating excellent internal consistency (Streiner, 2003; Terwee et al., 2007). Further, as the HCCQ is considered a 1-factor scale (Wiliams, 1996, 1998b), a confirmatory factory analysis (CFA) was conducted to corroborate previous findings. Two hundred and thirty-five participants' data was used in this analysis allowing for sufficient power to detect a model fit (Terwee et al., 2007). A CFA with maximum likelihood estimation showed an excellent fit following Hu and Bentler's (Hu & Bentler, 1999) as well as Kline's (Kline, 2013) criteria (TLI = .99; CFI = .99; RMSEA = .06, 90% CI; SRMR = .02; χ^2 (8, N = 235) = 13.99, p = .08). The factor loadings ranged from .74 to .90.

Construct validity. As per recommendations by Terwee and colleagues (2007), construct validity was established by testing hypotheses on how the HCCQ should correspond to similar and dissimilar constructs through correlations, pertinent single items as well as sociodemographic and medical data (see *Measures*). Twelve of 14 hypotheses (listed in Table 3) were supported (85.71%) providing evidence for the construct validity of HCCQ (for more details see Table 3; Terwee et al., 2007). Two hypotheses were not supported. First, the one involving the Emotional subscale of the SCI in that a moderate correlation was expected but no significant correlation was observed. Thus, whereas general sense of distress (PHQ-4) did correspond negatively with the HCCQ, specific symptoms of distress as assessed by the emotional subscale of SCI (e.g., embarrassment about cancer and worries) did not relate to perceived autonomy as measured by the HCCQ. Second, a small to moderate correlation was expected between HCCQ and the Skin Self-Examination, however, the correlation was not significant.

Reproducibility. Test-retest reliability was established by correlating Time 2 and Time 3 data (gathered 3 months apart) and computing the intraclass correlation agreement (ICC). The data from T2 and T3 showed a strong correlation (J. Cohen, 1988), which is notable given the time lag and the possibility of some patients having consulted different physicians during this period (r = .55, p < .001). Additionally, the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was calculated to assess test-retest reliability (Weir, 2005). Unlike Pearson's r, the ICC accounts for both consistency of performances from test to retest (within-subject change), as well as change in average performance of participants as a group over time, i.e., systematic change in the mean (Vaz, Falkmer, Passmore, Parsons, & Andreou, 2013). Using a two-way random effects model (McGraw & Wong, 1996), ICC values showed reliability to be adequate (ICC (A,1) = .54, p < .001 - Equivalent to ICC (2, 1) in Shrout and Fleiss's notation, 1979) (Shrout & Fleiss, 1979).

Floor and ceiling effects. The lowest possible score of 6 was obtained by 1% of the sample and the highest possible score of 42 was obtained by 10.8% of the sample. Thus, based on McHorney and Tarlov's (1995) criteria, no floor or ceiling effects were detected (McHorney & Tarlov, 1995).

English-French equivalency. We further examined differences between the English and French versions of the HCCQ concerning group means, dimensionality, and internal consistency. First, the correlation between the HCCQ score and language was not significant ($r_{pb} = -.03$, p = .67). Second, HCCQ scale means were very similar between the English and French subsamples ($M_{En} = 31.92$, SD = 7.78; *vs.* $M_{Fr} = 31.48$, SD = 7.51) as indicated by a nonsignificant *t*-test (*t*(218) = .43, p = .67). Third, average item means (average across all individual item means) were only .07 apart with each item mean falling into similar ranges for each subgroup ($M_{En} = 5.32$, range: 4.72 - 5.79, SD = 1.42 - 1.75; *vs.* $M_{Fr} = 5.25$, range: 4.76 - 5.59, SD = 1.42 - 1.62). Similarly, interitem correlations for the subgroups showed comparable ranges (English: .53 - .76; vs. French: .54 - .79). Lastly, corrected item-total correlations were high and comparable across the items (English: .67 - .81; vs. French: .69 - .83).

Confirmatory factor analyses were conducted for the English and the French subgroups separately using a maximum likelihood estimation and showed very good model fits (see Hu and Bentler, 1999; Kline, 2013): English: (n = 119): TLI = .96; CFI = .97; RMSEA = .11, 90% CI [.05, .17]; SRMR = .03; χ^2 (9, N = 119) = 22.12, p < .01; vs. French: (n = 115): TLI = .99; CFI = .996; RMSEA = .04, CI [.00, .12]; SRMR = .02; χ^2 (8, N = 115) = 9.62, p = .29. Data from the French subgroup indicated slightly better model fit than for the English subgroup. The factor loadings in the English subsample ranged from .69 to .87, and in the French subsample ranged from .75 to .92. Finally, observed Cronbach's alphas for the two subscales were excellent (English: $\alpha = .91$; vs. French: $\alpha = .90$) and remained in similar ranges when an item was deleted (English: $.89 \le \alpha \le .91$; vs. French: $.87 \le \alpha \le .90$). Overall, it can be concluded that the scale performed equally well in English and French, and thus can be considered valid for use in these two languages.

Discussion and Conclusion

Discussion. The Health Care Climate Questionnaire was first introduced over 20 years ago (Williams et al., 1996) and has been used in numerous studies (Fortier et al., 2007; Kasser & Ryan, 1999; Williams et al., 1999; Williams, Deci, et al., 1998; Williams, Freedman, et al., 1998; Williams et al., 2002; Williams et al., 1996; Williams et al., 2006). Despite its popularity, however, the measure has not been formally empirically examined as to its reliability and validity. First, there is little by way of detailed psychometric information on the 6-item version of the HCCQ, and only limited data on other short versions with four (Williams et al., 1999) (Williams et al., 1998c, 1999), five (Williams et al., 1996, 1998b, 2002), and seven items (Kasser & Ryan, 1999). Accordingly, the present validation analyses of the 6-item official (Self-Determination Theory web page: Health Care Climate Questionnaire) brief HCCQ were conducted to address this research gap.

Second, whereas the scale has been used in French, there is presently no published information as to its psychometric properties. Thus, not only is a valid French version necessary for conducting research using the HCCQ with Francophone participants, one must evaluate the correspondence between the English and French versions to be able to directly compare data from French and English studies using this measure. Consequently, we translated the HCCQ and evaluated the reliability and validity of the scale in both languages in samples of English- and French-speaking melanoma patients.

Overall, the 6-item HCCQ demonstrated excellent validity and reliability with respect to internal consistency, structural validity, and construct validity. Additionally, acceptable three-month test-retest reliability was observed and floor or ceiling effects were not detected. Further, the comparison of French and English versions in terms of scale means, structural validity, and internal consistency did not reveal significant differences between the two subsamples indicating equivalence of performance in these two languages.

Nevertheless, specific limitations warrant discussion. First, the data in the present analyses are based on a sample of modest size, that although is adequate (minimum10 participants per item, minimum 100 data points over all for the CFAs; Terwee et al., 2007), did not significantly exceed standard benchmarks (115 in the French subsample, 119 in the English subsample). Second, in our examination of construct validity it was not possible to compare the HCCQ to another gold standard measure of the "health care climate" or "health care provider support of patient autonomy" as no such measures exist. Thus, the measures used to establish construct validity were not redundant but instead represented close approximations to the construct proposed to be captured by the HCCQ.

Third, whereas it is recommended that reliability testing of health status questionnaires be conducted one or two weeks apart – long enough for the participants to forget scale items but short enough for no significant change to occur (Terwee et al., 2007) – the present lag was three months with some patients likely having consulted different physicians between Time 2 and Time 3. Given the substantial time lag, we consider the strong correlation and the adequate ICC as indicative of robust test-retest reliability. Given these limitations, future research to validate the HCCQ in different populations with larger samples and shorter retest lags are encouraged. Finally, as the

analyses were conducted for patients specifically diagnosed with melanoma skin cancer, the utility of the HCCQ in other populations warrants investigation.

Conclusion. The brief, 6-item version of the Health Care Climate Questionnaire is a reliable and valid measure of perceived physician support of autonomy among patients diagnosed with melanoma, as administered in both English and French languages.

Practice implications. To our knowledge, the use of HCCQ in clinical practice has not been reported in the existing literature and we hope that validating the measure will open doors to its potential use outside of research. The HCCQ-6 is recommended as a reliable and valid measure for use in future research and clinical practice to assess patients' perceived autonomy in both Anglophone and Francophone populations.

Table 1. Items of the HCCQ in English and French (6-item version items are italicized).

1.	I feel that my doctor has provided me choices and options. Je sens que mon médecin m'a informé de mes choix et de mes options.
2.	I feel understood by my doctor. Je me sens compris par mon médecin.
3.	I am able to be open with my doctor at our meetings. Lors de nos entretiens, je suis en mesure de parler ouvertement avec mon médecin.
4.	My doctor conveys confidence in my ability to make changes. Mon médecin a confiance en mon habileté à apporter des changements.
5.	I feel that my doctor accepts me. Je sens que mon médecin m'accepte.
6.	My doctor really understands about my condition and what I need to do. Mon médecin s'est assuré que j'ai pleinement compris mon état et ce que je dois faire.
7.	My doctor encourages me to ask questions. Mon médecin m'encourage à poser des questions.
8.	I feel a lot of trust in my doctor. J'ai très confiance en mon médecin.
9.	My doctor answers my questions fully and carefully. Mon médecin répond complètement et soigneusement à mes questions.
10.	My doctor listens to how I would like to do things. Mon médecin prend en compte comment je désire faire les choses.
11.	My doctor handles people's emotions very well. Mon médecin gère très bien les émotions des autres.
12.	I feel that my doctor cares about me as a person. Je sens que mon médecin s'intéresse à moi en tant que personne.
13.	I don't feel very good about the way my doctor talks to me. Je ne me sens pas très à l'aise à propos de la façon dont mon médecin me parle.
14.	My doctor tries to understand how I see things before suggesting a new way to do things. Mon médecin tente de comprendre mon point de vue avant de suggérer une nouvelle façon de faire les choses.
15.	I feel able to share my feelings with my doctor. Je me sens à l'aise de partager mes sentiments avec mon médecin.

HCCQ at T1	Item 1	Item 2	Item 3	Item 4 It	em 5 Item 6	Total
Mean	5.52	5.64	5.18	5.38 5.27	4.74	31.73
Standard Deviation	1.55	1.44	1.46	1.68 1.56	1.51	7.63
Cronbach α if item	.89	.89	.90	.89 .88	.90	-
deleted						
Scale <i>M</i> if item deleted	26.21	26.09	26.55	26.3 26.4	6 26.98	-
				5		
Corrected ITC ^a	.74	.78	.72	.74 .82	.68	-
Factor loadings	.77	.81	.79	.80 .90	.74	-

Table 2. Health Care Climate Questionnaire - Item analyses based on the total sample (N = 222)

a. ITC – Item Total Correlation

Correlation	Measure	Pearson's <i>r</i> /	Mean (SD)	α^{b}	Possible	Actual	Hypothesis
hypotheses		Point			range of	range of	confirmed?
		biserial			scores	scores	
		correlation ^a					
Moderate to	large correlation ^d						
	Physician Support of SSE	.46*** ^c	9.51 (6.77)	.94	0-18	0-18	Yes
	Self-efficacy	.31*** ^c	7.41 (2.93)	.74	0-15	0-15	Yes
Small to mo	derate correlation ^d						
	Service need: "Do you need more	24*** ^c	.31 (.47)	n/a	0-1	0-1	Yes
	time with the physician involved						
	with your melanoma care?"						
	SCI: Emotional Subscale	06 ^{ns}	19.98 (7.93)	.90	7-35	7-35	No
	PHQ-4: Distress	23*** ^c	2.69 (3.12)	.85	0-12	0-12	Yes
	Skin Self-Examination	.06 ^{ns}	14.03 (5.64)	.89	0-25	0-25	No
No correlation	on ^d						
	SCI: Appearance Subscale	.06 ^{ns}	12.15 (3.56)	.92	3-15	3-15	Yes
	SCI: Social Subscale	02 ^{ns}	21.27 (3.77)	.77	5-25	6-25	Yes
	Language: English / French ^a	03 ^{ns}	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	Yes
	Gender ^a	.01 ^{ns}	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	Yes
	Age	.09 ^{ns}	59.48	n/a	n/a	26-92	Yes
			(13.84)				
	Education (in years)	04 ^{ns}	14.78 (3.5)	n/a	n/a	5-26	Yes
	Time since diagnosis (in	.05 ^{ns}	27.88	n/a	n/a	.23-326.23	Yes
	months)		(50.61)				
	Stage of cancer	.06 ^{ns}	n/a	n/a	0-4	0-4	Yes

Table 3. Correlations between HCCQ-6 and other variables

*** $p \leq .001$; *ns* – not significant; n/a – not applicable

a. Point biserial correlation was performed for the dichotomous variables.

b. Cronbach's alpha (α)

c. Significant after applying Bonferroni adjustment for multiple comparisons requiring p < .004

d. Magnitude of a correlation is based on Cohen's (1988) criteria.

Linking chapter 2 and chapter 3

Chapter two reports on the validation of the Health Care Climate Questionnaire (Williams, Freedman, et al., 1998; Williams et al., 1996) in a Canadian sample of individuals diagnosed with melanoma. It is a measure of patients' perceptions concerning the autonomy-supportive nature of the health care climate. More specifically, the perceived support by the treating physician is assessed by asking patients about, e.g., feeling understood, accepted, being encouraged to take active role in managing one's health, trusting the doctor, etc. Despite the measure's wide use for over twenty years no explicit validation study had been published. Several brief versions have been utilized. One of them, the 6-item version of the HCCQ, has been endorsed by the original authors of the scale. However, no psychometric validation of this HCCQ version were available prior to the here presented work. In our analyses, the 6-item version of the HCCQ showed excellent internal consistency, structural and construct validity as well as an acceptable 3-month test-retest reliability. Moreover, the whole questionnaire (15 items) was translated into French. The French 6-item HCCQ showed psychometric properties equivalent to those of its English counterpart. Thus, given their psychometric characteristics both abbreviated versions can be recommended to be used in melanoma survivors and similar populations.

Despite its psychometric quality, the HCCQ did not prove to be useful for the purposes of predicting our main variable of interest: skin self-examination (SSE). The current data do not allow to determine whether general support by one's physician is unrelated to self-exam behaviours or if the non-relationship is due to the way physician support is defined and assessed with the 6-item HCCQ. However, given that HCCQ and SSE behaviour did not correlate significantly, this measure of general physician support was excluded from the subsequent analysis. The second measure of physician support, which assesses support specific to skin self-exam behaviours was

used for the subsequent studies included in this dissertation. The Physician Support of SSE Scale (Coroiu et al., 2017) assesses the patient's perspective of the physician's support specific to SSE by asking, for example, whether the doctor recommended SSE, showed how to do it, inquired about the patient's SSE practice or pointed out certain skin spots to pay particular attention to during skin self-exams.

In the following chapter, the Physician Support of SSE scale is used to predict the level of SSE-specific self-efficacy. Previous research has shown that self-efficacy is a predictor of SSE, therefore it is important to understand its potential change over time and what fosters SSE self-efficacy (Auster et al., 2013; Kasparian et al., 2010; McLoone et al., 2013; Mujumdar et al., 2009). Chapter 3 reports on SSE self-efficacy up to one year after receiving an educational intervention on early signs of melanoma and SSE, which was designed to model best-practice care according to guidelines for melanoma follow-up care (National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018).
Chapter 3

The role of patient education and physician support in self-efficacy for skin self-

examination among patients with melanoma

Zofia Czajkowska, Nathan Hall, Maida Sewitch, Beatrice Wang and Annett Körner

Author Note

Zofia Czajkowska, Nathan Hall, and Annett Körner - Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology, McGill University; Maida Sewitch – Department of Epidemiology, McGill University Health Centre, Beatrice Wang – Melanoma Clinic at McGill University Health Centre

The following chapter has been published in Patient Education and Counselling and should be

cited as:

Czajkowska, Z., Hall, N. C., Sewitch, M., Wang, B., & Körner, A. (2017). The role of patient education and physician support in self-efficacy for skin self-examination among patients with melanoma. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *100*(8), 1505-1510. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2017.02.020

This research was supported by a grant from Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec.

The authors would like to thank all current and past members of the Health Psychology Research Group at McGill University, who generously contributed their time and skills to ensure the success of this project. We would also like to thank the clinical care teams who made this research possible. Finally, and most importantly, we would like to thank the patients and partners who chose to participate in this study. This study would not have been possible without you.

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Zofia Czajkowska, Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology, Montreal, QC, H3A 1Y2. E-mail: <u>zofia.czajkowska@mail.mcgill.ca</u>

Abstract

Objective: This project aims to elucidate the relationships between skin self-examination (SSE), perceived physician support of SSE, and self-efficacy for SSE among melanoma patients.

Methods: A longitudinal study of patients diagnosed with melanoma was conducted over the span of 18 months. Participants filled out questionnaires at four assessment points and participated in an SSE education about the early signs of melanoma.

Results: Among the 242 patients enrolled, the level of self-efficacy for SSE was 23% higher immediately after the educational intervention (p < .001) and the increase was retained three months (p < .001) and twelve months later (p < .001). Additionally, a one-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed that the perceived physician support of SSE positively corresponded to the level of patient self-efficacy with higher patient-reported physician support being related to higher self-efficacy (p = .001).

Conclusion: Patient education and perceived physician support of SSE are positively associated with patients' level of self-efficacy.

Practice implications: Physicians caring for melanoma survivors should be aware that, both SSE education and patients' perception of high physician support of SSE may be associated with higher self-efficacy for checking one's own skin for signs of cancer recurrence.

Keywords: patient education; self-efficacy; physician support; melanoma; skin self-examination (SSE); skin cancer

Introduction

The role of self-efficacy in health behaviours

Self-efficacy has been defined as "people's judgments of their capabilities to organize and execute courses of action required to attain designated types of performances" (p. 391) (Bandura, 1986) and it has been consistently linked with desired behaviours (Bandura, 1997). Although the construct is primarily cognitive in nature by being "concerned not with the skills one has but with judgments of what one can do with whatever skills" (p. 391) (Bandura, 1986) a plethora of research confirms the potential of self-efficacy to predict positive health behaviours ranging from dieting and smoking cessation to cancer prevention (Bandura, 1997; Graves, 2003; Holden, 1992). It can predict both the uptake and the maintenance of health behaviours (Ashford, Edmunds, & French, 2010; Coups et al., 2016), which could be crucial for patients' health and longevity, as in the case of cancer prevention and detection behaviours. For instance, self-efficacy positively predicts intention for sun protection as well as sun-protective behaviours above and beyond habit (Jackson & Aiken, 2000; Mahler, Kulik, Gibbons, Gerrard, & Harrell, 2003). Further, skin self-examination (SSE) practice is much higher among the survivors of melanoma whose self-efficacy for this behaviour is high (OR 14.4) (Mujumdar et al., 2009). Similarly, self-efficacy for breast selfexamination predicts both the intention to engage in and the practice of self-exams (Luszczynska & Schwarzer, 2003; S. M. Miller, Shoda, & Hurley, 1996). Lower self-efficacy for managing pain and cancer symptoms predicts greater pain and fatigue, more difficulty in adjusting to cancer, symptoms of depression, anxiety, and lower quality of life in addition to worse physical functioning among patients with lung cancer (Porter, Keefe, Garst, McBride, & Baucom, 2008). Not surprisingly then, interventions that aim to increase self-efficacy also typically result in a better

adjustment to cancer including an improved mood and higher quality of life (Cunningham, Lockwood, & Cunningham, 1991; Lev, 1997).

Why does self-efficacy matter for patients with melanoma?

Melanoma represents a prototypical malignancy, in which continuous engagement in tumour-detecting behaviours can lead to an earlier diagnosis and treatment (Manganoni et al., 2007; Talaganis et al., 2014). Melanoma survivors are at an increased lifelong risk for developing new primary tumours and recurrences, with subsequent melanomas affecting up to 11% of patients (Doubrovsky & Menzies, 2003; Ferrone, Ben Porat, Panageas, Berwick, Halpern, Patel, & al., 2005; Kang et al., 1992; Manganoni et al., 2007). Thus, secondary prevention through early detection is particularly important for these individuals (Doubrovsky & Menzies, 2003; Jones et al., 2013). Among skin cancer survivors, medical checkups and regular SSE are recommended by clinical guidelines as a part of melanoma follow-up care (Coit et al., 2009). Clinical skin exams for patients with suspicious skin lesions are crucial as the physicians may be able to detect melanomas at earlier stages than patients would, when the tumours are more amenable to treatment (Carli et al., 2003; Epstein et al., 1999; Schwartz et al., 2002). However, clinical exams are increasingly less likely to include an examination of the entire body of the patient and thus miss up to 1 in 3 melanomas (Aldridge et al., 2013). In contrast, checking one's own skin for changes can increase the likelihood that an individual will consult a physician before the tumour has developed into an advanced stage (Carli et al., 2003; Titus, 2013). Thus, the practice of skin self-examination (SSE) represents an important step toward earlier diagnosis and treatment, and could contribute to a reduction in mortality among melanoma survivors (Berwick et al., 1996; Geller et al., 2006; Titus, 2013). Like many health behaviours, SSE practice following the clinical recommendations may be more likely if patients feel confident

about the capacity to conduct a skin self-exam (Auster et al., 2013; Hay et al., 2006; Kasparian et al., 2010; Mujumdar et al., 2009). Fortunately, self-efficacy specific to SSE can be improved through patient education (Hay et al., 2006; McLoone et al., 2013; Oliveria et al., 2004; Robinson, Turrisi, Mallett, Stapleton, & Pion, 2010; Robinson et al., 2007a).

The importance of medical support

Learning to conduct a skin self-exam is not easy. In order to maximize the likelihood of detecting a potential melanoma, one must check the skin of the entire body including places that are difficult to see such as the upper back, top of the head and soles of the feet; which requires some physical agility and the use of a mirror or help from a partner (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018b). Furthermore, to recognize a mole as a potential melanoma, as opposed to a regular nevus, one must know the signs and carefully examine the nevi for asymmetry, border, colour, diameter as well as evolution (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018e). Physicians or nurses, who are knowledgeable about the risk for developing subsequent melanomas and the importance of SSE for early prevention, are in a critical position to impart that knowledge to their patients (Oliveria et al., 2004). Dermatology experts also have the authority and the trust of the patients: what they say, matters. For example, in a study of 483 melanoma patients, it was reported both immediately after the diagnosis and at a 10-year follow-up, that the two most frequently endorsed ways of coping were "trusting my doctors" and "following the medical advice exactly" (Zschocke et al., 1996). Teaching SSE to patients has an impact on their SSE performance (Hay et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2008; Oliveria et al., 2004; Phelan et al., 2003; Robinson et al., 2014; Turrisi, Hultgren, Mallett, Martini, & Robinson, 2015; Weinstock et al., 2007). However, the reality of many healthcare systems around the world is that the physicians have little time to teach prevention skills to every patient (Østbye et al., 2005; Yarnall, Pollak,

Østbye, Krause, & Michener, 2003). Fortunately, doctors do not necessarily need to teach SSE in detail as interventions carried out by nurses or trained ancillary staff are typically very effective (Geller et al., 2004; Hay et al., 2006; Oliveria et al., 1999; Phelan et al., 2003). Moreover, physicians who verbally recommend SSE to patients (even without illustrating how to perform a skin exam) or who simply mention SSE as an option, have the potential to increase the practice of SSE among patients, although to a lesser degree than a full SSE education (Aitken et al., 2004; Manne et al., 2004; Manne & Lessin, 2006; Robinson et al., 1998; Weinstock et al., 1999). Consequently, the role of physicians may be to simply encourage and support self-examination, with nurses or trained ancillary staff providing more detailed instructions.

Given how little is known about physician support of SSE and patient self-efficacy for this potentially life-saving practice, the current project will focus on exploring the link between the two. The first study objective is therefore to prospectively assess self-efficacy for SSE among patients diagnosed with melanoma. The second objective is to compare the trajectory of selfefficacy of patients as a function of perceived physician support of SSE practice. Finally, the third objective is to evaluate whether medical support of SSE, conceptualized as physicians' encouragement of the SSE practice as reported by the patients ("physician support of SSE") and the education provided to the patients by trained ancillary staff, relates to patients' self-efficacy levels over time.

It is hypothesized that:

- Self-efficacy for SSE will be higher immediately after the SSE-intervention than before the intervention.
- Self-efficacy for SSE will remain higher at three- and twelve-month post-intervention follow-ups as compared to the pre-education level.

3) The level of perceived physician support of SSE at baseline will be associated with the level of patient self-efficacy for SSE over the following 1.5 years.

Methods

Participants

Individuals diagnosed with melanoma recruited from two major teaching hospitals in Montreal, Canada, participated in the current project after obtaining an approval from the hospitals' research ethics boards. The eligibility criteria included the ability to speak and read English or French, being at least 18 years of age, and having a medically confirmed diagnosis of melanoma.

Procedure

Design. The present study employed a repeated-measures, longitudinal design with four assessment points (baseline, Time 2, 3 and 4) over the span of 18 months. In order to reduce potential socially desirable responding likely to emerge in longitudinal research, the study was designed in such a way that the patients would interact with different research staff throughout the study. They were also repeatedly reassured that their answers will remain confidential. The initial recruitment was conducted by research assistants (RAs), who obtained informed consent and administered baseline questionnaires in person. A different RA, who was not involved in recruitment or data collection delivered the dermatological intervention on how to perform SSE at Time 2. Questionnaires used for Time 3 and Time 4 assessments were sent by mail. All participants received questionnaires to fill out and were offered a participation in an education session on melanoma and SSE as part of the study. The physicians' behaviour was not manipulated in any way.

Recruitment. Patients were notified by the clinic coordinator about the possibility of taking part in this study. Recruitment fliers were posted in the waiting areas of the two melanoma clinics and clinic coordinators advertised the study to all patients. Patients had the possibility of signing up on the premises or they could take home the study materials (consent forms and baseline questionnaires) and later contact the study coordinator via phone to express interest in participating. The research assistants present in the clinic were also able to approach the patients in the waiting room inviting them to participate. Written informed consent to participate was collected from individuals, who expressed interest in participation in the study. The participants received a questionnaire package to be completed after their clinical appointment or to be returned in a pre-addressed pre-stamped envelope.

Assessment time points. Participants were encouraged to schedule their educational intervention three months after study enrolment, but were allowed to schedule the intervention concurrently with their next clinical appointment. They completed the second battery of questionnaires in conjunction with the education session at Time 2 (which included a pre-intervention and post-intervention assessment of self-efficacy). Follow-up assessments took place at 3 months (Time 3) and 12 months (Time 4) post the education session. Participants received \$30 as compensation for filling in questionnaires at each time point.

Intervention. In conjunction with Time 2 assessments, participants met with a trained RA who provided a standardized 20-minute individual educational session on the early signs of melanoma and a whole-body skin self-examination derived from empirical evidence and best practice guidelines (Körner et al., 2013). During the session participants received printed visual aids for detecting melanomas, an SSE brochure developed by the Canadian Cancer Foundation, as

well as a body map diary to record their SSE practice at home (Körner, Czajkowska, Moumne, & Wang, 2010; Körner et al., 2013).

Measures

Sociodemographic and illness-related information was collected at baseline using a selfreport questionnaire. Medical information including the stage of melanoma and the time since diagnosis were retrieved from patients' medical charts and double checked against the hospitals' tumour registries. Physician Support of SSE (as reported by the patients) was assessed using the 6-item Likert-type Physician Support of SSE Scale concerning a physician advice and ecouragement of SSE (Coroiu, Garland, Donovan, Czajkowska, & Körner, 2016). Sample items include "My physician has recommended that I do skin self-exams" and "My physician has asked me if I have questions or concerns about examining my skin." The internal consistency of the scale at baseline was excellent ($\alpha = .94$) and there was no significant difference in mean scores between the English- and French-speaking subsamples (t(226)=1.42, p=.16). SSE-related self-efficacy was assessed using a 5-item Likert-type Self-efficacy for Skin Self-Examination Scale measuring participants' self-confidence in conducting a thorough SSE and recognizing a potentially cancerous lesion (Karapetian, Czajkowska, Coroiu, DiMillo, & Körner, 2016). Sample items are "I am confident that I can do one skin self-exam every month and "I can recognize suspicious changes on my skin." The internal consistency of the scale at Time 1 was acceptable ($\alpha = .74$). There was no significant difference in mean scores between the English- and French-speaking subsamples across all time points.

Results

The sample consisted of 242 patients diagnosed with melanoma. Three hundred and ninety-seven individuals were initially approached by a research assistant or approached the RA

themselves for study participation. Thus, the resulting response rate of 61%. Whereas 116 refused to participate, 24 were not eligible and 15 were unavailable due to other reasons (e.g., they went into surgery after speaking to the clinic coordinator but before the research assistant had a chance to recruit them). The average age was 59.48 years (SD = 13.84) ranging from 26 to 92 years of age. Gender was nearly equally distributed with 50.4 % males, 49.2% females and one person, who did not disclose their gender. Fifteen percent were diagnosed with melanoma in situ (stage 0), 48.7% with stage I, 18.7% with stage II, 6.2% with stage III and 3.6% with stage IV. Eighty-seven percent of participants returned for the intervention within 6 months.

To address the first objective of prospectively assessing self-efficacy for SSE, descriptive indices such as means, medians, standard deviations as well as minimum and maximum values were computed for the entire sample (see Table 1). Overall, mean and median self-efficacy increased significantly after the education for the entire sample. Immediately after the intervention not a single participant scored 0 on the measure of self-efficacy, which was the only assessment when this was the case.

To assess the immediate effects of the intervention and test Hypothesis 1, a manipulation check (a paired-samples t-test) was performed comparing scores on Self-efficacy for Skin Self-Examination Scale immediately before and after the educational intervention at Time 2. There was a significant difference in self-efficacy from before (M = 6.47, SD = 2.08) to after (M = 9.93, SD = 2.25) the intervention, (t(148) = -19.39, p < .001) representing a 23% increase in SSE self-efficacy. Furthermore, the increase in SSE self-efficacy remained significant at 3 months (M = 10.05, SD = 2.44; t(160) = -18.08, p < .001) and at 12 months post-intervention (M = 9.43, SD = 2.70; t(140) = -14.49, p < .001) thus supporting Hypothesis 2.

In order to test Hypothesis 3, Time 1 data for the perceived physician support of SSE (M = 9.51, SD = 6.77) were used to form two patient groups, classifying participants in the bottom third of the distribution as "low" (M = 6.62, SD = 2.74) and the top third as "high" in perceived physician support of SSE (M = 9.00, SD = 2.32). The levels of self-efficacy for SSE reported for each group over time are shown in Table 2 and Figure 1. A one-way repeated-measures ANOVA compared the effect of the perceived physician support of SSE on self-efficacy at baseline, immediately before the education as well as three and twelve months after the education. Age, gender, education, cancer stage and time since diagnosis were entered into the model as covariates but none was significant.

Results showed significant between-subjects effects of time and perceived physician support of SSE on self-efficacy (F(3, 62) = 3.06, p = .03, $\eta_p^2 = .13$ and F(3, 62) = 4.64, p = .005, $\eta_p^2 = .18$ respectively) indicating a significant difference between groups. Mauchly's test of sphericity was not significant, indicating that sphericity could be assumed when interpreting within-subject effects ($\chi^2(5) = 2.76$, p = .74). Within-subject tests revealed significant main effects of time (F(3, 192) = 3.51, p = .02, $\eta_p^2 = .05$) as well as an interaction between time and perceived physician support of SSE (F(3, 192) = 5.16, p = .002, $\eta_p^2 = .08$). The within-subject trend analyses showed a significant linear effect of time (F(1, 64) = 8.00, p = .006, $\eta_p^2 = .11$) as well as age (F(1, 64) = 6.65, p = .01, $\eta_p^2 = .09$). Similarly, patient-reported physician SSE support showed a significant linear (F(1, 64) = 5.78, p = .02, $\eta_p^2 = .08$) as well as quadratic trend (F(1, 64) = 9.47, p = .003, $\eta_p^2 = .13$). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons conducted using Bonferroni adjustments showed the perceived low vs. high perceived support of SSE groups to differ significantly in their self-efficacy levels ($M_{LowSupport} = 7.79$ vs. $M_{HighSupport} = 9.71$, p = .001) thus supporting Hypothesis 3. Follow-up *t*-tests showed that the high perceived physician support of SSE group reported higher self-efficacy for SSE at baseline (t(157) = -5.92, p < .001), immediately before the intervention (t(112.93) = -2.42, p < .02), and 12 months after the intervention (t(102) = -2.43, p < .02). The low/high groups did not differ significantly at the three month follow-up, (t(114) = -1.86, p = .07; for changes in self-efficacy over time, see Figure 1).

Discussion and Conclusion

Discussion

The present study represents a prospective examination of self-efficacy specific to SSE among individuals diagnosed with melanoma. An educational intervention teaching participants to examine their own skin for cancerous changes was followed by an immediate increase in patients' self-efficacy for SSE, which was maintained three and twelve months after the education. The levels of self-efficacy measured after the intervention were significantly higher compared to levels obtained prior to the intervention, lending support to our second hypothesis. Furthermore, physician support of SSE, as reported by the patients, was associated with higher self-efficacy after controlling for age, gender, tumour stage and, time since diagnosis. This association between perceived physician SSE support at the onset of the study and self-efficacy remained significant throughout the duration of the follow-up suggesting a durable relationship between the two, thus confirming our last hypothesis.

In line with previous research, our results suggest that specialized training on SSE and early signs of melanoma as well as physician SSE-specific support is associated with patients' higher self-efficacy for this health behaviour (Auster et al., 2013; Hay et al., 2006; Kasparian et al., 2010; McLoone et al., 2013; Mujumdar et al., 2009). Participants reporting low as opposed to high physician support for SSE differed significantly in their level of SSE-specific self-efficacy at

baseline, before the intervention, and at the twelve-month follow-up, but not at the three-month follow-up. These findings suggest that the educational intervention has the potential to boost patients' self-efficacy to a sufficiently high level that no differences between groups remain, however, this boost may be only temporary if not strengthened by physician support. In other words, both education and physician support may contribute to SSE-specific self-efficacy, with education alone not being sufficient to sustain the high level of self-efficacy likely needed for long-term secondary prevention of melanoma through SSE.

Nevertheless, future research on how other forms of social support may moderate the relationship between education and self-efficacy specific to SSE is needed. For instance, in a recent randomized controlled trial of couples learning SSE together, those reporting fewer "activities with a partner" and lower "happiness" within a couple showed greater benefits in terms of self-efficacy level of the patients after participating in an SSE education (Hultgren, Turrisi, Mallett, Ackerman, & Robinson, 2016; Robinson et al., 2014; Turrisi et al., 2015). In our own sample data analyses of participants, who were in a romantic couple during the study (n=137) revealed that a perception of SSE support from the romantic partner and the participants' comfort with being assisted with SSE by their partner independently predicted patients' SSE self-efficacy, underscoring the importance of social support from a romantic partner [58]. Further examination of other types of support in addition to physician and partner support of SSE is needed to better understand the effects of social support on individual's self-efficacy for critical health behaviours, such as SSE.

To our knowledge, this study is the first to report on skin examination self-efficacy over a long duration (up to 18 months, including 4 time points and 5 assessments) and to compare participants based on a level of perceived physician support specific to SSE. The support of skin self-examination was not manualized in the current study, allowing for an examination of the

support the patients usually receive in clinics. It is therefore important to remember when interpreting the results that the physician SSE support measure assesses the participants' perception and may not reflect the amount of support the patients are actually offered by their physicians. Although such personal perceptions represent the fundamental blocks of individuals' self-views (e.g., as is the case of self-efficacy) (Swann Jr, Chang-Schneider, & Larsen McClarty, 2007), future research may benefit from contrasting patients' perceptions of physician support of SSE with the physicians' self-reports or third-party observer ratings. Similarly, future research would also benefit from examining the impact of physician support of SSE practice apart from the effects of an educational program. Additionally, it may be of interest to examine whether sociodemographic characteristics of the physicians would influence the patients' perception of their supportiveness. Furthermore, future research may benefit from assuring equal number of participants at each cancer stage in order to analyse the potential relationship between the stage and SSE self-efficacy. Additionally, relating the patients' level of self-efficacy to cancer stage as they progress from less to more advanced may also provide valuable information. For instance, patients with a more advanced disease may be less convinced that SSE has the potential to save their lives and therefore they may not even be interested in learning about this practice, which would likely impact their self-efficacy.

Conclusion

Based on the results presented, it may be concluded that educating patients on early signs of melanoma and instructing them on how to perform a self-exam can increase their self-efficacy for this health behaviour over the course of a year. Additionally, perceived physician support of skin self-examination was found to be associated with patients' level of self-efficacy during melanoma follow-up care, underscoring the importance of physician-patient relationship in achieving sustained high levels of self-efficacy. Future longitudinal research focusing on objective (as opposed to patient-perceived) levels of SSE support by the physicians would be a commendable next step necessary to conclude that physician support can indeed increase patients' self-efficacy for SSE as well as to optimize the SSE practice.

Practice Implications

Individuals diagnosed with melanoma may experience a long-term boost in self-efficacy for skin self-examination if they are provided with appropriate education and physician support. Although further research is necessary to demonstrate a causal link between the two, the present findings suggest an association between physicians' encouragement, guidance, and support regarding SSE and patients' confidence to conduct effective, regular, whole-body skin self-exams, and in turn effective actual self-examination behaviour (Mujumdar et al., 2009).

Physicians caring for melanoma survivors should be aware of this opportunity to facilitate the secondary prevention of melanoma. Adding training on effective strategies to medical schools' curricula may be one way to improve future physicians' ability to convey the importance of SSE for this population and boost patients' confidence in their ability to detect melanoma. Similarly, educating physicians already in practice may bring more immediate effects in terms of doctors' ability to increase patients' self-efficacy for SSE. Efforts should be made to include education for the physicians, for example through workshops offered at scientific conferences for practitioners or as an adjunct to national educational campaigns, such as Melanoma Monday - an annual event taking place every first Monday of May filled with activities to raise awareness about the seriousness of melanoma, inform the public about the dangers of skin cancer, effective prevention and self-detection (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018a; Canadian Dermatology Association, 2014).

	Time 1	Time 2	Time 2	Time 3	Time 4
	Baseline	Pre-education	Post-education		
N	232	177	158	169	158
Mean	7.41	6.51	9.92	10.08	9.49
Median	8.00	6.00	10.00	10.00	10.00
SD	2.93	2.02	2.25	2.43	2.70
Minimum	.00	.00	4.00	1.00	.00
Maximum	15.00	12.00	15.00	15.00	15.00

Table 1: Self-efficacy for Skin Self-Examination over time (entire sample)

Table 2: Self-efficacy for Skin Self-Examination among the subsamples reporting "low" vs."high" physician support of Skin Self-Examination at baseline.

	Time 1		Time 2		Time 2		Time 3		Time 4	
			Pre-education		Post-education					
Support	Low	High	Low	High	Low	High	Low	High	Low	High
level										
N	79	80	64	54	59	45	61	55	53	51
Mean	6.62	9.00	6.40	7.30	10.02	10.38	9.75	10.62	9.15	10.45
Median	7.00	9.00	6.00	7.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	11.00	9.00	10.00
SD	2.74	2.32	2.33	1.66	2.65	1.87	2.85	2.05	3.39	1.80
Minimum	.00	3.00	1.00	4.00	5.00	6.00	1.00	5.00	.00	7.00
Maximum	14.00	15.00	12.00	12.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00



Figure 1: Self-efficacy over time for the groups with "low" vs. "high" physician support of SSE

Note. The self-efficacy scores of groups with low vs. high physician support of SSE differed significantly at a p = .001 level.

Linking chapter 3 and chapter 4

Chapter 3 reported on SSE-specific self-efficacy in patients with melanoma who received an educational intervention modeling best-practice care. All participants were educated on the early signs of melanoma and how to detect them through skin self-examination (SSE). The results demonstrated that following the educational session patients' level of self-efficacy for SSE improved by 23% and this increase was retained 3 and 12 months later. Moreover, the patients' perception of physician support of SSE corresponded to the level of self-efficacy, with higher patient-reported physician support being related to higher SSE self-efficacy. The above-mentioned findings underscore the importance of physician support of SSE for patients' self-efficacy.

The next step in understanding the role of the physician and self-efficacy is to take a closer look at a way in which these two variables may work together to predict SSE. Chapter 4 shows that not only perceived physician support of SSE and self-efficacy are associated with SSE behaviour but also reports on a mediation whereby self-efficacy partially explains the relationship between physician support of SSE and actual SSE practice. The cumulative findings of these two chapters may suggest that the role of the physician could be both direct (by encouraging SSE) and indirect (by increasing patients' confidence in their ability to perform SSE).

Chapter 4

Self-efficacy mediates the relationship between physician support and skin self-

examination in patients with melanoma.

Zofia Czajkowska, Maida Sewitch, Nathan C. Hall, Annett Körner

Author Note

Zofia Czajkowska, Nathan C. Hall, and Annett Körner - Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology, McGill University; Maida Sewitch – Centre for Outcomes Research & Evaluation, Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre

This research was supported by a grant from Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec.

The authors would like to thank all current and past members of the Health Psychology Research Group at McGill University, who generously contributed their time and skills to ensure the success of this project. We would also like to thank the clinical care teams who made this research possible. Finally, and most importantly, we would like to thank the patients and partners who chose to participate in this study. This study would not have been possible without you.

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Zofia Czajkowska, Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology, Montreal, QC, H3A 1Y2. E-mail: <u>zofia.czajkowska@mail.mcgill.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: As melanoma represents the most lethal form of skin cancer and comes with a life-long elevated risk for recurrence and new primary tumours, continued skin self-examination (SSE) is critical to facilitating early detection and treatment. Physician support of patients with melanoma is a scarcely researched topic and yet it may be important for uptake and maintenance of regular SSE. By contrast, self-efficacy specific to SSE is a known predictor of SSE and it may be affected by the physician behaviour. Thus, it is hypothesized that the effects of perceived physician support on this health behaviour should be not only beneficial but also mediated by patients' self-efficacy for skin self-examination.

Methods: Multiple regression models to evaluate potential mediation as per Baron and Kenny (1986) were employed to examine the extent to which the anticipated positive effects of perceived physician support for SSE on SSE behaviour were mediated by patient SSE self-efficacy. Bootstrapping analyses with 5000 iterations were conducted to confirm the significance of the hypothesized indirect effect.

Results: Self-efficacy partially mediated the relationship between perceived physician support of SSE and SSE behaviours ($\beta = .29$, t(145) = 3.19, p < .01 before adding self-efficacy into the model versus $\beta = .18$, t(144) = 2.06, p = .04 after adding the mediator) as supported by a significant Sobel's test of the indirect effect (z = 2.64, p < .01, 95% CI = .05 - .20).

Conclusion: As hypothesized, patient self-efficacy was found to partially explain the beneficial link between the perceived physician support of SSE and the practice of skin self-examination among patients diagnosed with melanoma.

Implications for practice: Physicians are encouraged to consider the potential benefits of their support for increasing the frequency of SSE behaviour by way of fostering patient confidence in their own ability to perform skin self-exams.

Keywords: melanoma, self-efficacy, physician support, skin self-examination

Introduction

Cutaneous melanoma is the fastest growing and most lethal cancer of the skin (Trask et al., 2001). It is diagnosed around the world and its incidence has been increasing for decades (Ferlay et al., 2013; Geller, 2009). In North America, the incidence of melanoma continues to rise annually by 2-3% (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017; Siegel et al., 2016). The current lifetime risk of developing a melanoma is 1 in 42 female and 1 in 27 male fair-skinned Americans whereas in the 1930s it was about 1 in 1 500 fair-skinned Americans (American Cancer Society, 2018a; Rigel, 2010). Although the overall five-year survival rate exceeds 90%, the death toll of melanoma remains significant (Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics, 2017; Howlader et al., 2013; Siegel et al., 2016). Melanoma accounts for 75-90% of all deaths attributed to skin cancer in the United States (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018d; Garbe et al., 2010; Trask et al., 2001). Survival rates depend largely on the tumour stage at diagnosis. More specifically, whereas diagnosis at Stage I is associated with 86 to 95% five-year observed survival rate, at stage II it is 40 to 67%, at stage III it is 24 to 68% and at stage IV it is only 15 to 20% decreasing further to 10-15% for the 10-year observed survival rate (Balch, Gershenwald, Soong, Thompson, Atkins, Byrd, Buzaid, Cochran, Coit, Ding, et al., 2009). As such, tumour detection and treatment at earlier stages represent a critical focus in melanoma research due to clear implications for survival.

Once diagnosed, patients remain at increased risk for subsequent tumours for the rest of their lives (Ferrone, Ben Porat, Panageas, Berwick, Halpern, Patel, & Coit, 2005; Manganoni et al., 2007; Uliasz & Lebwohl, 2007) with up to 13% of patients diagnosed with melanoma experiencing recurrence or developing a second primary tumour (Doubrovsky & Menzies, 2003; Robinson et al., 2016; Uliasz & Lebwohl, 2007). Furthermore, for patients with two primary

melanomas, the 10-year risk of developing a third lesion is estimated at nearly 28% (Doubrovsky & Menzies, 2003). Given this high risk, secondary prevention is of utmost importance for melanoma patients so as to increase awareness of early signs of the disease and promoting behavioural practices favouring early detection such as clinical skin exams by medical professionals or skin self-examination (Markovic et al., 2007).

Whereas clinician-led exams may result in detection of thinner, less advanced tumours, that are more amenable to treatment (Brady et al., 2000; Carli et al., 2003; Epstein et al., 1999; Schwartz et al., 2002), they are unlikely to include an examination of the patient's entire body and can miss 1 in 3 melanomas (Aldridge et al., 2013). Moreover, research has shown that most melanomas are first detected by patients themselves or those in close contact with them in everyday life (Brady et al., 2000; Carli et al., 2003; Dalal et al., 2008; Epstein et al., 1999). Skin self-examination has been linked to an increased likelihood of finding a less advanced tumour and consulting a physician sooner (Carli et al., 2003; Pollitt et al., 2009; Titus, 2013). Given that self-detection better predicts survival than physician-detection (Dalal et al., 2008), the practice of skin self-examination (SSE) represents an important step toward early diagnosis and treatment, as well as increased survival chances for patients with melanoma (Berwick et al., 1996; Berwick et al., 2016; Dalal et al., 2008; Geller et al., 2006; Titus, 2013).

Conducting a skin self-exam involves checking the skin of one's entire body including places that are difficult to see (e.g., upper back, neck, top of head, foot soles); thus requiring some physical agility and the assistance of a mirror or a partner (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018b). In addition to knowing what to do, the individual must know how to recognize melanoma and differentiate it from regular moles based on the (a)symmetry, border,

colour, diameter, and evolution of the nevus over time (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018e). Despite the necessity of continuous skin self-examination for secondary prevention of melanoma, SSE is not easily accomplished and sustained adherence can be a challenge (Bichakjian et al., 2011; Coit et al., 2009) as indicated by statistics showing self-examination to be regularly conducted by only 10-20% of melanoma survivors (Berwick et al., 1996; Coups et al., 2016; Manne & Lessin, 2006; Mujumdar et al., 2009).

Among sociodemographic factors associated with more SSE are younger age, being female, greater income, and a higher level of education (Carli et al., 2003; Coups et al., 2016; Manne & Lessin, 2006; K. A. Miller et al., 2015; Robinson et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1998). One of the most robust predictors of SSE reported in published research to date is self-efficacy, a concept reflecting one's confidence in the ability to perform SSE correctly (Coups et al., 2016; Hay et al., 2006; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2010). Findings further show SSE selfefficacy to mediate the relationship between education (about melanoma and SSE skill acquisition) and SSE practice. For instance, recent research shows higher self-efficacy for recognizing an abnormal skin nevus to mediate the relationship between training to recognize suspicious-looking nevi and the correct identification of a common vs. atypical mole (John, Jensen, King, Ratcliff, & Grossman, 2017). Similarly, Hay and colleagues found self-efficacy to mediate the relationship between an intervention that consisted of providing a photobook with each participant's pictures of their whole body and their subsequent SSE practice at the 4-month follow-up (Hay et al., 2006).

In addition to existing research on the positive effects of melanoma patient education programs on SSE practice (Henrikson et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2016), limited research has further explored the role of a patient's physician in promoting acquisition and maintenance of SSE practice among individuals diagnosed with melanoma. For instance, physician recommendation of SSE has been associated with the practice of self-exams (Manne & Lessin, 2006), e.g., even only briefly mentioning self-examination to their patients corresponded to more SSE practice (Aitken et al., 2004). With respect to potential explanations for why these physician behaviours affect patient SSE, possible suggested mediators include perceived trust, in their doctors and intentions to adhere to physician instructions (Zschocke et al., 1996). However, given demonstrated empirical links between patient self-efficacy and SEE behaviors (Czajkowska, Hall, Sewitch, Wang, & Körner, 2017) it is also possible that such physician support promotes this health behaviour by empowering patients with information and either explicitly or implicitly encouraging them to feel more confident and to assume greater responsibility for their health (Arora, Weaver, Clayman, Oakley-Girvan, & Potosky, 2009). To examine this hypothesized mediational process, the present study examined the extent to which the proposed beneficial effects of physician support on SSE practice in a hospital-based sample of patients with melanoma were mediated by their SSE self-efficacy.

Methods

Participants

Three hundred and ninety-seven individuals were approached by research assistants for study participation in two major teaching hospitals in Montreal, Canada. Due to 116 refusals, 24 not being eligible, and 15 being unavailable for other reasons (e.g., going into surgery before the research assistant had a chance to fully explain the study), the final study sample consisted of 242 individuals. The eligibility criteria included the ability to speak and read English or French, being at least 18 years of age, and having a medically confirmed diagnosis of melanoma.

Procedure

Design. A repeated-measures, longitudinal design with 4 time points over the span of 18 months (Time 1- baseline, Time 2, 3, and 4) has been used. Time 2 took place 3-6 months after the initial baseline assessment as it was linked to participants' clinical follow-up appointments. While a third of the participants completed Time 2 assessment within three months, 87% completed it within six months after enrollment in the study. In addition to the assessment at Time 2, an educational intervention on the signs of melanoma and how to perform SSE was also administered at Time 2 by a dermatology-trained research assistant. The Time 3 assessment was conducted three months after the Time 2 intervention and Time 4 took place 12 months after the intervention. The current research reports on analyses using the data gathered at Time 4 (15-18 months after baseline).

Recruitment. Prior to the commencement of the study, approval from the hospitals' research ethics boards was obtained. Patients were notified by the clinic coordinator about the opportunity to participate in this study with study materials, including posters and bookmarks, made available in clinic waiting rooms. Sign-up sheets were available from the clinic staff upon request with detailed information concerning study protocols provided to interested patients by a research assistant who was available in person or by phone. Once the patient agreed to participate, written informed consent forms were completed with participants being provided a questionnaire package to be completed after their physician visit or returned by mail in a pre-addressed prestamped envelope. Follow-up questionnaires were submitted by patients via mail with participants being compensated after each time point by a \$30 payment to cover the cost of travel and parking.

Measures

Sociodemographic information (age, gender, years of education, income) were collected at baseline using a self-report questionnaire. Cancer stage was retrieved from patients' medical charts and confirmed in the hospitals' tumour registries. Perceived physician Support of SSE (as reported by the patients) was assessed using the six-item Likert-type *Physician Support of SSE* Scale that concerned physician advice and ecouragement of SSE (Coroiu et al., 2017) and included items such as "My physician has recommended that I do skin self-exams" and "My physician has asked me if I have questions or concerns about examining my skin" ($\alpha = .94$). The patient's report of the last visit with their physician was used in this study. SSE-related selfefficacy was assessed using a five-item Likert-type Self-efficacy for Skin Self-Examination Scale measuring participants' self-confidence in conducting a thorough SSE and recognizing a potentially cancerous lesion (Karapetian et al., 2016) that included items such as "I am confident that I can do one skin self-exam every month" and "I can recognize suspicious changes on my skin" ($\alpha = .74$). Whole Body SSE practice was also assessed with a questionnaire asking participants to report how often they examined their head as well as the front and back of their lower and upper body parts (e.g., front of the legs, upper back, top of the scalp, etc.).

Data analysis

Multiple regression analyses were employed to test whether self-efficacy mediated the relationship between perceived physician support of SSE and SSE behaviour (at Time 4) using Baron and Kenny's four-step method (Baron & Kenny, 1986) with bootstrapping additionally conducted to determine the strength of the indirect effect (Hayes, 2009; Preacher & Hayes, 2008). The four criteria for establishing mediation in this study were as follows: (1) physician support of SSE is a significant predictor of self-efficacy (the mediator), (2) physician support of SSE is a

significant predictor of the whole-body SSE (dependent variable), (3) self-efficacy is a significant predictor of SSE, and (4) when both the mediator and the predictor are included in the same regression as predictors, the effect of the predictor is no longer significant or significantly diminished. Multiple regression standardized beta weights were used to evaluate the hypothesized direct and indirect effects (via self-efficacy) of perceived physician support of SSE on SSE practice. Subsequently, a Sobel test (1982) was performed to assess the statistical significance of this hypothesized indirect effect, with the bootstrapping algorithm for the estimation of the *p*-value for the Sobel test conducted with 5000 iterations, 95% confidence intervals (Preacher & Hayes, 2008). Age, gender, education and income were chosen as covariates based on previous research showing these background variables to be potentially related to SSE practice (Carli et al., 2003; Coups et al., 2016; Manne & Lessin, 2006; K. A. Miller et al., 2015; Robinson et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 1998). Data analyses were conducted using SPSS Statistics (version 20) with a Process Procedure for SPSS (release 2.16.1).

Results

The sample consisted of 242 patients diagnosed with melanoma. The average age of the study sample was 59.48 years (SD = 13.84) ranging from 26 to 92 years of age. Gender was equally distributed with 50.4 % males, 49.2% females, and one participant, who did not disclose their gender. Participant diagnoses consisted of 15% melanomas in situ (stage 0), 48.7% stage I, 18.7% stage II, 6.2% stage III and 3.6% stage IV melanomas. The mean number of years of completed education was 14.78 (SD = 3.50), ranging from 5 to 26 years, which is representative of Montreal, where a majority of individuals over 25 years of age hold a post-secondary degree or certificate (Crespo, 2017). The most commonly reported household annual income reported by over a third of participants was "\$80 000 or more" with an overall income range of "\$10 000", to "\$80 000 or

more". Bivariate correlations with known sociodemographic predictors of SSE (age, gender, education, income) showed that SSE was significantly correlated only with education (r = -.18, p < .05) therefore it was retained in the subsequent analyses as a covariate. The correlations and beta weights for the key study variables are shown in Figure 1.

The first of the multiple regression analyses showed that the perceived physician support of SSE as reported after the most current clinical appointment was positively associated with whole-body SSE practice at 12 months post patient education about SSE and early signs of melanoma, i.e. at Time 4 (β = .29, *t*(145) = 3.19, *p* < .01). In the second regression, the physician support of SSE was also found to positively predict patient self-efficacy for SSE at Time 4 (β = .15, *t*(145) = 3.57, *p* < .001). In the first step of the third regression analysis, SSE self-efficacy positively predicted SSE practice (β = .71, *t*(144) = 4.10, *p* < .001) and, in the second step, the association between physician support of SSE and SSE practice was significantly weaker (β = .18, *t*(144) = 2.06, *p* = .04). Bootstrapping analyses showed this indirect effect to be significantly different from zero (*z* = 2.64, *p* < .01, 95% CI = .05 - .20), which further supports the finding that SSE self-efficacy partially mediated the relationship between physician support of SSE and SSE behavioural practice.

Discussion

The aim of the current study was to explore the role of SSE-specific physician support and SSE self-efficacy for participants' SSE practice in a sample of patients receiving melanoma follow-up care. As hypothesized, both perceived physician support of SSE and patient selfefficacy for the practice of SSE predicted skin self-examination behaviors after accounting for significant covariates (i.e., education level). These findings thus support previous research demonstrating a link between patient self-efficacy and SSE practice and also contribute to the existing literature showing a strong relationship between physician support of SSE and actual practice of skin self-exams (Coups et al., 2016; Hay et al., 2006; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2010). Further, our mediational findings showing self-efficacy to partially mediate the beneficial effects of perceived physician support of SSE on patients' SSE practice also supported our study hypothesis in suggesting that patient confidence in their SSE abilities is important for their adherence to recommendations regarding continued skin self-exam practice during melanoma follow-up care.

An important distinction should be made between physician support of SSE and educational interventions for patients about SSE and the early signs of melanoma - delivered by others than the treating physician. Past research, has shown that patient self-efficacy for SSE increases immediately after receiving instructions on how to recognize early signs of skin tumours and that such instructions have a relatively long-term effect (Czajkowska, Hall, et al., 2017; Robinson et al., 2017). Moreover, it has been shown that self-efficacy mediates the effects of patient education programs and SSE behaviors (Hay et al., 2006; John et al., 2017). In the present study, despite all participants having received the same educational materials and SSE instructions from a research assistant (trained by a dermatologist) at Time 2, the level of SSE behaviors reported was still found to vary as a function of the perceived physician support of SSE and, in turn, by patient SSE self-efficacy. Thus, to our knowledge, this paper is the first to show that the patients' perceptions of SSE support from their physician, above and beyond of SSE instructions received, can have a significant impact on their SSE self-efficacy and SSE practice. This underscores the important role of the dermatologists and general practitioners who are attending to individuals diagnosed with melanoma.

It is important to note that the support of the physician was not manualized in the present study in that the physicians did not receive any instructions from the research team on how or whether to recommend SSE to their patients. Clinical care guidelines recommend that patients in melanoma follow-up care should be advised to perform regular whole-body skin exams (Coit et al., 2009; National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018). However, the current study did not ask the treating physicians if and how they addressed the need for continuous SSE with their patients. Consequently, the reports of physician support should be understood as representing the patients' perceptions of their physician's support of skin self-exams during melanoma follow-up care. Nevertheless, these findings serve to highlight the predictive utility of patients' self-reports (Swann Jr et al., 2007). It remains to be empirically tested whether more objective third-party observer ratings of physician support of SSE have greater or poorer predictive power when it comes to patients' adherence to this health behaviour. Future research may also focus on subjective reports of the physicians to compare and contrast it with patients' reports and objective ratings so as to evaluate the implications of congruent or mismatched SSE support perceptions on patient outcomes.

Another caveat deserving of mention is the cancer stage of the patients. In the current project, almost half of the participants were diagnosed with a Stage I tumour with an additional

15% being diagnosed as in situ (stage "zero") at the start of the study. Accordingly, it is possible that both physicians' and patients' beliefs about the utility of conducing SSE at these early cancer stages may have influenced their likelihood of recommending SSE/ following recommendations regarding SSE. For instance, physicians may make efforts to minimize their patients' anxiety by reassuring the patients that they had undergone a successful treatment and "there is nothing to worry about". By providing such reassurance they may inadvertently minimize the importance of ongoing vigilance and regular long-term SSE practice. The way doctors communicate with their patients matters (Arora et al., 2009; Robinson, Mallett, Turrisi, & Stapleton, 2009). Additionally, future research may greatly benefit from longitudinal controlled projects focusing on both education and physician support of SSE to elucidate their independent contributions to the SSE practice among patients with melanoma. Finally, the present findings demonstrate the importance of informing physicians that their support of SSE in melanoma patients has clear implications for their patients' self-confidence in their ability to perform critical skin self-examination as well as for the frequency of SSE behaviours. As such, efforts to educate physicians as to the impact of their SSE support is critical given that patients' perceptions of their physicians' support can have a significant impact on skin self-exams and thus on potentially earlier tumour detection and treatment, which is related to long-term

survival in this high-risk population (Berwick et al., 1996; Berwick et al., 2016; Brunssen et al., 2017).



Figure 1. Direct and indirect effect of Physician Support of SSE on Whole Body SSE practice

Note: Self-efficacy partially mediated the association between Physician Support of SSE and Whole Body SSE. β in brackets signifies the β before the addition of the mediator. ***p < .001

Chapter 5

Summary, Discussion, and Conclusions

Summary of relevant findings

This dissertation provided a thorough review of the literature on melanoma and its prevention with an emphasis on the role of the physician in promoting secondary prevention through skin self-examination (SSE). The three manuscripts that followed contributed to our understanding of the importance of patient education, self-efficacy specific to SSE as well as the potential role of the physician in promoting optimal self-screening for early signs of melanoma among its survivors.

Manuscript one (chapter 2) made a contribution to the field of health care research by validating a brief version of a widely used measure of perceived autonomy support, namely the Health Care Climate Questionnaire - HCCQ (Williams, Freedman, et al., 1998; Williams et al., 1996) in a Canadian sample of individuals diagnosed with melanoma. More specifically, the HCCQ assesses patients' perceptions of the support by the physician (i.e., feeling understood, accepted, being encouraged to take an active role in managing one's health, trusting the doctor, etc.). A brief, 6-item version of this measure has been suggested for use by the authors of the original questionnaire. However, it had not been validated prior to the here reported analyses. In addition to demonstrating the scale's internal consistency, structural and construct validity as well as reliability it has been translated into French (the full scale of 15 items) in order to facilitate research in francophone and bilingual (English-French) environments. The English and French versions of HCCQ appear to be equivalent and as such may be considered valid for use in both languages with melanoma patients and other populations with similar characteristics.

Manuscript two (chapter 3) focused on patient education and self-efficacy. More specifically, the findings suggest that a brief educational session about the detection of early signs of melanoma via regular whole-body self-exams contributed to an increase in patients' self-efficacy for SSE. Further, physician support specific to SSE practice was also associated with the patients' self-efficacy. Consequently, the third manuscript (chapter 4) focused on testing a model in which both physician support and self-efficacy predicted skin self-examination behaviours among patients with melanoma. More specifically, a mediational pathway whereby the level of self-efficacy explains the relationship between physician support of SSE and SSE behavioural practice has been tested. The results supported a partial mediation. These findings suggest that the role of the physician in promoting secondary prevention of melanoma via skin self-exams may be both direct (by recommending and encouraging SSE) and indirect (by increasing patients' confidence in their ability to perform SSE).

Contributions to the field of research

The findings reported in all three manuscripts have made original contributions to the existing literature. The first manuscript provided the results of a validation of a scale that has been in use for over 20 years. The review of the literature on Health Care Climate Questionnaire revealed multiple versions of the scale with different numbers of items and different response options but only very scarce validation data (Kasser & Ryan, 1999; Williams et al., 1999; Williams, Freedman, et al., 1998; Williams et al., 2002; Williams et al., 1996; Williams, Rodin, et al., 1998). The validation of the 6-item HCCQ, a brief version recommended by the original authors, will allow the psychometrically sound assessment of this construct and, has the potential to facilitate the comparability of findings between future studies. Moreover, this doctoral project has provided the research and the clinical communities with a validated French version of the 6-
item HCCQ as well as with a French translation of the full 15-item scale following a back-andforth translation protocol for health-related scale (Acquadro, Conway, Hareendran, & Aaronson, 2008; Cha, Kim, & Erlen, 2007), which allows to use and further validate these measures in French and bilingual settings.

The second manuscript was not the first to show that an educational intervention may increase self-efficacy. For instance, Hay and colleagues demonstrated an increase in self-efficacy following a nurse-led education session about SSE four months later (Hay et al., 2006). Similarly, an increase in self-efficacy following an educational intervention at a four-month follow-up was reported by the Robinson group (Robinson et al., 2007a, 2007b). At the time the current project was designed, there was no published research reporting longer-term follow-up results. Thus, the goal of my dissertation research was to provide an account for SSE-specific self-efficacy beyond the previously studied short periods. As such, the level of self-efficacy was examined before, immediately after, at 3 months and 12 months following an educational intervention designed to model best-practice melanoma follow-up care. Since then, Robinson and colleagues have published results from the largest RCT to date following 494 participants for 24 months (Robinson et al., 2014; Robinson et al., 2016). This study had three arms providing educational interventions: a) a face-to-face meeting with an educator, b) reviewing an educational workbook and c) learning via an electronic interactive education delivered on a tablet computer. Over the next 24 months the assessments of self-efficacy every 4 months showed a significant increase in patients' confidence in performing effective SSE (Robinson et al., 2017). The findings of this sole study with a longterm follow-up are corroborated by the here-presented dissertation research showing a sustained increase of SSE-specific self-efficacy over the 12 months after being educated on the detection of early signs of melanoma through skin self-examination (Czajkowska, Wang, Hall, Sewitch, & Körner, 2017).

Most importantly, the current project provides a unique contribution by demonstrating that the physician support of SSE during melanoma follow-up care was related to even higher levels of SSE self-efficacy in patients, who all received the same education delivered by a dermatology-trained research assistant. While perceiving one's treating physician as generally supportive was not related to SSE behavioural practice, experiencing the physician as being interested in, encouraging, and advising on skin self-exams was associated with more frequent patient self-exams covering more parts of their body – a health behaviour that has been linked to thinner melanomas at diagnosis, getting treatment sooner, and lower risk of melanoma-related mortality (Berwick et al., 1996; Berwick et al., 2016; Carli et al., 2003; Garbe et al., 2007; Paddock et al., 2016; Titus, 2013). Further, this dissertation is offering insight into a possible pathway of this effect: the results suggest that physician support of SSE may be positively related to SSE behaviour because this support improves the patients' SSE-specific self-efficacy, a known predictor of skin self-exams (Coups et al., 2016; Hay et al., 2006; Kasparian et al., 2012; Kasparian et al., 2010).

Implications for clinical practice – the role of the physician

Physicians are able to detect thinner melanomas and consequently facilitate earlier treatment (Carli et al., 2003; Titus, 2013). However, their role in secondary prevention of melanoma is not limited to clinical skin exams. They may improve patient outcomes both through direct detection efforts (i.e., clinical exams) and through encouragement of SSE in order to increase the odds of patient self-detection of tumours in between follow-up appointments. Patients previously diagnosed with melanoma tend to rely on their doctors' advice when it comes to secondary prevention (Zschocke et al., 1996). Physician recommendation of SSE has been

associated with the practice of self-exams (Manne & Lessin, 2006; Rat et al., 2014), e.g., even only briefly mentioning self-examination to the patients corresponds to more SSE practice (Aitken et al., 2004). It is possible that physician support specific to SSE promotes this health behaviour by empowering patients with information and either explicitly or implicitly encouraging them to feel more confident and to assume greater responsibility for their health (Arora et al., 2009). Indeed, this dissertation research showed that SSE self-efficacy partially explains why physician support may predict SSE practice (see Chapter 3). Further, patients' confidence in their ability to perform effective SSE is a strong predictor of SSE practice (Hay et al., 2006; Robinson et al., 2007b), also demonstrated in our study (see Chapter 4). Consequently, given that both patients' self-confidence in performing effective SSE and SSE behaviour itself are associated with physician's encouragement of this practice (Aitken et al., 2004; Manne et al., 2004; Manne & Lessin, 2006; Rat et al., 2014), it is important for physicians to be aware of their power to elicit positive change in their patients at risk for melanoma.

Physicians might benefit from additional training on how to best convey to patients the message that they can examine their own skin effectively and boost patients' confidence in their SSE skills thereby promoting the practice of self-exams among melanoma survivors. This could be achieved by adding training to medical schools' curricula on how to teach about SSE but also how to speak to patients in a way they would feel supported, encouraged and motivated to follow the physicians' advice. Similarly, current practitioners would likely benefit from such training in their professional development efforts, e.g., through workshops offered as a part of ongoing education at conferences as well as the workplace. Additionally, outreach efforts could be made as a part of national educational campaigns for the public, such as Melanoma Monday (American Academy of Dermatology, 2018a; Canadian Dermatology Association, 2014). Regardless of the

circumstance of the training it is important that such trainings be made interactive to allow for practicing of the newly acquired skills, as research suggests that only hands-on interventions have an impact on physicians' medical practice (Davis et al., 1999).

Limitations

Several limitations warrant attention. First, the data in the present analyses are based on a sample of modest size (N = 242), which limited the analyses that could be conducted within this doctoral research project. For instance, when performing the confirmatory factor analysis in the validation study there was an acceptable number of data (i.e., a minimum of 10 participants per item and a minimum of 100 data points over all for the CFAs). However, the sample size did not significantly exceed the standard benchmarks (115 in the French subsample, 119 in the English subsample) (Terwee et al., 2007). Second, the examination of construct validity did not include a comparison of the HCCQ to another gold standard measure of "health care climate" or "health care provider support of patient autonomy" as no such measure exists. Thus, construct validity was assessed via correlations of the HCCQ with measures of proximate as well as more distal constructs.

Additionally, it should be noted that the items of the HCCQ seem to be more representative of the quality of the relationship between the physician and a patient rather than the autonomy support. Nevertheless, we retained the phraseology of the original authors referring to "autonomy support" and "health care climate" for the sake of consistency with previous research.

Further, the support of the physician was not manualized in the present study in that the physicians did not receive any instructions from the research team on how or whether to discuss SSE with their patients. Clinical care guidelines recommend that patients in melanoma follow-up care should be advised to perform regular whole-body skin exams (Coit et al., 2009; National

Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018). However, in the current study the treating physicians were not asked if and how they addressed the need for continuous SSE with their patients. Consequently, the reports of physician support represent the patients' perceptions of their physician's support of skin self-exams during melanoma follow-up care. Patients' reports are important and have a high predictive utility in research (Swann Jr et al., 2007). Still, it remains to be empirically tested whether more objective third-party observer ratings of physician support of SSE have greater or poorer predictive power when trying to understand the role of physician support for patients' adherence to this health behaviour.

Directions for future research

The here-presented findings offer multiple avenues for future research. For instance, a focus on subjective reports of the physicians concerning their general as well as SSE-specific support of the patients could further enlighten our understanding of this factor for secondary prevention of melanoma – especially when compared and contrasted with the patients' reports. Indeed, the existing research suggests that physicians and patients do not perceive patients' reality the same way (S. B. Cohen, Strand, Aguilar, & Ofman, 2004; Efficace et al., 2014). In addition to physician-reports, more objective, third-party ratings may further our understanding of the quality of physician support allowing to evaluate the implications of congruent or mismatched support perceptions on patient outcomes. Further, future research may greatly benefit from longitudinal controlled projects focusing on both education by other health care professionals such as nurses and physician support of SSE to elucidate their independent contributions to the uptake and continued practice of skin self-exams among patients at risk for melanoma. This may also allow to identify specific teachable moments in the illness trajectory as well as to determine if there is

an added benefit of a physician's continued support of SSE behavioural practice as opposed to a one-time advice.

A separate area of research worthy of pursuing may be on physicians' ability and selfefficacy for teaching melanoma survivors about skin self-examination and its importance. Additionally, training physicians to be more empathic and encouraging can have a real impact on patient perceptions of received support, and potentially their motivation to adhere to medical advice (Pollak et al., 2011). More research is needed to examine whether hands-on training of physicians on increasing patients' knowledge and motivation to conduct regular, whole-body SSE would be effective.

Conclusion

Physicians may have the power to impact patients' confidence, motivation and health behaviours, which are likely to result in better patient outcomes. Survivors of melanoma are likely to benefit from additional targeted support, focusing primarily on teaching skills and boosting selfefficacy related to skin self-exams. As such, research is needed to develop effective methods of training physicians so that they too can be empowered with knowledge, skills and confidence in their abilities to support their patients.

References

- Acquadro, C., Conway, K., Hareendran, A., & Aaronson, N. (2008). Literature review of methods to translate health-related quality of life questionnaires for use in multinational clinical trials. *Value Health*, 11(3), 509-521. doi:10.1111/j.1524-4733.2007.00292.x
- Aitken, J. F., Janda, M., Lowe, J. B., Elwood, M., Ring, I. T., Youl, P. H., & Firman, D. W. (2004). Prevalence of whole-body skin self-examination in a population at high risk for skin cancer (Australia). *Cancer Causes and Control*, 15(5), 453-463. doi:10.1023/B:CACO.0000036451.39128.f6
- Alberta Health Services. (2013). Clinical practice guidelines: Referral and follow-up surveillence of cutaneaous melanoma. Retrieved from <u>https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/info/hp/cancer/if-hp-cancer-guide-cu001-</u> <u>followup-surveillance.pdf</u>
- Aldridge, R. B., Naysmith, L., Ooi, E. T., Murray, C. S., & Rees, J. L. (2013). The importance of a full clinical examination: assessment of index lesions referred to a skin cancer clinic without a total body skin examination would miss one in three melanomas. *Acta Dermato-Venereologica*, 93(6), 689-692. doi:10.2340/00015555-1625
- Alvarez Payero, M., Martinez Lopez de Castro, N., Ucha Samartin, M., Martin Vila, A., Vazquez Lopez, C., & Pineiro Corrales, G. (2014). Medication non-adherence as a cause of hospital admissions. *Farm Hosp*, 38(4), 328-333. doi:10.7399/fh.2014.38.4.7660
- American Academy of Dermatology. (2018a). About SPOT skin cancer. Retrieved from <u>http://www.aad.org/spot-skin-cancer/about-spot</u>
- American Academy of Dermatology. (2018b). Detect skin cancer. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aad.org/public/spot-skin-cancer/learn-about-skin-cancer/detect</u>
- American Academy of Dermatology. (2018c). *How do I check my skin*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.aad.org/spot-skin-cancer/understanding-skin-cancer/how-do-i-check-my-skin</u>.
- American Academy of Dermatology. (2018d). Skin cancer. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aad.org/media/stats/conditions/skin-cancer</u>
- American Academy of Dermatology. (2018e). What to look for: ABCDEs of melanoma. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aad.org/public/spot-skin-cancer/learn-about-skin-cancer/detect/what-to-look-for</u>
- American Cancer Society. (2016). What are the survival rates for melanoma skin cancer by stage? Retrieved from <u>http://www.cancer.org/cancer/skincancer-melanoma/detailedguide/melanoma-skin-cancer-survival-rates</u>
- American Cancer Society. (2018a). Cancer Facts and Figures. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/all-cancer-facts-figures/cancer-facts-figures-2018.html</u>
- American Cancer Society. (2018b). Skin Cancer Prevention and Early Detection. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cancer.org/cancer/skincancer-</u> <u>melanoma/moreinformation/skincancerpreventionandearlydetection/skin-cancer-</u> <u>prevention-and-early-detection-intro</u>

- American Cancer Society. (2018c). What are the key statistics about melanoma skin cancer? Retrieved from <u>http://www.cancer.org/cancer/skincancer-</u> <u>melanoma/detailedguide/melanoma-skin-cancer-key-statistics</u>
- Arora, N. K., Weaver, K. E., Clayman, M. L., Oakley-Girvan, I., & Potosky, A. L. (2009).
 Physicians' decision-making style and psychosocial outcomes among cancer survivors.
 Patient Education and Counseling, 77(3), 404-412. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2009.10.004
- Ashford, S., Edmunds, J., & French, D. P. (2010). What is the best way to change self-efficacy to promote lifestyle and recreational physical activity? A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Br J Health Psychol*, *15*(2), 265-288. doi:10.1348/135910709X461752
- Atkinson, T. M., Noce, N. S., Hay, J., Rafferty, B. T., & Brady, M. S. (2013). Illness-related distress in women with clinically localized cutaneous melanoma. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, 20(2), 675-679. doi:10.1245/s10434-012-2635-5
- Auster, J., Hurst, C., Neale, R. E., Youl, P., Whiteman, D. C., Baade, P., & Janda, M. (2013). Determinants of uptake of whole-body skin self-examination in older men. *Behavioral Medicine*, 39(2), 36-43.
- Australian Governement: Department of Health and Aging. (2010). Evaluation of national skin cancer awareness campaign third phases (2009-2010). Sydney, Australia: Ipsos-Eureka: Social Research Institute.
- Balch, C. M., Gershenwald, J. E., Soong, S.-j., Thompson, J. F., Atkins, M. B., Byrd, D. R., . . . Ding, S. (2009). Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(36), 6199-6206.
- Balch, C. M., Gershenwald, J. E., Soong, S.-j., Thompson, J. F., Atkins, M. B., Byrd, D. R., . . . Sondak, V. K. (2009). Final Version of 2009 AJCC Melanoma Staging and Classification. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(36), 6199-6206. doi:10.1200/jco.2009.23.4799
- Band, P. R., Le, N. D., Fang, R., Deschamps, M., Coldman, A. J., Gallagher, R. P., & Moody, J. (1996). Cohort study of Air Canada pilots: mortality, cancer incidence, and leukemia risk. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 143(2), 137-143.
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action : a social cognitive theory*. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy : the exercise of control. New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Banville, D., Desrosiers, P., & Genet-Volet, Y. (2000). Translating questionnaires and inventories using a cross-cultural translation technique. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 19(3), 374-387.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182.
- Beane Freeman, L. E., Dennis, L. K., Lynch, C. F., Thorne, P. S., & Just, C. L. (2004). Toenail arsenic content and cutaneous melanoma in Iowa. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 160(7), 679-687. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh267
- Beauchamp, T. L., & Childress, J. F. (2009). *Principles of biomedical ethics*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Beck, A. T., Emery, G., & Greenberg, R. L. (1985). *Anxiety disorders and phobias : a cognitive perspective*. New York: Basic Books.
- Berg, J. S., Dischler, J., Wagner, D. J., Raia, J. J., & Palmer-Shevlin, N. (1993). Medication compliance: a healthcare problem. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 27(9 Suppl), S1-24.

- Berwick, M., Begg, C. B., Fine, J. A., Roush, G. C., & Barnhill, R. L. (1996). Screening for cutaneous melanoma by skin self-examination. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 88(1), 17-23.
- Berwick, M., Buller, D. B., Cust, A., Gallagher, R., Lee, T. K., Meyskens, F., . . . Ward, S. (2016). Melanoma epidemiology and prevention *Melanoma* (pp. 17-49): Springer.
- Berwick, M., Oliveria, S., Luo, S. T., Headley, A., & Bolognia, J. L. (2000). A pilot study using nurse education as an intervention to increase skin self-examination for melanoma. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 15(1), 38-40.
- Bichakjian, C. K., Halpern, A. C., Johnson, T. M., Foote Hood, A., Grichnik, J. M., Swetter, S. M., . . . Smith Begolka, W. (2011). Guidelines of care for the management of primary cutaneous melanoma. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 65(5), 1032-1047. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2011.04.031</u>
- Bishop-Newton, J., Harland, M., Randerson-Moor, J., & Bishop, D. T. (2007). Management of familial melanoma. *The Lancet Oncology*, 8(1), 46-54. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(06)71010-5
- Bishop, D. T., Demenais, F., Goldstein, A. M., Bergman, W., Bishop-Newton, J., Paillerets, B. B.-d., . . . Consortium, T. M. G. (2002). Geographical variation in the penetrance of CDKN2A mutations for melanoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 94(12), 894-903. doi:10.1093/jnci/94.12.894
- Blettner, M., Zeeb, H., Auvinen, A., Ballard, T. J., Caldora, M., Eliasch, H., . . . Tzonou, A. (2003). Mortality from cancer and other causes among male airline cockpit crew in Europe. *International Journal of Cancer*, 106(6), 946-952. doi:10.1002/ijc.11328
- Bosserhoff, A. K., Schneider, N., Ellmann, L., Heinzerling, L., & Kuphal, S. (2017). The neurotrophin Neuritin1 (cpg15) is involved in melanoma migration, attachment independent growth, and vascular mimicry. *Oncotarget*, 8(1), 1117-1131. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.13585
- Box, N. F., Duffy, D. L., Chen, W., Stark, M., Martin, N. G., Sturm, R. A., & Hayward, N. K. (2001). MC1R genotype modifies risk of melanoma in families segregating CDKN2A mutations. *Am J Hum Genet*, 69(4), 765-773. doi:10.1086/323412
- Brady, M. S., Oliveria, S. A., Christos, P. J., Berwick, M., Coit, D. G., Katz, J., & Halpern, A. C. (2000). Patterns of detection in patients with cutaneous melanoma. *Cancer*, 89(2), 342-347. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(20000715)89:2<342::AID-CNCR19>3.0.CO;2-P
- Brandt, A., Sundquist, J., & Hemminki, K. (2011). Risk of incident and fatal melanoma in individuals with a family history of incident or fatal melanoma or any cancer. *British Journal of Dermatology*, *165*(2), 342-348. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10350.x
- Brunssen, A., Waldmann, A., Eisemann, N., & Katalinic, A. (2017). Impact of skin cancer screening and secondary prevention campaigns on skin cancer incidence and mortality: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 76(1), 129-139.e110. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2016.07.045
- Burden, A. D., Vestey, J. P., Sirel, J. M., Aitchison, T. C., Hunter, J. A. A., & MacKie, R. M. (1994). Multiple primary melanoma: risk factors and prognostic implications. *BMJ*, 309(6951), 376. doi:10.1136/bmj.309.6951.376
- Burnier, M. (2000). Long-term compliance with antihypertensive therapy: another facet of chronotherapeutics in hypertension. *Blood Pressure Monitoring*, 5, S31-S34. Retrieved from <Go to ISI>://WOS:000087748800006

- Caini, S., Gandini, S., Sera, F., Raimondi, S., Fargnoli, M. C., Boniol, M., & Armstrong, B. K. (2009). Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma according to anatomical site and clinico-pathological variant. *European Journal of Cancer*, 45(17), 3054-3063. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2009.05.009</u>
- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. (2013). *Canadian Cancer Statistics 2013*. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society Retrieved from http://www.cancer.ca/~/media/cancer.ca/CW/cancer%20information/cancer%20101/Canadian%20cancer%20statistics/canadian-cancer-statistics-2013-EN.pdf.
- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. (2014). *Canadian Cancer Statistics 2014*. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society Retrieved from http://www.cancer.ca/~/media/cancer.ca/cw/cancer%20information/cancer%20101/canadian%20cancer%20statistics/canadian-cancer-statistics-2014-en.pdf.
- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. (2015). Canadian Cancer Statistics 2015: Special Topic: Predictions of the Future Burden of Cancer in Canada.
- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. (2017). *Canadian Cancer Statistics 2017*. Toronto, ON, Canada: Canadian Cancer Society Retrieved from cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2017-EN.pdf.
- Canadian Dermatology Association. (2014). May 5th is Melanoma Monday. Retrieved from <u>http://www.dermatology.ca/programs-resources/programs/sap/melanoma-monday/</u>
- Canadian Dermatology Association. (2018). Skin Cancer. Retrieved from <u>http://www.dermatology.ca/skin-hair-nails/skin/skin-cancer/#!/skin-hair-nails/skin/skin-cancer/mlignant-melanoma/</u>
- Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. (1994). Prevention of Skin Cancer *Canadian guide to clinical preventive health care* (pp. 850-859). Ottawa: Health Canada.
- Cancer Council Victoria. (2018a). Dark Side of Tanning. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sunsmart.com.au/tools/videos/current-tv-campaigns/dark-side-of-tanning.html</u>
- Cancer Council Victoria. (2018b). Slip! Slop! Slap! Original SunSmart campaign. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sunsmart.com.au/tools/videos/past-tv-campaigns/slip-slop-slap-original-</u><u>sunsmart-campaign.html</u>
- Cancer Institute of the New South Wales. (2017). The Dark Side of Tanning. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cancerinstitute.org.au/how-we-help/cancer-prevention/skin-cancer-prevention/campaigns/dark-side-of-tanning-campaign</u>
- Carli, P., De Giorgi, V., Palli, D., Maurichi, A., Mulas, P., Orlandi, C., . . . Italian Multidisciplinary Group on, M. (2003). Dermatologist detection and skin selfexamination are associated with thinner melanomas: results from a survey of the Italian Multidisciplinary Group on Melanoma. *Archives of Dermatology*, 139(5), 607-612. doi:10.1001/archderm.139.5.607
- Centers for Desease Control and Prevention. (2018). Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/cancer/skin/basic_info/prevention.htm</u>
- Cha, E. S., Kim, K. H., & Erlen, J. A. (2007). Translation of scales in cross-cultural research: issues and techniques. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *58*(4), 386-395. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04242.x
- Claxton, A. J., Cramer, J., & Pierce, C. (2001). A systematic review of the associations between dose regimens and medication compliance. *Clinical Therapeutics*, *23*(8), 1296-1310.

- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Hillsdale, N.J.: L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, S. B., Strand, V., Aguilar, D., & Ofman, J. J. (2004). Patient- versus physician-reported outcomes in rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (anakinra) therapy. *Rheumatology*, 43(6), 704-711. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keh152
- Coit, D. G., Andtbacka, R., Bichakjian, C. K., Dilawari, R. A., DiMaio, D., Guild, V., . . . Wong, M. K. (2009). Melanoma. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*, 7(3), 250-275.
- Cokkinides, V. E., Geller, A. C., & Jemal, A. (2012). Trends in melanoma mortality among non-Hispanic whites by educational attainment, 1993-2007. *Archives of Dermatology*, *148*(5), 587-591. doi:10.1001/archdermatol.2011.2779
- Conejo-Mir, J., Bravo, J., Diaz-Perez, J. L., Fernandez-Herrera, J., Guillen, C., Marti, R., . . . Zulaica, A. (2005). [Euromelanoma Day. Results of the 2000, 2001 and 2002 campaigns in Spain]. *Actas Dermo-Sifiliograficas*, *96*(4), 217-221.
- Coroiu, A., Garland, R., Donovan, A., Czajkowska, Z., & Körner, A. (2016). *Physician Support* of Skin Self-Examination Scale: Preliminary validation. Poster presented at the Conference Name, Halifax, NS, Canada. .
- Coroiu, A., Moran, C., Garland, R., & Körner, A. (2017). Development and preliminary validation of the physician support of skin self-examination scale. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 1-8. doi:10.1017/S1463423617000688
- Coups, E. J., Geller, A. C., Weinstock, M. A., Heckman, C. J., & Manne, S. L. (2010). Prevalence and correlates of skin cancer screening among middle-aged and older white adults in the United States. *American Journal of Medicine*, 123(5), 439-445. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.10.014
- Coups, E. J., Manne, S. L., Stapleton, J. L., Tatum, K. L., & Goydos, J. S. (2016). Skin selfexamination behaviors among individuals diagnosed with melanoma. *Melanoma Research*, 26(1), 71-76. doi:10.1097/CMR.00000000000204
- Crespo, S. (2017). *Panorama des régions du Québec*. Retrieved from Panorama des régions du Québec.
- Cunningham, A. J., Lockwood, G. A., & Cunningham, J. A. (1991). A relationship between perceived self-efficacy and quality of life in cancer patients. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *17*(1), 71-78. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0738-3991(91)90052-7</u>
- Curiel-Lewandrowski, C., Chen, S. C., & Swetter, S. M. (2012). Screening and prevention measures for melanoma: Is there a survival advantage? *Current Oncology Reports*, 14(5), 458-467.
- Czajkowska, Z., Hall, N. C., Sewitch, M., Wang, B., & Körner, A. (2017). The role of patient education and physician support in self-efficacy for skin self-examination among patients with melanoma. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 100(8), 1505-1510. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2017.02.020
- Czajkowska, Z., Wang, H., Hall, N. C., Sewitch, M., & Körner, A. (2017). Validation of the English and French versions of the Brief Health Care Climate Questionnaire. *Health Psychology Open*, *4*(2), 2055102917730675. doi:10.1177/2055102917730675
- Dalal, K. M., Zhou, Q., Panageas, K. S., Brady, M. S., Jaques, D. P., & Coit, D. G. (2008). Methods of detection of first recurrence in patients with stage I/II primary cutaneous

melanoma after sentinel lymph node biopsy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, *15*(8), 2206-2214. doi:DOI 10.1245/s10434-008-9985-z

- Davis, D., O'Brien, M., Freemantle, N., Wolf, F. M., Mazmanian, P., & Taylor-Vaisey, A. (1999). Impact of formal continuing medical education: Do conferences, workshops, rounds, and other traditional continuing education activities change physician behavior or health care outcomes? *JAMA*, 282(9), 867-874. doi:10.1001/jama.282.9.867
- De Simone, P., Valiante, M., & Silipo, V. (2017). Familial melanoma and multiple primary melanoma. *Giornale italiano di dermatologia e venereologia : organo ufficiale, Societa italiana di dermatologia e sifilografia, 152*(3), 262-265. doi:10.23736/s0392-0488.17.05554-7
- DiMatteo, M. R., Sherbourne, C. D., Hays, R. D., Ordway, L., Kravitz, R. L., McGlynn, E. A., . . . Rogers, W. H. (1993). Physicians' characteristics influence patients' adherence to medical treatment: Results from the Medical Outcomes Study. *Health Psychology*, 12(2), 93-102. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.12.2.93
- Dinh, Q. Q., & Chong, A. H. (2007). Melanoma in organ transplant recipients: the old enemy finds a new battleground. *Australasian Journal of Dermatology*, 48(4), 199-207. doi:10.1111/j.1440-0960.2007.00387.x
- Donovan, J. L. (1995). Patient decision making. The missing ingredient in compliance research. International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, 11(3), 443-455.
- Donovan, J. L., & Blake, D. R. (1992). Patient non-compliance: deviance or reasoned decisionmaking? Social Science and Medicine, 34(5), 507-513.
- Doran, C. M., Ling, R., Byrnes, J., Crane, M., Shakeshaft, A. P., Searles, A., & Perez, D. (2016). Benefit Cost Analysis of Three Skin Cancer Public Education Mass-Media Campaigns Implemented in New South Wales, Australia. *PLoS ONE*, 11(1), e0147665. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0147665
- Doubrovsky, A., & Menzies, S. W. (2003). Enhanced survival in patients with multiple primary melanoma. *Archives of Dermatology*, *139*(8), 1013-1018. doi:10.1001/archderm.139.8.1013
- Edman, R. L., & Wolfe, J. T. (2000). Prevention and early detection of malignant melanoma. *American Family Physician*, 62(10), 2277-2285.
- Efficace, F., Rosti, G., Aaronson, N., Cottone, F., Angelucci, E., Molica, S., . . . Baccarani, M. (2014). Patient- versus physician-reporting of symptoms and health status in chronic myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica*, *99*(4), 788-793. doi:10.3324/haematol.2013.093724
- Elwood, J. M., & Jopson, J. (1997). Melanoma and sun exposure: an overview of published studies. *International Journal of Cancer*, *73*(2), 198-203.
- Epstein, D. S., Lange, J. R., Gruber, S. B., Mofid, M., & Koch, S. E. (1999). Is physician detection associated with thinner melanomas? *JAMA*, 281(7), 640-643.
- Euromelanoma. (2018). Euromelanoma campaign. Retrieved from http://euromelanoma.org/.
- Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Ervik, M., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., . . . Bray, F. (2013). GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11. Retrieved from http://globocan.iarc.fr
- Ferrone, C. R., Ben Porat, L., Panageas, K. S., Berwick, M., Halpern, A. C., Patel, A., & al., e. (2005). Clinicopathological features of and risk factors for multiple primary melanomas. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 294, 1647-1654.

- Ferrone, C. R., Ben Porat, L., Panageas, K. S., Berwick, M., Halpern, A. C., Patel, A., & Coit, D. G. (2005). Clinicopathological features of and risk factors for multiple primary melanomas. *JAMA*, 294(13), 1647-1654. doi:10.1001/jama.294.13.1647
- Field, S., Davies, J., Bishop, D. T., & Newton-Bishop, J. (2013). Vitamin D and melanoma. *Dermato-endocrinology*, 5(1), 121-129. doi:10.4161/derm.25244
- Fortier, M. S., Sweet, S. N., O'Sullivan, T. L., & Williams, G. C. (2007). A self-determination process model of physical activity adoption in the context of a randomized controlled trial. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 8(5), 741-757. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2006.10.006
- Freedman, D. M., Sigurdson, A., Rao, R. S., Hauptmann, M., Alexander, B., Mohan, A., ... Linet, M. S. (2003). Risk of melanoma among radiologic technologists in the United States. *International Journal of Cancer*, 103(4), 556-562. doi:10.1002/ijc.10854
- Friedman, R. J., Farber, M. J., Warycha, M. A., Papathasis, N., Miller, M. K., & Heilman, E. R. (2009). The "dysplastic" nevus. *Clinics in Dermatology*, 27(1), 103-115. doi:10.1016/j.clindermatol.2008.09.008
- From, L., Marrett, L., Rosen, C., Zwaal, C., Johnston, M., Bak, K., ... Mai, V. (2007). Screening for skin cancer. Toronto Retrieved from <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/2536</u>.
- Fuertes, J. N., Mislowack, A., Bennett, J., Paul, L., Gilbert, T. C., Fontan, G., & Boylan, L. S. (2007). The physician-patient working alliance. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 66(1), 29-36. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2006.09.013
- Gamba, C. S., Clarke, C. A., Keegan, T. M., Tao, L., & Swetter, S. M. (2013). MElanoma survival disadvantage in young, non-hispanic white males compared with females. *JAMA Dermatology*, 149(8), 912-920. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.4408
- Gandini, S., Sera, F., Cattaruzza, M. S., Pasquini, P., Picconi, O., Boyle, P., & Melchi, C. F. (2005). Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: II. Sun exposure. *European Journal of Cancer*, 41(1), 45-60. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2004.10.016
- Gandini, S., Sera, F., Cattaruzza, M. S., Pasquini, P., Zanetti, R., Masini, C., . . . Melchi, C. F. (2005). Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: III. Family history, actinic damage and phenotypic factors. *European Journal of Cancer*, 41(14), 2040-2059. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2005.03.034</u>
- Garbe, C., Hauschild, A., Volkenandt, M., Schadendorf, D., Stolz, W., Reinhold, U., . . . Kaufmann, R. (2007). Evidence and interdisciplinary consense-based German guidelines: diagnosis and surveillance of melanoma. *Melanoma Research*, 17(6), 393-399. Retrieved from <Go to ISI>://WOS:000251470500009
- Garbe, C., Peris, K., Hauschild, A., Saiag, P., Middleton, M., Spatz, A., . . . Eggermont, A. (2010). Diagnosis and treatment of melanoma: European consensus-based interdisciplinary guideline. *European Journal of Cancer*, 46(2), 270-283. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2009.10.032
- Geller, A. C. (2009). Educational and screening campaigns to reduce deaths from melanoma. *Hematology/Oncology Clinics of North America*, 23(3), 515-527, ix. doi:10.1016/j.hoc.2009.03.008
- Geller, A. C., Emmons, K. M., Brooks, D. R., Powers, C., Zhang, Z., Koh, H. K., . . . Gilchrest, B. A. (2006). A randomized trial to improve early detection and prevention practices among siblings of melanoma patients. *Cancer*, 107(4), 806-814. doi:10.1002/cncr.22050

- Geller, A. C., O'Riordan, D. L., Oliveria, S. A., Valvo, S., Teich, M., & Halpern, A. C. (2004). Overcoming obstacles to skin cancer examinations and prevention counseling for highrisk patients: results of a national survey of primary care physicians. *Journal of the American Board of Family Practice*, 17(6), 416-423.
- Geller, A. C., Swetter, S. M., Brooks, K., Demierre, M. F., & Yaroch, A. L. (2007). Screening, early detection, and trends for melanoma: current status (2000-2006) and future directions. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 57(4), 555-572; quiz 573-556. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2007.06.032
- Glenn, B. A., Chen, K. L., Chang, L. C., Lin, T., & Bastani, R. (2017). Skin examination practices among melanoma survivors and their children. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 32(2), 335-343. doi:10.1007/s13187-016-0998-1
- Goldstein, A. M., Chan, M., Harland, M., Gillanders, E. M., Hayward, N. K., Avril, M. F., . . . Yakobson, E. (2006). High-risk melanoma susceptibility genes and pancreatic cancer, neural system tumors, and uveal melanoma across GenoMEL. *Cancer Research*, 66(20), 9818-9828. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-06-0494
- Government of Canada. (2017, November 2017). Skin Cancer-Sun Safety Tips. Retrieved from <u>http://www.healthycanadians.gc.ca/environment-environnement/sun-soleil/skin-cancer-peau-eng.php</u>
- Graves, K. D. (2003). Social cognitive theory and cancer patients' quality of life: A metaanalysis of psychosocial intervention components. *Health Psychology*, 22(2), 210-219. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.22.2.210
- Greene, J., & Hibbard, J. H. (2012). Why does patient activation matter? An examination of the relationships between patient activation and health-related outcomes. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 27(5), 520-526. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1931-2
- Gundestrup, M., & Storm, H. H. (1999). Radiation-induced acute myeloid leukaemia and other cancers in commercial jet cockpit crew: a population-based cohort study. *Lancet*, 354(9195), 2029-2031. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(99)05093-x
- Ha, J. F., & Longnecker, N. (2010). Doctor-Patient Communication: A Review. *The Ochsner Journal*, 10(1), 38-43. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3096184/
- Haldorsen, T., Reitan, J. B., & Tveten, U. (2001). Cancer incidence among Norwegian airline cabin attendants. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *30*(4), 825-830.
- Hamidi, R., Cockburn, G., & Peng, D. H. (2008). Prevalence and predictors of skin selfexamination: prospects for melanoma prevention and early detection. *International Journal of Dermatology*, 47(10), 993-1003. doi:DOI 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2008.03780.x
- Hammar, N., Linnersjo, A., Alfredsson, L., Dammstrom, B. G., Johansson, M., & Eliasch, H. (2002). Cancer incidence in airline and military pilots in Sweden 1961-1996. *Aviation Space and Environmental Medicine*, 73(1), 2-7.
- Hay, J. L., Oliveria, S. A., Dusza, S. W., Phelan, D. L., Ostroff, J. S., & Halpern, A. C. (2006). Psychosocial mediators of a nurse intervention to increase skin self-examination in patients at high risk for melanoma. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 15(6), 1212-1216. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-04-0822
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical Mediation Analysis in the New Millennium. *Communication Monographs*, 76(4), 408-420. doi:10.1080/03637750903310360

- Haynes, R. B., McDonald, H., Garg, A. X., & Montague, P. (2002). Interventions for helping patients to follow prescriptions for medications. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(2), Cd000011. doi:10.1002/14651858.cd000011
- Helfand, M., Mahon, S. M., Eden, K. B., Frame, P. S., & Orleans, C. T. (2001). Screening for skin cancer. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 20(3 Suppl), 47-58. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11306232</u>
- Hemminki, K., Zhang, H., & Czene, K. (2003). Familial and attributable risks in cutaneous melanoma: Effects of proband and age. *J Investig Dermatol*, *120*(2), 217-223.
- Henrikson, N. B., Morrison, C. C., Blasi, P. R., Nguyen, M., Shibuya, K. C., & Patnode, C. D. (2018). Behavioral counseling for skin cancer prevention: Evidence report and systematic review for the us preventive services task force. *JAMA*, *319*(11), 1143-1157. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.21630
- Hibbard, J. H., & Greene, J. (2013). What The Evidence Shows About Patient Activation: Better Health Outcomes And Care Experiences; Fewer Data On Costs. *Health Affairs*, 32(2), 207-214. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1061
- Hillen, M. A., de Haes, H. C. J. M., & Smets, E. M. A. (2011). Cancer patients' trust in their physician—a review. *Psycho-Oncology*, 20(3), 227-241. doi:10.1002/pon.1745
- Holden, G. (1992). The relationship of self-efficacy appraisals to subsequent health related outcomes. *Social Work in Health Care, 16*(1), 53-93. doi:10.1300/J010v16n01_05
- Holly, E. A., Kelly, J. W., Shpall, S. N., & Chiu, S.-H. (1987). Number of melanocytic nevi as a major risk factor for malignant melanoma. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 17(3), 459-468. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0190-9622(87)70230-8</u>
- Howlader, N., Noone, A. M., Krapcho, M., Garshell, J., Neyman, N., Altekruse, S. F., . . . Cronin, K. A. (2013). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2010 based on November 2012 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2013. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute Retrieved from http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2010/.
- Hu, L. t., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1-55. doi:10.1080/10705519909540118
- Hultgren, B. A., Turrisi, R., Mallett, K. A., Ackerman, S., & Robinson, J. K. (2016). Influence of quality of relationship between patient with melanoma and partner on partner-assisted skin examination education: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Dermatol*, 152(2), 184-190. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.2819
- Irvine, D., & Davies, D. M. (1999). British Airways flightdeck mortality study, 1950-1992. *Aviation Space and Environmental Medicine*, 70(6), 548-555.
- Iuga, A. O., & McGuire, M. J. (2014). Adherence and health care costs. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, 7, 35-44. doi:10.2147/RMHP.S19801
- Jackson, K. M., & Aiken, L. S. (2000). A psychosocial model of sun protection and sunbathing in young women: The impact of health beliefs, attitudes, norms, and self-efficacy for sun protection. *Health Psychology*, 19(5), 469-478. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.19.5.469
- Janda, M., Baade, P. D., Youl, P. H., Aitken, J. F., Whiteman, D. C., Gordon, L., & Neale, R. E. (2010). The skin awareness study: Promoting thorough skin self-examination for skin cancer among men 50 years or older. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 31(1), 119-130. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2009.11.003
- Janda, M., Neale, R. E., Youl, P., Whiteman, D. C., Gordon, L., & Baade, P. D. (2011). Impact of a video-based intervention to improve the prevalence of skin self-examination in men

50 years or older: the randomized skin awareness trial. *Archives of Dermatology*, *147*(7), 799-806. doi:10.1001/archdermatol.2011.48

- John, K. K., Jensen, J. D., King, A. J., Ratcliff, C. L., & Grossman, D. (2017). Do patternfocused visuals improve skin self-examination performance? Explicating the visual skill acquisition model. *Journal of health communication*, 22(9), 732-742. doi:10.1080/10810730.2017.1344750
- Jones, E. L., Jones, T. S., Pearlman, N. W., Gao, D., Stovall, R., Gajdos, C., . . . McCarter, M. D. (2013). Long-term follow-up and survival of patients following a recurrence of melanoma after a negative sentinel lymph node biopsy result. *JAMA Surg*, 148(5), 456-461. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2013.1335
- Kadouri, L., Temper, M., Grenader, T., Abeliovich, D., Hamburger, T., Peretz, T., & Lotem, M. (2009). Absence of founder BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations in cutaneous malignant melanoma patients of Ashkenazi origin. *Fam Cancer*, 8(1), 29-32. doi:10.1007/s10689-008-9206-8
- Kanavy, H. E., & Gerstenblith, M. R. (2011). Ultraviolet radiation and melanoma. *Seminars in Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery*, *30*(4), 222-228. doi:10.1016/j.sder.2011.08.003
- Kanetsky, P. A., Panossian, S., Elder, D. E., Guerry, D., Ming, M. E., Schuchter, L., & Rebbeck, T. R. (2010). Does MC1R genotype convey information about melanoma risk beyond risk phenotypes? *Cancer*, 116(10), 2416-2428. doi:10.1002/cncr.24994
- Kang, S., Barnhill, R. L., Mihm, M. C., Jr., & Sober, A. J. (1992). Multiple primary cutaneous melanomas. *Cancer*, 70(7), 1911-1916.
- Karapetian, A., Czajkowska, Z., Coroiu, A., DiMillo, J., & Körner, A. (2016). *Construct Validation of the Skin Self-Examination Self-Efficacy Scale*. Poster presented at the Conference Name, Halifax, NS, Canada. .
- Kasparian, N. A., Branstrom, R., Chang, Y. M., Affleck, P., Aspinwall, L. G., Tibben, A., . . . Brandberg, Y. (2012). Skin examination behavior: the role of melanoma history, skin type, psychosocial factors, and region of residence in determining clinical and selfconducted skin examination. *Archives of Dermatology*, 148(10), 1142-1151. doi:10.1001/archdermatol.2012.1817
- Kasparian, N. A., McLoone, J. K., Meiser, B., Butow, P. N., Simpson, J. M., & Mann, G. J. (2010). Skin cancer screening behaviours among individuals with a strong family history of malignant melanoma. *British Journal of Cancer*, 103(10), 1502-1509. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6605942
- Kasser, V. G., & Ryan, R. M. (1999). The relation of psychological needs for autonomy and relatedness to vitality, well-being, and mortality in a nursing home. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *29*(5), 935-954. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.1999.tb00133.x
- Kennedy, C., Bajdik, C. D., Willemze, R., De Gruijl, F. R., & Bouwes Bavinck, J. N. (2003). The influence of painful sunburns and lifetime sun exposure on the risk of actinic keratoses, seborrheic warts, melanocytic nevi, atypical nevi, and skin cancer. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 120(6), 1087-1093. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1747.2003.12246.x
- Kitson, A., Marshall, A., Bassett, K., & Zeitz, K. (2013). What are the core elements of patientcentred care? A narrative review and synthesis of the literature from health policy, medicine and nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69, 4-15. doi:doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06064.x

- Kline, R. B. (2013). Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis. In Y. Petscher & C. Schatsschneider (Eds.), *Applied quantitative analysis in the social sciences* (pp. 171-207). New York: Routledge.
- Körner, A., Czajkowska, Z., Moumne, S., & Wang, B. (2010). *Body map diary Know your moles!* [*Brochure*]. Montreal, QC.
- Körner, A., Drapeau, M., Thombs, B. D., Rosberger, Z., Wang, B., Khanna, M., ... Batist, G. (2013). Barriers and facilitators of adherence to medical advice on skin self-examination during melanoma follow-up care. *BMC Dermatol*, 13, 3. doi:10.1186/1471-5945-13-3
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. B., & Lowe, B. (2010). The Patient Health Questionnaire Somatic, Anxiety, and Depressive Symptom Scales: a systematic review. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 32(4), 345-359. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2010.03.006
- Langard, S., Rosenberg, J., Andersen, A., & Heldaas, S. S. (2000). Incidence of cancer among workers exposed to vinyl chloride in polyvinyl chloride manufacture. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 57(1), 65-68.
- Le Clair, M. Z., & Cockburn, M. G. (2016). Tanning bed use and melanoma: Establishing risk and improving prevention interventions(). *Preventive Medicine Reports*, *3*, 139-144. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.11.016
- Le Mire, L., Hollowood, K., Gray, D., Bordea, C., & Wojnarowska, F. (2006). Melanomas in renal transplant recipients. *British Journal of Dermatology*, *154*(3), 472-477. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.07094.x
- Lee, K. B., Weinstock, M. A., & Risica, P. M. (2008). Components of a successful intervention for monthly skin self-examination for early detection of melanoma: the "Check It Out" trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 58(6), 1006-1012. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2008.03.008
- Lev, E. L. (1997). Bandura's theory of self-efficacy: applications to oncology. *Scholarly Inquiry for Nursing Practice, 11*(1), 21-37; discussion 39-43.
- Leveque, L., Dalac, S., Dompmartin, A., Louvet, S., Euvrard, S., Catteau, B., . . . Lambert, D. (2000). [Melanoma in organ transplant patients]. *Annales de Dermatologie et de Venereologie, 127*(2), 160-165.
- Lieberherr, S., Seyed Jafari, S. M., Cazzaniga, S., Bianchi, E., Schlagenhauff, B., Tscharner, G., . . Hunger, R. E. (2017). Evaluation of the national skin cancer campaign: a Swiss experience of Euromelanoma. *Swiss Med Wkly*, 147, w14511. doi:10.4414/smw.2017.14511
- Loiselle, C. G., Bottorff, J. L., Butler, L., & Degner, L. F. (2004). PORT--Psychosocial Oncology Research Training: a newly funded strategic initiative in health research. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 36(1), 159-164.
- Losina, E., Walensky, R. P., Geller, A., & et al. (2007). Visual screening for malignant melanoma: A cost-effectiveness analysis. *Archives of Dermatology*, 143(1), 21-28. doi:10.1001/archderm.143.1.21
- Lucchina, L. C., Barnhill, R. L., Duke, D. M., & Sober, A. J. (1995). Familial cutaneous melanoma. *Melanoma Research*, *5*(6), 413-418.
- Lundberg, I., Gustavsson, A., Holmberg, B., Molina, G., & Westerholm, P. (1993). Mortality and cancer incidence among PVC-processing workers in Sweden. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 23(2), 313-319.

- Luszczynska, A., & Schwarzer, R. (2003). Planning and Self-Efficacy in the Adoption and Maintenance of Breast Self-Examination: A Longitudinal Study on Self-Regulatory Cognitions. *Psychology & Health*, 18(1), 93-108. doi:10.1080/0887044021000019358
- Mahler, H. I. M., Kulik, J. A., Gibbons, F. X., Gerrard, M., & Harrell, J. (2003). Effects of appearance-based intervention on sun protection intentions and self-reported behaviors. *Health Psychology*, 22(2), 199-209. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.22.2.199
- Manganoni, A. M., Farisoglio, C., Tucci, G., Facchetti, F., & Calzavara Pinton, P. G. (2007). The importance of self-examination in the earliest diagnosis of multiple primary cutaneous melanomas: a report of 47 cases. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, 21(10), 1333-1336. doi:10.1111/j.1468-3083.2007.02263.x
- Manne, S., Fasanella, N., Connors, J., Floyd, B., Wang, H., & Lessin, S. (2004). Sun protection and skin surveillance practices among relatives of patients with malignant melanoma: prevalence and predictors. *Preventive Medicine*, 39(1), 36-47. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.02.028</u>
- Manne, S., & Lessin, S. (2006). Prevalence and correlates of sun protection and skin selfexamination practices among cutaneous malignant melanoma survivors. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 29(5), 419-434.
- Marghoob, A. A., Kopf, A. W., Rigel, D. S., & et al. (1994). Risk of cutaneous malignant melanoma in patients with 'classic' atypical-mole syndrome: A case-control study. Archives of Dermatology, 130(8), 993-998. doi:10.1001/archderm.1994.01690080059007
- Markovic, S. N., Erickson, L. A., Rao, R. D., Weenig, R. H., Pockaj, B. A., Bardia, A., . . .
 Melanoma Study Group of the Mayo Clinic Cancer, C. (2007). Malignant melanoma in the 21st century, part 1: epidemiology, risk factors, screening, prevention, and diagnosis. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 82(3), 364-380. doi:10.4065/82.3.364
- Matthews, B. A., Rhee, J. S., Neuburg, M., Burzynski, M. L., & Nattinger, A. B. (2006). Development of the facial skin care index: a health-related outcomes index for skin cancer patients. *Dermatologic Surgery*, 32(7), 924-934; discussion 934. doi:10.1111/j.1524-4725.2006.32197.x
- Maubec, E., Chaudru, V., Mohamdi, H., Blondel, C., Margaritte-Jeannin, P., Forget, S., ... Demenais, F. (2012). Familial melanoma: clinical factors associated with germline CDKN2A mutations according to the number of patients affected by melanoma in a family. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 67(6), 1257-1264. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2012.05.014
- McDonald, H. P., Garg, A. X., & Haynes, R. B. (2002). Interventions to enhance patient adherence to medication prescriptions: scientific review. *JAMA*, 288(22), 2868-2879.
- McGraw, K. O., & Wong, S. P. (1996). Forming inferences about some intraclass correlation coefficients. *Psychological Methods*, 1(1), 30-46. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.1.1.30
- McHorney, C. A., & Tarlov, A. R. (1995). Individual-patient monitoring in clinical practice: are available health status surveys adequate? *Quality of Life Research*, 4(4), 293-307.
- McLoone, J., Menzies, S., Meiser, B., Mann, G. J., & Kasparian, N. A. (2013). Psychoeducational interventions for melanoma survivors: a systematic review. *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(7), 1444-1456. doi:10.1002/pon.3165
- McPherson, M., Elwood, M., English, D. R., Baade, P. D., Youl, P. H., & Aitken, J. F. (2006). Presentation and detection of invasive melanoma in a high-risk population. *Journal of the*

American Academy of Dermatology, *54*(5), 783-792. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2005.08.065</u>

- McWhirter, J. E., & Hoffman-Goetz, L. (2013). Visual images for patient skin self-examination and melanoma detection: a systematic review of published studies. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 69(1), 47-55. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2013.01.031
- Melanoma Network of Canada. (2018). Detection-Prevention. Retrieved from <u>https://www.melanomanetwork.ca/detection-prevention/</u>
- Miller, K. A., Langholz, B. M., Zadnick, J., Hamilton, A. S., Cozen, W., Mack, T. M., & Cockburn, M. G. (2015). Prevalence and predictors of recent skin examination in a population-based twin cohort. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Computer Science 2019*, 1055-9965.epi-14-1389
- Miller, S. M., Shoda, Y., & Hurley, K. (1996). Applying cognitive-social theory to healthprotective behavior: Breast self-examination in cancer screening. *Psychological Bulletin*, *119*(1), 70-94. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.119.1.70
- Mitchell, J. K., & Leslie, K. S. (2013). Melanoma death prevention: moving away from the sun. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 68(6), e169-175. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2012.09.028
- Montague, M., Borland, R., & Sinclair, C. (2001). Slip! Slop! Slap! and SunSmart, 1980-2000: Skin cancer control and 20 years of population-based campaigning. *Health Education* and Behavior, 28(3), 290-305. doi:10.1177/109019810102800304
- Morris, K. L., Luke, M. C., & Perna, F. M. (2018). Prevalence of skin cancer examination among users of indoor tanning beds. *JAMA Dermatology*, 154(7), 840-842. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2018.1118
- Mujumdar, U. J., Hay, J. L., Monroe-Hinds, Y. C., Hummer, A. J., Begg, C. B., Wilcox, H. B., . . Berwick, M. (2009). Sun protection and skin self-examination in melanoma survivors. *Psycho-Oncology*, 18(10), 1106-1115. doi:10.1002/pon.1510
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (released 2012). *Mplus Sotware*. Los Angeles: Muthén & Muthén.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. (2018). NCNN Guidelines for Patients: Melanoma. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nccn.org/patients/guidelines/melanoma/15/#zoom=z</u>
- National Skin Cancer Prevention Committee. (2010). *Exposure to and Protection from the Sun in Canada: A Report Based on the 2006 Second National Sun Survey.*
- Nelemans, P. J., Rampen, F. H., Ruiter, D. J., & Verbeek, A. L. (1995). An addition to the controversy on sunlight exposure and melanoma risk: a meta-analytical approach. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 48(11), 1331-1342.
- Newton-Bishop, J. A., Beswick, S., Randerson-Moor, J., Chang, Y.-M., Affleck, P., Elliott, F., . . Bishop, D. T. (2009). Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 Levels Are Associated With Breslow Thickness at Presentation and Survival From Melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(32), 5439-5444. doi:10.1200/jco.2009.22.1135
- Newton-Bishop, J. A., Chang, Y. M., Iles, M. M., Taylor, J. C., Bakker, B., Chan, M., . . . Bishop, D. T. (2010). Melanocytic nevi, nevus genes, and melanoma risk in a large casecontrol study in the United Kingdom. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 19(8), 2043-2054. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-10-0233
- Ng, J. Y. Y., Ntoumanis, N., Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C., Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M., Duda, J. L., & Williams, G. C. (2012). Self-Determination Theory Applied to Health Contexts: A Meta-

Analysis. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7(4), 325-340. doi:10.1177/1745691612447309

- Nieuwlaat, R., Wilczynski, N., Navarro, T., Hobson, N., Jeffery, R., Keepanasseril, A., ... Haynes, R. B. (2014). Interventions for enhancing medication adherence. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 11*, Cd000011. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD000011.pub4
- Nikolaou, V., Kang, X., Stratigos, A., Gogas, H., Latorre, M. C., Gabree, M., . . . Tsao, H. (2011). Comprehensive mutational analysis of CDKN2A and CDK4 in Greek patients with cutaneous melanoma. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 165(6), 1219-1222. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10551.x
- Noorda, E. M., van Kreij, R. H., Vrouenraets, B. C., Nieweg, O. E., Muller, M., Kroon, B. B., & Aaronson, N. K. (2007). The health-related quality of life of long-term survivors of melanoma treated with isolated limb perfusion. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 33(6), 776-782. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2006.03.024
- Oliveria, S. A., Christos, P. J., Halpern, A. C., Fine, J. A., Barnhill, R. L., & Berwick, M. (1999). Patient knowledge, awareness, and delay in seeking medical attention for malignant melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 52(11), 1111-1116.
- Oliveria, S. A., Dusza, S. W., Phelan, D. L., Ostroff, J. S., Berwick, M., & Halpern, A. C. (2004). Patient adherence to skin self-examination: Effect of nurse intervention with photographs. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 26(2), 152-155. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2003.10.006
- Østbye, T., Yarnall, K. S. H., Krause, K. M., Pollak, K. I., Gradison, M., & Michener, J. L. (2005). Is there time for management of patients with chronic ciseases in primary care? *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *3*(3), 209-214. doi:10.1370/afm.310
- Paddock, L. E., Lu, S. E., Bandera, E. V., Rhoads, G. G., Fine, J., Paine, S., . . . Berwick, M. (2016). Skin self-examination and long-term melanoma survival. *Melanoma Research*, 26(4), 401-408. doi:10.1097/cmr.0000000000255
- Paoli, J., Danielsson, M., & Wennberg, A. M. (2009). Results of the 'Euromelanoma Day' screening campaign in Sweden 2008. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology* and Venereology, 23(11), 1304-1310. doi:10.1111/j.1468-3083.2009.03316.x
- Patrick, H., & Williams, G. C. (2012). Self-determination theory: its application to health behavior and complementarity with motivational interviewing. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*, *9*, 18. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-9-18
- Pepper, J. K., Carpenter, D. M., & DeVellis, R. F. (2012). Does adherence-related support from physicians and partners predict medication adherence for vasculitis patients? *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 35(2), 115-123. doi:10.1007/s10865-012-9405-5
- Phelan, D. L., Oliveria, S. A., Christos, P. J., Dusza, S. W., & Halpern, A. C. (2003). Skin selfexamination in patients at high risk for melanoma: a pilot study. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 30(6), 1029-1036. doi:10.1188/03.onf.1029-1036
- Pollack, L. A., Li, J., Berkowitz, Z., Weir, H. K., Wu, X. C., Ajani, U. A., . . . Pollack, B. P. (2011). Melanoma survival in the United States, 1992 to 2005. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 65(5 Suppl 1), S78-86. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2011.05.030
- Pollak, K. I., Alexander, S. C., Tulsky, J. A., Lyna, P., Coffman, C. J., Dolor, R. J., . . . Østbye, T. (2011). Physician Empathy and Listening: Associations with Patient Satisfaction and Autonomy. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 24(6), 665-672. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2011.06.110025

- Pollitt, R. A., Geller, A. C., Brooks, D. R., Johnson, T. M., Park, E. R., & Swetter, S. M. (2009). Efficacy of Skin Self-Examination Practices for Early Melanoma Detection. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 18(11), 3018-3023. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-09-0310
- Porter, L. S., Keefe, F. J., Garst, J., McBride, C. M., & Baucom, D. (2008). Self-efficacy for managing pain, symptoms, and function in patients with lung cancer and their informal caregivers: Associations with symptoms and distress. *Pain, 137*(2), 306-315. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.09.010
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879-891. doi:10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Pukkala, E., Aspholm, R., Auvinen, A., Eliasch, H., Gundestrup, M., Haldorsen, T., . . . Tveten, U. (2003). Cancer incidence among 10,211 airline pilots: a Nordic study. Aviation Space and Environmental Medicine, 74(7), 699-706.
- Rat, C., Quereux, G., Riviere, C., Clouet, S., Senand, R., Volteau, C., . . . Nguyen, J. M. (2014). Targeted melanoma prevention intervention: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Ann Fam Med*, 12(1), 21-28. doi:10.1370/afm.1600
- Reyes Ortiz, C. A., Freeman, J. L., Kuo, Y. F., & Goodwin, J. S. (2007). The influence of marital status on stage at diagnosis and survival of older persons with melanoma. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(8), 892-898.
- Rhee, J. S., Matthews, B. A., Neuburg, M., Logan, B. R., Burzynski, M., & Nattinger, A. B. (2007). The skin cancer index: clinical responsiveness and predictors of quality of life. *Laryngoscope*, 117(3), 399-405. doi:10.1097/MLG.0b013e31802e2d88
- Rigel, D. S. (2010). Epidemiology of melanoma. *Seminars in Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery*, 29(4), 204-209. doi:10.1016/j.sder.2010.10.005
- Robinson, J. K., Fisher, S. G., & Turrisi, R. J. (2002). Predictors of skin self-examination performance. *Cancer*, 95(1), 135-146. doi:10.1002/cncr.10637
- Robinson, J. K., Gaber, R., Hultgren, B., Eilers, S., Blatt, H., Stapleton, J., . . . Wayne, J. (2014). Skin self-examination education for early detection of melanoma: a randomized controlled trial of Internet, workbook, and in-person interventions. *J Med Internet Res*, *16*(1), e7. doi:10.2196/jmir.2883
- Robinson, J. K., Hultgren, B., Mallett, K., & Turrisi, R. (2017). Self-confidence and embarrassment about partner-assisted skin self-examination for melanoma. JAMA Dermatology, 153(3), 342-344. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2016.4776
- Robinson, J. K., & Jablonski, N. G. (2018). Sun protection and skin self-examination and the us preventive services task force recommendation on behavioral counseling for skin cancer prevention. JAMA, 319(11), 1101-1102. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.0163
- Robinson, J. K., Mallett, K. A., Turrisi, R., & Stapleton, J. (2009). Engaging patients and their partners in preventive health behaviors: The physician factor. *Archives of Dermatology*, 145(4), 469-473. doi:10.1001/archdermatol.2009.2
- Robinson, J. K., Rigel, D. S., & Amonette, R. A. (1998). What promotes skin self-examination? *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, *38*(5 Pt 1), 752-757. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0190-9622(98)70204-X
- Robinson, J. K., Turrisi, R., Mallett, K., Stapleton, J., & Pion, M. (2010). Comparing the efficacy of an in-person intervention with a skin self-examination workbook. *Archives of Dermatology*, 146(1), 91-94. doi:10.1001/archdermatol.2009.350

- Robinson, J. K., Turrisi, R., & Stapleton, J. (2007a). Efficacy of a partner assistance intervention designed to increase skin self-examination performance. *Archives of Dermatology*, 143(1), 37-41. doi:10.1001/archderm.143.1.37
- Robinson, J. K., Turrisi, R., & Stapleton, J. (2007b). Examination of mediating variables in a partner assistance intervention designed to increase performance of skin selfexamination. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 56(3), 391-397. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2006.10.028
- Robinson, J. K., Wayne, J. D., Martini, M. C., Hultgren, B. A., Mallett, K. A., & Turrisi, R. (2016). Early detection of new melanomas by patients with melanoma and their partners using a structured skin self-examination skills training intervention: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Dermatology*, 152(9), 979-985. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2016.1985
- Roebuck, M. C., Liberman, J. N., Gemmill-Toyama, M., & Brennan, T. A. (2011). Medication Adherence Leads To Lower Health Care Use And Costs Despite Increased Drug Spending. *Health Affairs*, 30(1), 91-99. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2009.1087
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2006). Self-regulation and the problem of human autonomy: does psychology need choice, self-determination, and will? *Journal of Personality*, 74(6), 1557-1585. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2006.00420.x
- Ryan, R. M., Patrick, H., Deci, E. L., & Williams, G. C. (2008). Facilitating health behaviour change and its maintenance: Interventions based on self-determination theory. *The European Health Psychologist*, *10*(1), 2-5.
- Save Your Skin Foundation. (2018). Skin Cancer Prevention. Retrieved from <u>http://saveyourskin.ca/prevention/</u>
- Savoia, P., Quaglino, P., Verrone, A., & Bernengo, M. G. (1998). Multiple primary melanomas: Analysis of 49 cases. *Melanoma Research*, *8*, 361-366.
- Saxe, N., Hoffman, M., Krige, J. E., Sayed, R., King, H. S., & Hounsell, K. (1998). Malignant melanoma in Cape Town, South Africa. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 138(6), 998-1002.
- Schwartz, J. L., Wang, T. S., Hamilton, T. A., Lowe, L., Sondak, V. K., & Johnson, T. M. (2002). Thin primary cutaneous melanomas: associated detection patterns, lesion characteristics, and patient characteristics. *Cancer*, 95(7), 1562-1568.
- Self-Determination Theory web page: Health Care Climate Questionnaire. 2016, May 18. Retrieved from <u>http://selfdeterminationtheory.org/pas-health-care-climate/</u>
- Shore, R. E. (1990). Overview of radiation-induced skin cancer in humans. *International Journal* of *Radiation Biology*, 57(4), 809-827.
- Shrout, P. E., & Fleiss, J. L. (1979). Intraclass correlations: Uses in assessing rater reliability. *Psychological Bulletin*, 86(2), 420-428. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.86.2.420 18839484
- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., & Jemal, A. (2016). Cancer statistics, 2016. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 66(1), 7-30. doi:10.3322/caac.21332
- Sigurdson, A. J., Doody, M. M., Rao, R. S., Freedman, D. M., Alexander, B. H., Hauptmann, M., . . . Linet, M. S. (2003). Cancer incidence in the US radiologic technologists health study, 1983-1998. *Cancer*, 97(12), 3080-3089. doi:10.1002/cncr.11444
- Silva, J. H., Sa, B. C., Avila, A. L., Landman, G., & Duprat Neto, J. P. (2011). Atypical mole syndrome and dysplastic nevi: identification of populations at risk for developing melanoma - review article. *Clinics (Sao Paulo, Brazil)*, 66(3), 493-499.
- Simon, S. (2012). Rates of Melanoma Deaths Differ by Education. Retrieved from http://www.cancer.org/cancer/news/rates-of-melanoma-deaths-differ-by-education

- Singal, A. G., Higgins, P. D. R., & Waljee, A. K. (2014). A primer on effectiveness and efficacy trials. *Clin Trans Gastroenterol*, *5*, e45. doi:10.1038/ctg.2013.13
- Sinks, T., Steele, G., Smith, A. B., Watkins, K., & Shults, R. A. (1992). Mortality among workers exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 136(4), 389-398.
- Skin Cancer Foundation. (2018). Prevention guidelines. Retrieved from https://www.skincancer.org/skin-cancer-information/early-detection
- Sokol, M. C., McGuigan, K. A., Verbrugge, R. R., & Epstein, R. S. (2005). Impact of medication adherence on hospitalization risk and healthcare cost. *Medical Care*, 43(6), 521-530.
- Sondak, V. K., McIver, B., & Kanetsky, P. A. (2016). Vitamin D and melanoma: What do we tell our patients? *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *34*(15), 1713-1714. doi:10.1200/jco.2016.66.5240
- Song, F., Qureshi, A. A., Giovannucci, E. L., Fuchs, C. S., Chen, W. Y., Stampfer, M. J., & Han, J. (2013). Risk of a second primary cancer after non-melanoma skin cancer in white men and women: a prospective cohort study. *PLoS Med*, 10(4), e1001433. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001433
- Sont, W. N., Zielinski, J. M., Ashmore, J. P., Jiang, H., Krewski, D., Fair, M. E., . . . Letourneau, E. G. (2001). First analysis of cancer incidence and occupational radiation exposure based on the National Dose Registry of Canada. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 153(4), 309-318.
- South African Melanoma Advisory Board. (2010). Protect your skin and save your life! Retrieved from <u>http://www.melanoma.co.za/D_doccnr_Protect_Your_Skin.asp</u>
- South African Melanoma Advisory Board. (2018). Melanoma Fact Sheet. Retrieved from http://www.melanoma.co.za/D_doccnr_MFS.asp
- Stam-Posthuma, J. J., Van Duinen, C., Scheffer, E., Vink, J., & Bergman, W. (2001). Multiple primary melanoma. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 44, 22–27.
- Stavropoulou, C. (2011). Non-adherence to medication and doctor-patient relationship: Evidence from a European survey. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 83(1), 7-13. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2010.04.039
- Stratigos, A., Forsea, A. M., van der Leest, R. J., de Vries, E., Nagore, E., Bulliard, J. L., . . . Del Marmol, V. (2012). Euromelanoma: a dermatology-led European campaign against nonmelanoma skin cancer and cutaneous melanoma. Past, present and future. *British Journal of Dermatology*, *167 Suppl 2*, 99-104. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.11092.x
- Stratigos, A., Nikolaou, V., Kedicoglou, S., Antoniou, C., Stefanaki, I., Haidemenos, G., & Katsambas, A. D. (2007). Melanoma/skin cancer screening in a Mediterranean country: results of the Euromelanoma Screening Day Campaign in Greece. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, 21(1), 56-62. doi:10.1111/j.1468-3083.2006.01865.x
- Streiner, D. L. (2003). Being inconsistent about consistency: when coefficient alpha does and doesn't matter. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 80(3), 217-222.
- Swann Jr, W. B., Chang-Schneider, C., & Larsen McClarty, K. (2007). Do people's self-views matter? Self-concept and self-esteem in everyday life. *American Psychologist*, 62(2), 84.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics* (6th ed.). Boston: Pearson Education.
- Talaganis, J. A., Biello, K., Plaka, M., Polydorou, D., Papadopoulos, O., Trakatelli, M., . . . Stratigos, A. J. (2014). Demographic, behavioural and physician-related determinants of

early melanoma detection in a low-incidence population. *British Journal of Dermatology*, *171*(4), 832-838. doi:10.1111/bjd.13068

- Telle-Lamberton, M., Bergot, D., Gagneau, M., Samson, E., Giraud, J. M., Neron, M. O., & Hubert, P. (2004). Cancer mortality among French Atomic Energy Commission workers. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 45(1), 34-44. doi:10.1002/ajim.10306
- Teplick, S. K., Berlin, L., Cascade, P. N., Goske, M., Hartford, A. C., Janower, M. L., & Livoni, J. P. (2006). Medical professionalism in the new millennium: a physicians' charter. *Radiology Management*, 238, 383-386.
- Terwee, C. B., Bot, S. D., de Boer, M. R., van der Windt, D. A., Knol, D. L., Dekker, J., . . . de Vet, H. C. (2007). Quality criteria were proposed for measurement properties of health status questionnaires. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 60(1), 34-42. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.03.012
- Thomas, H., & Hensin, T. (2007). Ultraviolet radiation and melanoma: a systematic review and analysis of reported sequence variants. *Human Mutation*, 28(6), 578-588. doi:doi:10.1002/humu.20481
- Titus, L. (2013). Skin self-examination and the ABCDE rule in the early diagnosis of melanoma: Is the game over? Reply from author. *British Journal of Dermatology*, *168*(6), 1371-1372.
- Trask, P. C., Paterson, A. G., Hayasaka, S., Dunn, R. L., Riba, M., & Johnson, T. (2001). Psychosocial characteristics of individuals with non-stage IV melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 19(11), 2844-2850.
- Turrisi, R., Hultgren, B., Mallett, K. A., Martini, M., & Robinson, J. K. (2015). Comparison of efficacy of differing partner-assisted skin examination interventions for melanoma patients: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Dermatol*, 151(9), 945-951. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.0690
- Tynes, T., Klaeboe, L., & Haldorsen, T. (2003). Residential and occupational exposure to 50 Hz magnetic fields and malignant melanoma: a population based study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *60*(5), 343-347.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. (2016). *Screening for Skin Cancer*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK379854/</u>.
- Uliasz, A., & Lebwohl, M. (2007). Patient education and regular surveillance results in earlier diagnosis of second primary melanoma. *International Journal of Dermatology*, *46*(6), 575-577. doi:DOI 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2007.02704.x
- US Department of Health and Human Services. (accessed 2018). Healthy people 2020 cancer objectives (C-8). Retrieved from <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/cancer/objectives?topicId=5</u>
- van der Leest, R. J., de Vries, E., Bulliard, J. L., Paoli, J., Peris, K., Stratigos, A. J., . . . del Marmol, V. (2011). The Euromelanoma skin cancer prevention campaign in Europe: characteristics and results of 2009 and 2010. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, 25(12), 1455-1465. doi:10.1111/j.1468-3083.2011.04228.x
- van der Rhee, J. I., Krijnen, P., Gruis, N. A., de Snoo, F. A., Vasen, H. F., Putter, H., . . . Bergman, W. (2011). Clinical and histologic characteristics of malignant melanoma in families with a germline mutation in CDKN2A. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 65(2), 281-288. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2010.06.044

- Van Durme, D. J., Ferrante, J. M., Pal, N., Wathington, D., Roetzheim, R. G., & Gonzalez, E. C. (2000). Demographic predictors of melanoma stage at diagnosis. *Archives of Family Medicine*, 9(7), 606-611.
- Varelius, J. (2006). The value of autonomy in medical ethics. *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy*, 9(3), 377-388. doi:10.1007/s11019-006-9000-z
- Vaz, S., Falkmer, T., Passmore, A. E., Parsons, R., & Andreou, P. (2013). The Case for Using the Repeatability Coefficient When Calculating Test–Retest Reliability. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), e73990. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073990
- Vermeire, E., Hearnshaw, H., Van Royen, P., & Denekens, J. (2001). Patient adherence to treatment: three decades of research. A comprehensive review. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 26(5), 331-342. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2710.2001.00363.x
- Weinstock, M. A. (2006). Progress and prospects on melanoma: the way forward for early detection and reduced mortality. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *12*(7 Pt 2), 2297s-2300s. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2559
- Weinstock, M. A., Martin, R. A., Risica, P. M., Berwick, M., Lasater, T., Rakowski, W., ... Dube, C. E. (1999). Thorough skin examination for the early detection of melanoma. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *17*(3), 169-175.
- Weinstock, M. A., Risica, P. M., Martin, R. A., Rakowski, W., Dube, C., Berwick, M., . . .
 Lasater, T. (2007). Melanoma early detection with thorough skin self-examination: the "Check It Out" randomized trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 32(6), 517-524. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.02.024
- Weinstock, M. A., Risica, P. M., Martin, R. A., Rakowski, W., Smith, K. J., Berwick, M., . . . Lasater, T. (2004). Reliability of assessment and circumstances of performance of thorough skin self-examination for the early detection of melanoma in the Check-It-Out Project. *Preventive Medicine*, 38(6), 761-765. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.01.020
- Weir, J. P. (2005). Quantifying test-retest reliability using the intraclass correlation coefficient and the SEM. *J Strength Cond Res*, 19(1), 231-240. doi:10.1519/15184.1
- Wennborg, H., Yuen, J., Nise, G., Sasco, A. J., Vainio, H., & Gustavsson, P. (2001). Cancer incidence and work place exposure among Swedish biomedical research personnel. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 74(8), 558-564.
- Whiteman, D. C., Stickley, M., Watt, P., Hughes, M. C., Davis, M. B., & Green, A. C. (2006). Anatomic Site, Sun Exposure, and Risk of Cutaneous Melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 24(19), 3172-3177. doi:10.1200/jco.2006.06.1325
- Williams, G. C., Cox, E. M., Kouides, R., & Deci, E. L. (1999). Presenting the facts about smoking to adolescents: effects of an autonomy-supportive style. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 153(9), 959-964.
- Williams, G. C., Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1998). Building health-care partnerships by supporting autonomy: Promoting maintained behavior change and positive health outcomes. In P. H.-W. A. L. Suchman & R. Botelho (Eds.), *Partnerships in healthcare: Transforming relational process* (pp. 67-87). Rochester New York, NY: University of Rochester Press.
- Williams, G. C., Frankel, R. M., Campbell, T. L., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Research on relationship-centered care and healthcare outcomes from the Rochester biopsychosocial program: A self-determination theory integration. *Families, Systems, & Health, 18*(1), 79-90. doi:10.1037/h0091854

- Williams, G. C., Freedman, Z. R., & Deci, E. L. (1998). Supporting autonomy to motivate patients with diabetes for glucose control. *Diabetes Care*, 21(10), 1644-1651.
- Williams, G. C., Gagne, M., Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2002). Facilitating autonomous motivation for smoking cessation. *Health Psychology*, 21(1), 40-50.
- Williams, G. C., Grow, V. M., Freedman, Z. R., Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (1996). Motivational predictors of weight loss and weight-loss maintenance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70(1), 115-126.
- Williams, G. C., McGregor, H. A., Sharp, D., Levesque, C., Kouides, R. W., Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2006). Testing a self-determination theory intervention for motivating tobacco cessation: supporting autonomy and competence in a clinical trial. *Health Psychology*, 25(1), 91-101. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.25.1.91
- Williams, G. C., Rodin, G. C., Ryan, R. M., Grolnick, W. S., & Deci, E. L. (1998). Autonomous regulation and long-term medication adherence in adult outpatients. *Health Psychology*, 17(3), 269-276. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.17.3.269
- World Health Organization. (2018). Ultraviolet radiation and the INTERSUN Programme: How common is skin cancer? Retrieved from http://www.who.int/uv/faq/skincancer/en/index1.html
- Wu, Y. P., Aspinwall, L. G., Conn, B. M., Stump, T., Grahmann, B., & Leachman, S. A. (2016). A systematic review of interventions to improve adherence to melanoma preventive behaviors for individuals at elevated risk. *Preventive Medicine*, 88, 153-167. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.04.010
- Yarnall, K. S. H., Pollak, K. I., Østbye, T., Krause, K. M., & Michener, J. L. (2003). Primary care: Is there enough time for prevention? *American Journal of Public Health*, 93(4), 635-641. doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.4.635
- Yokoyama, S., Woods, S. L., Boyle, G. M., Aoude, L. G., MacGregor, S., Zismann, V., . . . Brown, K. M. (2011). A novel recurrent mutation in MITF predisposes to familial and sporadic melanoma. *Nature*, 480(7375), 99-103. doi:10.1038/nature10630
- Zolnierek, K. B., & DiMatteo, M. R. (2009). Physician communication and patient adherence to treatment: a meta-analysis. *Medical Care*, 47(8), 826-834. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e31819a5acc
- Zschocke, I., Augustin, M., & Muthny, F. A. (1996). Coping in patients with malignant melanoma at different stages of the illness trajectory [German]. *Psychomed*, *8*, 83-88.